FY 2025 – FY 2034 ALEXANDRIA TRANSIT STRATEGIC PLAN (ATSP)



ADOPTED BY ATC BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON APRIL 10, 2024







Table of Contents

ATSP Overview	1
Chapter 1.0 / System Overview and Strategic Vision	2
1.1 / System Overview	2
1.2 / Strategic Vision	8
Chapter 2.0 / System Performance and Operations Analysis	19
2.1 / System and Service Data	19
2.2 / Evaluation of Transit Market Demand and Underserved Areas	
2.3 / Performance Evaluation	51
2.4 / Operating and Network Efficiency Evaluation	64
2.5 / Analysis of Opportunities to Collaborate with Other Transit Providers	68
Chapter 3.0 / Planned Improvements and Modifications	71
3.1 / Planned Service Improvements (FY 2025 – FY 2034)	71
3.2 / Prioritization of Planned Service Improvements	86
3.3 / Service Development	99
Chapter 4.0 / Implementation Plan	
4.1 / Transit Asset Management (TAM) Plan	
4.2 / Capital Implementation Plan	
Chapter 5.0 / Financial Plan	
5.1 / Operating and Maintenance Costs and Funding Sources	
5.2 / Capital Costs and Funding Sources	

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 / DASH System Map	3
Figure 1-2 / DASH System Map (Old Town)	4
Figure 2-1 / Annual DASH Ridership (FY84-FY23)	22
Figure 2-2 / Monthly DASH Ridership (FY17 – FY23)	23
Figure 2-3 / DASH Average Daily Ridership by Day Type (FY2021 – FY2023)	23
Figure 2-4 / DASH Average Weekday Ridership by Stop (September 2022)	24
Figure 2-5 / DASH Average Saturday Ridership by Stop (September 2022)	24
Figure 2-6 / DASH Average Sunday Ridership by Stop (September 2022)	25

Figure 2-7 / Metrobus System Map for the City of Alexandria	27
Figure 2-8 / Virginia Railway Express (VRE) System Map	31
Figure 2-9 / City of Alexandria Overview Map with DASH Routes	36
Figure 2-10 / Employment Density	37
Figure 2-11 / Population Density	38
Figure 2-12 / Minority Population Density	39
Figure 2-13 / Elderly Population Density	40
Figure 2-14 / Low Income Density	41
Figure 2-15 / Limited-English Proficiency Population Density	42
Figure 2-16 / Population with Disability Density	43
Figure 2-17 / Commuting Patterns from Origin-Destination Data	44
Figure 2-18 / Weekday Origin-Destination Trips (Internal & External Trips)	45
Figure 2-19 / Weekday Origin-Destination Trips (Internal Trips Only)	46
Figure 2-20 / Weekend Origin-Destination Trips (Internal & External Trips)	47
Figure 2-21 / Weekend Origin-Destination Trips (Internal Trips Only)	48
Figure 2-22 / Projected 10-Year Population Growth	49
Figure 2-23 / Projected 10-Year Employment Growth	49
Figure 2-24 / DASH Systemwide Ridership by Month (FY17 – FY23)	52
Figure 2-25 / DASH Post-COVID Systemwide Ridership & Service Levels by Month (FY21 – FY23)	52
Figure 2-26 / DASH Average Daily Ridership by Day Type (FY2021 – FY2023)	53
Figure 2-27 / DASH Weekday Ridership by Route (FY 2022 vs. FY 2023)	
Figure 2-28 / DASH Saturday Ridership by Route (FY 2022 vs. FY 2023)	
Figure 2-29 / DASH Sunday Ridership by Route (FY 2022 vs. FY 2023)	54
Figure 2-30 / DASH Preventable Events Per 100,000 Miles by Month (FY 2023)	
Figure 2-31 / Alexandria DOT Paratransit Ridership by Month (Last Three Fiscal Years)	62
Figure 2-32 / Alexandria DOT Paratransit Cost Per Trip by Month (Last Three Fiscal Years)	
Figure 3-1 / Proposed Line 30 Improvements (UNFUNDED)	
Figure 3-2 / Proposed Line 31 Improvements (UNFUNDED)	74
Figure 3-3 / Proposed Line 32 Improvements (UNFUNDED)	
Figure 3-4 / Proposed Line 34 Improvements (UNFUNDED)	
Figure 3-5 / Proposed Line 102 Improvements	80
Figure 3-6 / Proposed Line 103 Improvements	
Figure 3-7 / Proposed Line 104 Improvements	83
Figure 3-8 / Proposed King Street Trolley Improvements	84
Figure 3-9 / Draft Map of Better Bus Network Changes	85
Figure 3-10 / 2030 ATV Plan (Midday)	
Figure 3-11 / 2030 ATV Plan (Peak)	
Figure 4-1 / Transit Signal Prioritization (TSP) Location in City of Alexandria	116

List of Tables

Table 1-1 / Additional Transit Initiatives in the City of Alexandria	6
Table 1-2 / ATC Board Strategic Plan (BSP) Goals & Objectives	9
Table 1-3 / Alexandria Mobility Plan (AMP) Goals & Objectives.	10
Table 1-4 / DASH Route Classifications by Route	12
Table 1-5 / DASH Peak Load Factor Standards	14
Table 1-6 / Vehicle Headway Standards	15
Table 1-7 / On-Time Performance Standards	15
Table 1-8 / Service Availability Standards	
Table 1-9 / Systemwide Performance Standards (PROPOSED)	
Table 1-10 / Route Ridership Performance Standards (PROPOSED)	17
Table 2-1 / City of Alexandria Population Summary (FY 2023)	20
Table 2-2 / Existing DASH Service Summary (FY 2023)	20
Table 2-3 / DASH Route Summary	
Table 2-4 / Systemwide Performance Standards (PROPOSED)	25
Table 2-5 / Service Design Standards (PROPOSED)	26
Table 2-6 / WMATA Services in the City of Alexandria	28
Table 2-7 / Average Daily Metrobus Boardings (FY 2023)	
Table 2-8 / Average Daily Metrorail Station Entries (FY 2023)	30
Table 2-9 / Fairfax Connector Services in the City of Alexandria	
Table 2-10 / Existing DOT Paratransit Summary (FY 2023)	33
Table 2-11 / Annual Ridership Productivity by Route (FY 2023)	
Table 2-12 / Annual Ridership Performance by Route Category (FY 2023)	57
Table 2-13 / Annual Cost Efficiency by Route (FY 2023)	58
Table 2-14 / Annual Cost Efficiency by Route Category (FY 2023)	
Table 2-15 / DASH Accessibility for Residents and Jobs	61
Table 2-16 / Frequency Evaluation	65
Table 2-17 / DASH On-Time Performance by Route, Day and Time Period	67
Table 3-1 / DASH Service Improvements by Route (FY 2025 – FY 2034)	
Table 3-2 / Cost Estimates for Unfunded ATV Improvements for FY 2025	89
Table 3-3 / Service Planning Analyses of Unfunded ATV Improvements for FY 2025 Error! Bookmar	k not
defined.	
Table 3-4 / 2030 ATV Plan (Frequency Table)	96
Table 3-5 / DASH Projected Operating (FY 2025 – FY 2034)	
Table 3-6 / DASH Projected Platform Hours & Miles (FY 2025 – FY 2034)	100
Table 4-1 / Existing DASH Fixed-Route Bus Fleet	106
Table 4-2 / DASH Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Summary	
Table 4-3 / DASH Fleet Replacement Plan (FY 2025 – FY 2034)	111
Table 4-4 / City of Alexandria Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Summary*	
Table 5-1 / Operating and Maintenance Cost History (in \$1,000s)	
Table 5-2 / Operating and Maintenance Cost Projections (in \$1,000)	
Table 5-3 / Operating and Maintenance Revenue Projections (in \$1,000)	122
Table 5-4 / Operating and Maintenance Cost Projections Including Service Improvements (in \$1,000) 122

Table 5-5 / Vehicle Replacement and Expansion Costs and Funding Source	s (in \$1,000) 123
Table A-1 / DASH Organizational Structure (2024)	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Table A-2 / Metrorail, Metrobus & MetroAccess Fares	
Table A-3 / Metrorail/Metrobus Passes	

Appendices List

Appendix	A : Agency Profile and System Overview	
A.1	History	
A.2	Governance	
A.3	Organizational Structure	
A.4	Services Provided and Areas Served	
A.5	Fare Structure, Payments, and Purchasing	
A.6	Transit Asset Management – Existing Fleet and Facilities	
A.7	Transit Safety & Security Programs	
A.8	Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Programs	
A.9	Data Collection and Ridership/Revenue Reporting Method	
A.10	Coordination with Other Transportation Service Providers	
A.11	Public Outreach/ Engagement/ Involvement	
A.12	Current Initiatives	
Appendix	B : DASH Route Profiles	
Appendix	C : DASH Onboard Survey – Final Report	
Appendix	D : ATSP Public Outreach & Feedback Summary	210

ATSP Overview

The Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan (ATSP) addresses a new requirement from the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT) for large and mid-size transit agencies like DASH to receive state funding. Similar to the previous Transit Development Plan (TDP) that it replaced, the ATSP outlines service, capital and finance plans on a short- and long-term horizon.

This ATSP covers a ten-year period with major updates every five years. Annual updates for Years 2-5 will be provided as an addendum to ATSP document based on guidelines provided by DRPT. Each year, the ATSP will be subject to review by the ATC Board of Directors and public outreach. The final ATSP must be adopted by the ATC Board in concurrence with the final budget for the ensuing fiscal year.

The Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan (ATSP) will include the following chapters:

- Overview & Strategic Vision. This section describes services provided, areas served, current/recent initiatives as well as the Strategic Vision, goals, objectives and service standards. Agency goals are derived from the Alexandria Transit Company Board of Directors Strategic Plan, as well as the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan and the Alexandria Mobility Plan.
- 2. **System Performance & Operations Analysis.** This section outlines current performance data, passenger survey data, and demographics. A system performance evaluation is included based on performance standards identified in first chapter.
- 3. **Planned Improvements & Modifications.** This chapter outlines the planned improvements or modifications to existing service that DASH is planning for the next ten years. A discussion of capital projects that are necessary to support existing/planned service is also included.
- 4. Implementation Plan. This section describes the steps required for DASH to maintain current services and implement the improvements and modifications identified in the previous chapter. This includes a summary of the Transit Asset Management (TAM) Plan, and the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) with particular focus on fleet replacement/expansion plans that will maintain State of Good Repair (SGR).
- 5. **Financial Plan.** The last chapter identifies projected service and capital costs as well as financial resources that are available to sustain current services and implement future improvements or expansions. A summary of the proposed budget for the following year is also included.

Additional appendices are included to provide details about agency history, governance, organizational structure, services provided, fares, asset inventory, security programs, ITS programs, performance data collection methods, regional coordination efforts, and current initiatives.

The draft ATSP is presented to the ATC Board of Directors in February, coinciding with the start of the outreach period. In March, a public hearing is held at the ATC Board of Directors meeting to collect feedback, and staff presents a revised, final version of the ATSP Plan to the ATC Board in April for final adoption. The plan must also be endorsed by the Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments (MWCOG) as the designated Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for the Washington, DC region.

Chapter 1

System Overview & Strategic Vision



Chapter 1.0 / System Overview and Strategic Vision

The first chapter of the Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan (ATSP) provides an overview of the public transportation options provided within the City of Alexandria. This includes fixed-route bus service provided by the Alexandria Transit Company (DASH), and paratransit service provided by the City of Alexandria (DOT). This chapter also outlines the City's strategic vision for transportation as defined by the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan (ATV), Alexandria Mobility Plan (AMP) and the ATC Board of Directors Strategic Plan (BSP).

The overview of DASH includes an introduction to the services provided by DASH and areas served, along with current and recent initiatives. More detailed information on the agency can be found in Appendix A. The strategic vision section discusses goals and objectives for transit service in the City as a whole and for DASH, as well as how they will work to advance the strategic vision for Alexandria.

1.1 / System Overview

The system overview describes the DASH service area, the transit services provided within the service area, as well as several recent programs and initiatives.

1.1.1 / Services Provided and Areas Served

The Alexandria Transit Company (DASH) currently operates traditional fixed-route bus service on ten regular bus routes, and the King Street Trolley. The primary service area covers approximately 15 square miles and generally aligns with the jurisdictional boundaries of the City of Alexandria. A map of the DASH bus system is included as Figure 1-1. An inset map depicting bus service in Old Town Alexandria is shown as Figure 1-2. The majority of DASH service operates within the City of Alexandria, however, three routes – Lines 35, 103, and 104 – also provide service along Interstate 395 between Alexandria and the Pentagon.

In addition to its regular bus services, DASH also operates the iconic King Street Trolley, a free touristoriented service running between the King Street Metro and City Hall/Market Square via King Street in Old Town. The trolleys typically run every 15 minutes from 11:00 AM to 11:00 PM, 365 days per year.

The City of Alexandria's Department of Transportation and Environmental Services (T&ES) manages the City's *DOT* ADA paratransit service. The City uses a contractor, National Express Transit/Diamond Transportation, to provide the transportation service with VIA Mobility dispatching software to maintain client information and manage reservations. The DOT ADA paratransit service is available within the cities of Alexandria, Fairfax and Falls Church, counties of Arlington and Fairfax, along with the District of Columbia. DOT paratransit service is available during the same time periods as DASH fixed-route transit on weekdays from 5:00 AM - 1:00 AM, Saturdays from 6:00 AM - 1:00 AM, and Sundays from 7:00 AM - 1:00 AM. DOT operates approximately 17 paratransit vehicles during maximum service and recording approximately 33,635 passenger trips in FY 2023. Additional paratransit service for regional trips is available with WMATA's MetroAccess service.

Figure 1-1 / DASH System Map





Figure 1-2 / DASH System Map (Old Town)

1.1.2 / Current & Recent Initiatives

DASH and the City of Alexandria are currently undertaking a wide variety of different initiatives for improving transit service within the Alexandria community. This section summarizes some of the current projects and programs.

Alexandria Transit Vision Plan / New DASH Network

The fare-free "New DASH Network" launched on September 5, 2021. This re-designed bus system was the first implementation phase of the Alexandria Transit Vision (ATV) Plan, a years-long planning and engagement effort, notable for being the first major bus network design Alexandria has seen since the launch of the Alexandria Transit Company nearly four decades ago in 1984. The ATV Plan included a 2022 Vision Plan Network and a 2030 Vision Plan Network.

Immediate changes brought by the adoption of the New DASH Network in 2021 included new bus line numbers, new bus lines, and new service frequencies, with most routes now running 15 minutes or better, all day, seven days a week. Notably, this network provides frequent, all-day transit service to 73% of low-income residents in Alexandria, as compared to 29% in the old network. The network also expanded off-peak service during middays, evenings and weekends.

Free Fares Program

The DASH Free Fares Program was started in 2021 with the launch of the New DASH Network. The City's fare-free program is funded in part by a \$7.1 million grant award from the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT) Transit Ridership Incentive Program (TRIP). The intent of the program is to reduce barriers to transit usage, promote equitable access to transit, and increase public awareness of the New DASH Network. Additional information on the DASH Free Fares program can be found at www.dashbus.com/free.

Zero Emissions Fleet

DASH has established itself as an industry leader in the adoption of zero-emission bus technology over the last five years. In 2019, DASH become one of the first transit agencies in the Commonwealth of Virginia to operate 100% electric buses in revenue service. By 2021, the agency's fleet of battery electric buses had grown to 14, making it the largest fleet of 100% electric buses in the Washington DC region. The ATC Board of Directors has adopted a policy goal of converting the entire DASH fixed-route bus fleet to 100% zero emissions technology by the year 2037.

DASH has also secured regional and federal funding to purchase additional 100% electric buses in the coming years. Funding from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA)'s Low/No Emission Buses Program allowing DASH to purchase 13 battery-electric buses to replace diesel and hybrid buses that are reaching the end of their useful life. DASH has also been awarded funding through Northern Virginia Transportation Commission (NVTC)'s I-395 Commuter Choice program for two articulated electric buses to be used for increased capacity on Line 35. Finally, DASH was awarded a Smart Scale award for the purchase of 12 new zero-emission buses.

Facility Expansion & Improvements

Through the FTA's Low No Program, DASH is receiving funding to support the installation of charging infrastructure as part of DASH's bus maintenance and storage facility. FTA funding will also allow the facility to be upgraded with additional electrical capacity. Also, Virginia's Smart Scale program is funding the expansion of the DASH bus maintenance and storage facility that will allow for added capacity of up to 38 additional buses. Additional funding from the Northern Virginia Transportation Association (NVTA) is also being used towards facility upgrades that will be necessary to support the DASH electric bus fleet.

Other DASH/City Transit Initiatives

Additional DASH/City projects and programs related to public transit are included below.

#	Project	Description
1	West End Transitway	City is working on implementing infrastructure upgrades at key intersections along the corridor, installing BRT shelters, and creating an operations plan. Service on the West End Transitway BRT is expected to begin in FY 2027.
2	Duke Street in Motion	City is working to implement transit improvements along the Duke Street corridor to support BRT, enhanced multimodal facilities and improved bus stop amenities.
3	Metroway Improvements	City is working to extend dedicated Metroway facilities to the Arlington County line. This project is especially crucial considering the proposed Stadium and Entertainment District at Potomac Yard.
4	King Street Bus Improvement Project	City & DASH staff are evaluating bus stops and priority treatments along King Street in Old Town to improve bus speeds, reliability and overall customer experience. Plan recommendations will include stop consolidations, accessibility improvements, amenity upgrades and other operational adjustments.
5	King/Bradlee Corridor Project	This project will construct multimodal, streetscape, safety, stormwater and drainage improvements on King Street from Quaker Lane to Menokin Drive. This project is intended to enhance mobility, access, safety and comfort for pedestrians, cyclists, users of public transportation and drivers in and around the Bradlee and Fairlington areas of King Street. The project will also improve existing stormwater management facilities and mitigate ongoing drainage in existing medians. This area was identified for safety enhancements in the Alexandria Mobility Plan.
6	Landmark Transit Center	This project will design and construct a new Transit Center at the redeveloped Landmark Mall site. The transit center will include six new bus bays, additional transit amenities, and

Table 11-1 / Additional Transit Initiatives in the City of Alexandria

#	Project	Description	
		create a multimodal hub for people using the site. The project	
		was included in the West End development plan, and both the	
		West End and Duke Street transitways, along with other DASH	
		and WMATA routes, would utilize this transit center.	
7	Mark Center Transit Center	City & DASH staff are working with property owners to expand	
		existing transit center as part of redevelopment of adjacent parcel.	
8	Southern Towers Transit	City & DASH staff are working with property owners to create	
0	Center	new transit center as part of potential redevelopment project.	
9	Citywide Bus Stop	City & DASH staff are working to identify and prioritize bus stop	
9			
	Improvements	improvements across the city based on a recent bus stop	
10	DAGU Tashralasu	inventory project.	
10	DASH Technology	This ongoing CIP project has funded recent DASH scheduling	
		software upgrades and automated passenger counters (APC)	
		retrofit project. Funding in future years is designated for	
		business analytics tools, CAD/AVL upgrades, passenger	
		information systems, and other tools that can improve DASH	
		operations and overall customer experience.	
11	Automated Wheelchair	DASH is in the process of installing automated wheelchair	
	Securement Pilot	securement systems on five buses as part of an FY 2024 DRPT	
		Demonstration Project grant.	
12	Electric Bus Charge	DASH is deploying an Electric Bus Charge Management System	
	Management Pilot	as part of an FY 2024 DRPT Demonstration Project grant.	
13	Onboard Passenger	DASH is applying for an FY 2025 DRPT Demonstration Project	
	Information Screen Pilot	grant to install onboard information screens on up to 10 buses.	
		The screens will provide passengers with route information,	
		upcoming bus stops, transfer information, service alerts, and	
		other trip-related information.	
14	Thru Vision Blind Spot	DASH is applying for an FY 2025 DRPT Demonstration Project	
	Camera Project	grant to install Thru Vision Blind Spot video cameras on several	
		buses to test the system and improve pedestrian safety.	

1.2 / Strategic Vision

The Strategic Vision for public transportation in the City of Alexandria has been outlined in recent years by the ATC Board of Directors through its adoption of the DASH vision and mission statement, the new ATC Board Strategic Plan and the Alexandria Transit Vision (ATV) Plan. The City of Alexandria has also shaped this vision with its Alexandria Mobility Plan (AMP) that was adopted by Alexandria City Council in 2021 with an emphasis on providing "safe, seamless and connected mobility options to foster a thriving Alexandria for all." The guiding principles "accessible, connected, convenient, equitable, safe and sustainable."

DASH Vision & Mission Statement

The Alexandria Transit Company (DASH) vision was adopted by the ATC Board of Directors in 2019 and reads as follows:

The Alexandria Transit Company (DASH) envisions a community with equal access to convenient and sustainable transportation that improves the overall quality of life throughout the City of Alexandria.

The agency's mission statement reads:

The Alexandria Transit Company (DASH) delivers a safe, trusted, customer-focused experience by providing exemplary bus service to the diverse Alexandria community."

Both the Vision and Mission Statement are posted on the DASH website and throughout the DASH Facility as reminders for what DASH is working to deliver and achieve for the Alexandria community.

ATC Board Strategic Plan

Over the last year, the DASH Board of Directors has worked to develop the ATC Board Strategic Plan to help define the agency's main strategic goals and inform future board decision-making. These goals and objectives are summarized in Table 11-2.

1.2.1 / Goals and Objectives

The City of Alexandria and the Alexandria Transit Company have both identified similar goals and objectives for the city's transit network. The City's goals and objectives are identified in the Alexandria Mobility Plan (AMP) and are summarized in this section. The ATC Board of Directors has identified specific goals and objectives for DASH which are outlined below. Additional priorities that were identified in the Alexandria Transit Vision (ATV) Plan process are also included at the end of the section.

ATC Board Strategic Plan (BSP) Goals & Objectives

The ATC Board of Directors developed the following set of goals and objectives as part of its new ATC Board Strategic Plan (BSP). These goals and objectives have been specifically identified to promote the DASH Vision and Mission Statement and are summarized in Table 11-2. Additional details on the ATC Board Strategic Plan (BSP) and the goals and objectives listed below are available on the DASH website.

Our Vision:

A community with equal access to convenient and sustainable transportation that improves overall quality of life throughout the City of Alexandria

Our Mission:

We deliver a safe, trusted, customer-focused experience by providing exemplary bus service to the diverse Alexandria community.

Goal 1: System Excellence	Outcome measure:	
Provide a robust transportation system that meets our customers' needs	→ Percentage of population within ¼-mile radius of bus stop with frequent, all-day service (Target: increase to 80%, baseline 70%)	
Goal 2: Customer Experience	Outcome measure:	
Deliver a top-notch customer experience so that people choose to ride	 → Customer Service Index (CSI) monthly (Target: 95 or above; baseline 80) → On-time performance, monthly (Target: 85%; baseline 80%) 	
Goal 3: Environmental Stewardship	Outcome measure:	
Minimize the community's carbon footprint on the environment	→ Tons of CO2 emissions reduced (last 12 months) (Target: increase by ~23% to 16,000; baseline 13,000)	
Goal 4: Workplace Excellence	Outcome measure:	
Foster an environment that champions inclusion, work-life balance, innovation, and professional growth and satisfaction	→ Retention rate (Target: TBD; baseline under study)	
Goal 5: Fiscal Responsibility and	Outcome measures:	
Efficiency	ightarrow Series from the Annual Budget, including	
Deliver high-quality, cost-efficient services that offer maximum value to the community	 \$0 fares (Policy) Cost per rider (Target TBD) Cost per ton of pollution eliminated (Target TBD) 	
	→ Federal formula funds allocated based on DASH performance metrics (Target: sustain or grow over time, baseline under study)	

Alexandria Mobility Plan (AMP) Goals & Objectives

The Alexandria Mobility Plan (AMP) that was approved by Alexandria City Council as an update to the City's Transportation Master Plan included a set of goals and objectives for the City of Alexandria's transit network. The two primary AMP goals for transit are summarized in Table 11-3, and the full AMP document can be viewed at https://www.alexandriava.gov/MobilityPlan.

Table 11-3 / Alexandria Mobility Plan (AMP) Goals & Objectives.

AMP Goal 1: Make transit greener and more useful.

Objective	Description	
1.1	Implement a citywide transit network with frequent, all-day service.	
1.2	Build out the city's priority transitway corridors and identify improvements on	
	congested, high ridership corridors to reduce travel times and improve reliability.	
1.3	Transition the City's bus fleet to fully electric, zero-emission vehicles.	
1.4	1.4 Improve the rider experience from trip planning, to accessing the stop, riding the bus,	
	and arriving at the destination.	

AMP Goal 2: Make transit easier to use.

Objective	Description	
2.1	Evaluate DASH's fare free service and continue to explore low-income WMATA fares	
2.2	Support a better connected regional transit network	
2.3	Modernize the paratransit program for the city's aging population by developing more customer-friendly service, identifying opportunities to improve cost effectiveness, and exploring partnerships.	

Alexandria Transit Vision (ATV) Plan

In December 2019, the ATC Board of Directors adopted the Alexandria Transit Vision (ATV) Plan, a comprehensive bus network redesign project that envisions a series of short- and long-term route and service changes the city's bus network for 2022 and 2030. The plan was intended to redesign the network to better reflect community priorities and provide more useful bus service in places where more people could use it.

With the approval of the ATV Plan, the ATC Board of Directors not only endorsed a series of route changes; it also established clear policy guidance that ridership (or frequency) should be emphasized over geographic coverage to the extent possible in all future service planning decisions. The consensus of staff and stakeholders on this important tradeoff and a number of others is summarized below:

Frequency vs coverage – DASH prioritizes frequency (or ridership) over coverage to the
extent possible and seeks to provide more useful, frequent service in the places where
more people can use it. Since most benefits of transit for both riders and the larger
community are derived directly from the number of people who are riding the service,
this focus on increasing ridership allows DASH to better meet the needs of more of its
riders while helping to promote overall city goals for equity and sustainability.

- Walking vs waiting Based on feedback from the community, stakeholders and the ATC Board of Directors during ATV outreach, DASH prioritizes shorter wait times over shorter walking distances. This means that more resources are allocated to provide frequent, all-day service in key corridors as opposed to less frequent service that deviates into lower-density residential areas. This approach will require some residents to walk further, but the service that they are walking to will be more frequent and will promote ridership-oriented goals.
- Boardings vs distance travelled DASH prioritizes boardings. Due to Alexandria's dense, compact development footprint, distance travelled is not a viable tool to measure service success. Besides a few routes which travel outside of jurisdictional boundaries to provide service to the Pentagon, the majority of DASH's service is designed for local trips. Thus, more quantifiable metrics such as boardings is a more appropriate measure of DASH's success.
- **Peak Hour vs. All- Day Service** With the ongoing implementation of the ATV Plan, DASH is prioritizing all-day and off-peak/weekend service over more traditional commuter transit needs. This approach aligns with shifting ridership demands resulting from increased teleworking following the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Serving specific population groups DASH and the City of Alexandria place a strong emphasis on providing equitable access to transit for communities with higher percentages of low income, minority, and residents with limited mobility (e.g. seniors, disabled).

The strategic vision from the BSP and the AMP, as well as the tradeoffs outlined above were influential in the development and ongoing implementation of the ATV Plan and future City/DASH priorities.

1.2.2 / Service Design Standards

DASH has most recently updated its Service Design Standards in 2022 as part of its Title VI program development. These standards are outlined in the "DASH Title VI Service Standards & Policies" document that was adopted by the ATC Board of Directors in March 2022.

These standards provide a framework for DASH service design decisions based on route types and Title VI classifications. This framework relies primarily on the following metrics and is intended to identify routes that may be performing below the standards for their respective route types.

- Vehicle Passenger Load;
- Vehicle Headways (Service Frequency);
- On-Time Performance; and
- Service Availability

Route Categories

In order to develop appropriate service standards for the different types of routes, each DASH bus line is classified as belonging to one of the four categories listed below. These classifications are used to identify service standards which are specific to and appropriate for each route category.

- **Frequent.** Frequent routes are defined as the routes that operate every 15 minutes or better, all-day, seven days per week. The 15-minute service standard on these routes is maintained from at least 6am to 7pm on weekdays and from 7am to 6pm on weekends. The routes will typically operate earlier in the morning and later in the evening, but with less frequent service.
- Local. All other routes that operate seven days per week but do not meet the "frequent" standard are classified as "local routes. These routes typically operate from at least 7am to 10pm on weekdays and 8am to 9pm on weekends.
- **Commuter.** Any bus routes that are primarily intended for passengers who commute during the weekday peak hours are classified as "Commuter" routes. These routes typically do not operate on Saturdays or Sundays.
- **Trolley.** The King Street Trolley is classified with its own route category due to its distinct purpose and unique operating characteristics.

Table 11-4 provides information on route categories for the DASH system and for each bus route.

Route	Route Description	Route Category
30	Van Dorn Metro - Braddock Road Metro via Duke Street	Local
31	NVCC-Braddock Road Metro via King Street	Frequent
	Landmark Mall - King Street Metro via Eisenhower	
32	Avenue	Local
33	Potomac Yard - King Street Metro via Del Ray	Local
34	Braddock Road Metro - Lee Center via City Hall	Local
35	Van Dorn Metro - Pentagon via West End	Frequent
36A/B	Mark Center - Potomac Yard via Shirlington	Frequent
102	Mark Center - King Street Metro via Seminary Road	Commuter
103	Braddock Road Metro - Pentagon via Parkfairfax	Commuter
104	Braddock Road Metro - Pentagon via Parkfairfax	Commuter
KST	King Street Trolley	Trolley

Table 11-4 / DASH Route Classifications by Route

Systemwide Service Standards

The following sections outline the four primary service indicators that will be used to monitor ATC/DASH bus lines. Each standard is set based on the route categories listed above.

The data samples used to compare route performance to these standards should be collected over a representative time period to ensure that they provide an accurate snapshot of each route. To ensure consistency, ATC/DASH typically uses data from March, April, September or October, which represent the busiest months of the year in terms of ridership. These months also serve as good comparison points because schools are in session and few major holidays are observed. Data collection time periods may also fluctuate based on data availability. Weekday peak periods are generally defined as 6:00 - 9:00 AM and 3:00 - 6:00 PM.

Vehicle Loads

The FTA Title VI Circular describes vehicle loads as follows:

Vehicle load can be expressed as the ratio of passengers to the total number of seats on a vehicle. For example, on a 40-seat bus, a vehicle load of 1. 3 means all seats are filled and there are approximately 12 standees. A vehicle load standard is generally expressed in terms of peak and off-peak times. Transit providers that operate multiple modes of transit must describe the specific vehicle load standards for peak and off-peak times for each mode of fixed route transit service (i.e., bus, express bus, bus rapid transit, light rail, heavy rail, commuter rail, passenger ferry, etc., as applicable), as the standard may differ by mode.

ATC/DASH service planners monitor load factor data on all routes to prevent overcrowding and determine when additional capacity is needed. The load factor for each route is calculated based on the average maximum load of each trip on a route during the peak, off-peak, and weekend periods.

Table 1-5 outlines the vehicle load factor standards, which are based upon historical data, industry practices, and staff analyses. If a route exceeds its respective peak load factor standard, ATC/DASH staff will review the service to determine if additional capacity should be provided. Commuter routes are subject to a reduced load factor standard to ensure passenger safety on routes that operate on highways. The King Street Trolley includes a higher load factor standard due to the lower number of seats on Trolley vehicles, and the shorter average trip lengths.

Pouto Cotogony	Average Peak Load Factor						
Route Category	Weekday (Peak)	Weekday (Off-Peak)	Weekend				
Frequent	1.2	1.0	1.0				
Local	1.2	1.0	1.0				

1.0 1.5

Table 11-5 / DASH Peak Load Factor Standards

*Trolley does not operate during AM peak periods or on weekends before 11:00 AM.

1.0

1.5

1.5

Vehicle Headways

The FTA Circular describes headways as follows:

Commuter

Trolley*

Vehicle headway is the amount of time between two vehicles traveling in the same direction on a given line or combination of lines. A shorter headway corresponds to more frequent service. Vehicle headways are measured in minutes (e.g., every 15 minutes); service frequency is measured in vehicles per hour (e.g., 4 buses per hour). Headways and frequency of service are general indications of the level of service provided along a route. Vehicle headway is one component of the amount of travel time expended by a passenger to reach his/her destination.

As outlined in the 2022/2030 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan, ATC/DASH emphasizes frequent service with short headways of 15 minutes or less as the most important determinant of how useful a bus service will be for the average customer.

ATC/DASH calculates headways as the average length of time between the scheduled arrival times of subsequent vehicles on a specific route. Table 11-66 outlines the vehicle headway standards by route category and time of day. These standards were originally developed as part of the Title VI Program development in 2022, but have been revised below as follows:

- (1) Vehicle headway standards for local routes during off-peak and weekends have been increased from 60 to 30 minutes to ensure more useful service on core network;
- (2) Vehicle headway standard for commuter routes during off-peak periods has been changed from 60 minutes to "N/A" to reflect the fact that most DASH commuter routes only operate during weekday peak periods.

Table 11-66 / Vehicle Headway Standards

Pouto Catogory	Minimum	Headway Standard (minutes)				
Route Category	Weekday (Peak)	Weekday (Off-Peak)	Weekend			
Frequent	15	15	15			
Local	30	30	30			
Commuter	30	-	-			
Trolley*	15	15	15			

*Trolley does not operate during AM peak periods or on weekends before 11:00 AM.

On-Time Performance

The FTA Title VI Circular describes on-time performance as follows:

On-time performance is a measure of runs completed as scheduled. This criterion first must define what is considered to be "on time. " For example, a transit provider may consider it acceptable if a vehicle completes a scheduled run between zero and five minutes late in comparison to the established schedule. On-time performance can be measured against route origins and destinations only, or against origins and destinations as well as specified time points along the route. Some transit providers set an on-time performance standard that prohibits vehicles from running early (i.e., ahead of schedule) while others allow vehicles to run early within a specified window of time (e.g., up to five minutes ahead of schedule). An acceptable level of performance must be defined (expressed as a percentage).

ATC/DASH regularly monitors on-time performance to increase service reliability and determine if running time changes are needed. Running times on each route are reviewed on a monthly basis and adjusted as warranted by changing traffic conditions or other operating factors.

ATC/DASH has previously established an on-time performance goal of 85 percent for all routes based on industry-wide standards shown in Table 1-7. A trip is considered to be "on time" when the bus arrives to timepoint no more than one minutes before or five minutes after the scheduled arrival time.

Doute Category	On-1	Time Performance (OTP)				
Route Category	Weekday (Peak)	Weekday (Off-Peak)	Weekend			
Frequent	85%	85%	85%			
Local	85%	85%	85%			
Commuter	85%	85%	-			
Trolley*	85%	85%	85%			

Table 11-7 / On-Time Performance Standards

*Trolley does not operate during AM peak periods or on weekends before 11:00 AM.

Service Availability

The FTA Title VI Circular describes service availability as follows:

Service availability is a general measure of the distribution of routes within a transit provider's service area. For example, a transit provider might set a service standard to distribute routes such that a specified percentage of all residents in the service area are within a one-quarter mile walk of bus service or a one-half mile walk of rail service.

The DASH approach to service availability is shaped largely by the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan. One of the key statistics that was used during the development of the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan was the percentages of city residents who live within ¼ mile of a bus stop with "frequent" bus service, and the percentage within ¼ mile of a bus stop with any bus service. This metric was also calculated for percentages of minority residents, low-income residents, senior residents and jobs. These percentages help to measure the availability of bus service to residents, and the availability of useful, frequent, all-day service. These metrics will be calculated for each of these population groups as part of the regular service monitoring process.

The Alexandria Transit Vision Plan, which was adopted by the ATC Board of Directors in 2019, called for a bus network that increases total ridership by providing more useful, frequent bus service in high-ridership transit areas as opposed to providing more infrequent service across a wider geographic area. This approach guided the development of the 2022/2030 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan and the resulting New DASH Network, which provides frequent, all-day bus service in key corridors across the City of Alexandria. This focus on increasing the amount of useful, frequent service in areas where lots of people can use it has proven to be particularly effective at increasing ridership as well as fulfilling the transit needs of the City of Alexandria's minority and low-income populations.

With the recent ATC Board Strategic Plan, the minimum standard for residents within ¼ mile of Frequent, All-Day bus service has been increased from 50 percent to 70 percent, as shown in Table 1-8 below.

Table 11-8	/ Service	Availability	Standards
------------	-----------	---------------------	-----------

Service Availability	City Residents
Within 1/4 Mile of a Frequent Route	70%
Within 1/4 Mile of Any Route	90%

1.2.3 / Performance Standards

The following performance standards are intended to set a minimum baseline for operation of the DASH network and for individual bus routes (see Table 1-9). They focus on ridership, cost-efficiency, safety, reliability and accessibility.

Most of the standards were developed as part of the Board Strategic Plan (BSP) and ATSP development processes. Standards have been determined based on a combination of ATV Plan service design goals, transit industry standards, and recent system performance data.

Service that does not meet these standards should be further evaluated to determine if adjustments are needed. These systemwide performance standards may be subject to change in future years as more data becomes available.

Category	Description	Standard (Systemwide)
Ridership	Boardings Per Revenue Hour	12 boardings per revenue hour
	Boardings Per Revenue Mile	1 boarding per revenue mile
Cost Efficiency	Cost Per Mile	\$12 Per Mile*
	Cost Per Rider	\$8 Per Rider*
Safety	Preventable Events Per 100K miles	<5 Preventables / 100K Miles
Reliability	On-Time Performance	85%
	Missed Trip %	<0.02%
Accessibility	% Residents Near FREQUENT Service	70%
	% Jobs Near FREQUENT Service	70%
	% Residents Near ANY Service	90%
	% Jobs Near ANY Service	90%

Table 11-9 / Systemwide Performance Standards

*Cost efficiency standards are subject to annual COI adjustments of 3%.

Additional daily ridership performance standards for the four different route categories are outlined below in Table 1-10. These standards are based on average ridership performance levels for each category. The standards may be subject to change in future years as more data becomes available.

Deute Catagoni	Boardings	Per Reven	ue Hour	Boarding	ue Mile	
Route Category	Weekday	Saturday	Sunday	Weekday	Saturday	Sunday
Frequent	15.0	10.0	8.0	1.5	1.5	1.5
Local	10.0	8.0	6.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Commuter	10.0	-	-	1.0	-	-
Trolley	20.0	20.0	20.0	5.0	5.0	5.0

Chapter 2

System Performance & Operations Analysis



Chapter 2.0 / System Performance and Operations Analysis

This section provides an overview of transit ridership, service levels and productivity within the DASH service area. It summarizes current performance metrics in comparison to the standards included in the previous section as well as historic trends where data is available.

2.1 / System and Service Data

The Alexandria Transit Company (DASH) operates traditional fixed-route bus service on ten regular bus routes, and the King Street Trolley. The primary service area covers approximately 15 square miles and generally aligns with the jurisdictional boundaries of the City of Alexandria. A map of the DASH bus system and an inset map depicting bus service in Old Town Alexandria was included in Section 1. The majority of DASH service operates within the City of Alexandria, however, three routes – Lines 35, 103, and 104 – also provide service along Interstate 395 between Alexandria and the Pentagon.

The DASH bus system serves some of the busiest corridors in the City and has been designed to complement the WMATA Metrobus routes that operate within the City. The city's overall bus network follows a modified hub-and-spoke network design model with Old Town as the "hub", and the major east-west arterials (King Street, Seminary Road, Duke Street, and Eisenhower Avenue) serving as the "spokes". Several "crosstown routes" like DASH Line 35 and 36 A/B and Metrobus 7A providing connections between outlying areas and major trip generators on the West End and northern Alexandria.

DASH provides local bus service within the City of Alexandria, but also connects passengers to the Metrorail system, which has five stations within the City of Alexandria (Braddock Road, King Street-Old Town, Eisenhower Avenue, Potomac Yard-VT and Van Dorn Street) and to four non-Metrorail transit centers (Landmark/West Alexandria, Mark Center, Southern Towers, NVCC-Alexandria). WMATA also operates 18 bus routes and two Metrorail lines that operate within the City of Alexandria and provide connections to destinations throughout the Washington, DC metropolitan region.

The City of Alexandria's Department of Transportation and Environmental Services (T&ES) manages the City's *DOT* ADA paratransit service. WMATA's MetroAccess program also provides paratransit service within the City of Alexandria.

2.1.1 / Overall Transit Network Summary

The following section provides a detailed summary of rail, bus and paratransit services operated within the City of Alexandria. These include DASH bus routes, as well as WMATA's Metrorail and Metrobus services. Table 2-1 provides basic information on the City of Alexandria from the 2020 U.S. Census.

Table 2-1 / City of Alexandria Population Summary (FY 2023)

Service Area - City of Alexandria (2020)				
Service Area Population	159,461			
Service Area Population Density (Population per Square Mile)	10,093			
Service Area Square Miles	15.8			

2.1.2 / Alexandria Transit Company (DASH)

Table 2-2 provides a summary of the DASH system based on FY 2023 NTD performance data and 2020 U.S. Census. Data for the City of Alexandria.

Table 2-2 / Existing DASH Service Summary (FY 2023)

DASH Service Summary	FY 2023
Annual Ridership	4,540,860
Total Routes (including King Street Trolley)	11
Total Fleet Size	101 buses
Number of Vehicles in Peak Service	75 buses
Operating Costs	\$34.1 million
Revenue Hours	288,880
Revenue Miles	2,645,830
Days of Week in Operation	7
Average Headways	15-30 minutes
Directional Route Mileage	110.3

DASH operates 11 routes within the City of Alexandria, including the King Street Trolley. The basic characteristics of each DASH route are summarized in Table 2-3. Additional information about the service and demographic profiles for each DASH route is provided in Appendix B.

All eleven routes operate on weekdays and eight routes run on Saturdays and Sundays. Lines in the core DASH network are notated as part of the 30-series (Lines 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35 and 36A/B) and operate seven days per week, while 100-series routes (Lines 102, 103 and 104) are designed for commuters and only operate during weekdays or weekday peak periods. Routes are further classified as "Frequent", "Local", "Commuter" or "Trolley" as outlined in Chapter 1.

On most core DASH routes (Lines 30 - 36), weekday service runs from at least 6:00 AM to 11:00 PM, and weekend service runs from at least 7:00 AM to 10:00 PM. Weekday peak service runs every 10-30 minutes for all routes, while off-peak service typically runs every 30-60 minutes during mid-days and evenings. Of the eight routes that run on Saturdays and Sundays, four run every 15 minutes or better. On Saturdays, only one of the eight routes runs only every 60 minutes, but on Sundays, three of the eight routes only run once every hour.

		Span/Frequency							
Route	Route Description	Weekday			Saturday		Sunday		
		Span	Peak	Off- Peak	Night	Span	Freq.	Span	Freq.
30	Van Dorn Metro to Braddock Road Metro via Landmark Mall, Van Dorn, King & Old Town	5:00am - 12:00am	10/20	30	30	6:00am - 11:30pm	30	6:00a - 11:30p	30
31	NVCC to Braddock Road Metro via Bradlee Shopping Center, King Street Metro & Old Town	5:00am - 12:30am	10	15	30	6:00am - 12:00am	15/30	6:00am - 12:00am	15/30
32	Landmark Mall to King Street Metro via Pickett Street, Van Dorn Metro & Eisenhower Metro	5:00am - 10:00pm	30	60	60	7:00am - 10:00pm	60	7:00am - 10:00pm	60
33	King Street Metro to Potomac Yard via Commonwealth, Monroe, Mt. Vernon, & Reed	6:00am - 10:00pm	30	30	60	7:00am - 10:00pm	30	7:00am - 10:00pm	30
34	Lee Center to Braddock Street Metro via City Hall	5:00am - 10:00pm	30	30	30	6:30am - 10:11pm	30	7:00a - 10:00p	60
35	Van Dorn Metro to Pentagon Metro via Landmark Mall, Mark Center, and I-395	4:00am - 1:00am	10	10	30	6:00am - 12:30am	15	6:00a - 11:30p	15
36A/B	Mark Center Station to Potamac Yard via Southern Towers, Bradlee Shopping Center, & Glebe	6:00a - 11:00p	15	15	30	7:00a - 10:30p	15	6:58a - 10:32p	15
102	Mark Center Station to King Street Metro via Seminary & King	5:00a- 8:00p	30	60	-	-	-	-	-
103	Braddock Road Metro to Pentagon Metro via Russel, Glebe, & Parkfairfax	6:00a - 8:00p	30	-	-	-	-	-	-
104	Braddock Road Metro to Pentagon Metro via Cameron Mills Drive and Parkfairfax	6:15a - 8:15p	30	-	-	-	-	-	-
KST	King Street Trolley	11:00am - 11:00pm	15	15	15	11:00am - 11:00pm	15	11:00am - 11:00pm	15

Table 2-3 / DASH Route Summary

In FY 2023, DASH recorded over 4.5 million annual boardings. As shown in Figure 2-1, this was the highest ridership total for a single year in DASH's 39-year history, eclipsing the previous record of 4.3 million boardings in FY 2015. This milestone is also notable in that it represents a full recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic that led to annual ridership totals of 1.5 million and 3.1 million in FY 2021 and FY 2022, respectively.

Figure 2-3 shows monthly ridership totals by day type for the last three years. This graph highlights the sharp decrease and recovery of weekday ridership levels across the DASH system and the relative stability of weekend usage. Additional ridership graphs and maps are provided in this section (see Figure 2-4, Figure 2-5, and Figure 2-6), along with the Systemwide Performance and Service Design standards (see Table 2-4 andTable 2-5).



Figure 2-1 / Annual DASH Ridership (FY84-FY23)



Figure 2-2 / Monthly DASH Ridership (FY17 – FY23)

Figure 2-3 / DASH Average Daily Ridership by Day Type (FY2021 – FY2023)





Figure 2-4 / DASH Average Weekday Ridership by Stop (September 2022)

Figure 2-5 / DASH Average Saturday Ridership by Stop (September 2022)





Figure 2-6 / DASH Average Sunday Ridership by Stop (September 2022)

Table 2-4	/ Systemwide	Performance	Standards
-----------	--------------	-------------	-----------

Category	Description	Standard (Systemwide)
Ridership	Boardings Per Revenue Hour	12 boardings per revenue hour
	Boardings Per Revenue Mile	1 boarding per revenue mile
Cost Efficiency	Cost Per Mile	\$12 Per Mile*
	Cost Per Rider	\$8 Per Rider*
Safety	Preventable Events Per 100K miles	<5 Preventables / 100K Miles
Reliability	On-Time Performance	85%
	Missed Trip %	<0.02%
Accessibility	% Residents Near FREQUENT Service	70%
	% Jobs Near FREQUENT Service	70%
	% Residents Near ANY Service	90%
	% Jobs Near ANY Service	90%

*Cost efficiency standards are subject to annual COI adjustments of 3%.

Route Category	Minimum Headway Standard (minutes)								
Noule Calegory	Weekday (Peak)	Weekday (Off-Peak)	Weekend						
Frequent	15	15	15						
Local	30	30	30						
Commuter	30	n/a	-						
Trolley*	15	15	15						

Route Category	Average Peak Load Factor								
Route Category	Weekday (Peak)	Weekday (Off-Peak)	Weekend						
Frequent	1.2	1.0	1.0						
Local	1.2	1.0	1.0						
Commuter	1.0	1.0	-						
Trolley*	1.5	1.5	1.5						

Route Category	On-Time Performance (OTP)								
Route Category	Weekday (Peak)	Weekday (Off-Peak)	Weekend						
Frequent	85%	85%	85%						
Local	85%	85%	85%						
Commuter	85%	85%	-						
Trolley*	85%	85%	85%						

Service Availability	City Residents		
Within 1/4 Mile of a Frequent Route	70%		
Within 1/4 Mile of Any Route	90%		

2.1.3 / Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA)

Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) serves as the regional transit operator for the Washington, DC metropolitan region and operates two (2) Metrorail lines and 18 Metrobus routes within the City of Alexandria. The City of Alexandria is served by five (5) Metrorail stations, including the Potomac Yard-VT Metrorail Station that opened in May 2023.

A summary of all WMATA bus and rail service operated within the City of Alexandria is included as Table 2-6 and a map is included as Figure 2-7.



Figure 2-7 / Metrobus System Map for the City of Alexandria

						Saturday			Sunday				
		Headway				Headway		Неа		dway			
Route	Span	Early	AM Peak	Midday	PM Peak	Evening	Late	Span	Core	Non-Core	Span	Core	Non-Core
							Met	robus					
7A	4:41 AM – 1:52 AM	30	24	20	24	20	30	5:20 AM – 1:46 AM	20	60	5:20 AM – 1:46 AM	20	60
7M	6 AM – 6:55 PM	10	10	15	10	15	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
8W	6:06 AM – 8:59 AM 4 PM – 7:30 PM	24	24	-	24	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
10A	4:25 AM – 2:33 AM	30	30	30	30	30	30	5:36 AM – 2:04 AM	30	30	5:25 AM – 2:06 AM	60	60
10B	4:45 AM – 12:33 AM	30	30	30	30	30	30	5:50 AM – 12:36 AM	30	60	5:45 AM – 10:38 PM	30	60
11Y	5:49 AM – 9:27 AM 4:00 PM - 7:39 PM	24	24	-	24	30	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
21C	5:30 AM – 9:10 AM 4 PM - 7:29 PM	30	20	-	22	26	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
22F	6 AM – 9:33 AM 4:02 PM – 7:53 PM	30	30	-	30	30	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
23A, 23B	5:26 AM – 1:47 AM	25	25	30	25	30	45	6:06 AM -1:50 AM	40	60	6:06 AM – 1:50 AM	40	60

Table 2-6 / WMATA Services in the City of Alexandria

25B	5:40 AM – 11 PM	15	15	30	15	20	45	6:10 AM – 9:09 PM	30	60	8:10 AM – 8:40 PM	60	60
28A	4:18 AM – 3:06 AM	20	12	12	12	12	30	5:30 AM – 2:51 AM	12	30	6:05 AM – 2:47 AM	12	30
28F	3:55 AM – 7:12 AM 6:39 PM – 8:56 PM	30	-	-	-	30	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
29K, 29N	6:11 AM – 11:30 PM	25	20	20	20	20	30	6:53 AM – 10:30 PM	20	30	6:54 AM – 10:30 PM	20	30
NH2	6:05 AM – 11:55 PM	30	30	30	30	30	30	6:05 AM – 11:55 PM	30	30	6:05 AM – 11:55 PM	30	30
REX	5:02 AM – 11:39 PM	15	15	20	15	20	30	5 AM – 11:46 PM	30	30	5 AM – 11:47 PM	20	30
						Bu	s Rap	id Transit					
MW1	5:30 AM – 10:24 PM	20	12	12	12	12	20	6:30 AM – 10:51 PM	20	20	7:30 AM – 10:24 PM	20	30
	Metrorail												
BLUE	5 AM – 12 AM	12	10	12	10	12	15	7 AM – 1 AM	12	15	7 AM – 12 AM	12	15
YELLOW	5 AM – 12 AM	8	6	8	6	8	8	7 AM – 1 AM	8	8	7 AM – 12 AM	8	8

Among WMATA Metrobus routes that operate in Alexandria, those with the highest weekday boardings include the 28A (connecting King Street Metro with Tysons Corner), REX (connecting King Street Metro with Richmond Highway in Fairfax County), 29K/N routes (connecting King Street Metro with George Mason University), 7A (serving Van Dorn Street Metro and the Pentagon), Metroway (WMATA's BRT line from Braddock Road Metro to Pentagon City Metro), and 10B (serving residents from Hunting Point to Arlandria).

Devite	Weekday	Saturday	Sunday
Route	FY 2023	FY 2023	FY 2023
7A	1,876	1,163	915
7M	596	-	-
8W	124	-	-
10A	1,432	1,167	597
10B	1,456	2,128	1,824
11Y	214*	-	-
21C	240	-	-
22F	138	-	-
23A	149	216	174
23B	1,071	576	494
25B	889	439	196
28A	5,835	4,974	4,063
28F	16	-	-
29K, 29N	1,936	1,611	1,313
NH2	685	592	550
REX	2,011	1,552	1,204
MW1	1,532	833	706

Table 2-7 / Average Daily Metrobus Boardings (FY 2023)

*11Y resumed service in June 2023, thus providing only one month of ridership data for FY 2023. Source: WMATA BUS RIDERSHIP VIEWER

Among Alexandria's five Metrorail stations, daily average entries are highest at King St-Old Town and Braddock Road. Every station records its highest ridership during the week except for Potomac Yard-VT, which sees higher ridership on Saturdays (see Table 2-8).

Table 2-8 / Average Daily Metrorail Station Entries (FY 2023)

Station	Weekday Entries	Saturday Entries	Sunday Entries
Station	FY 2023	FY 2023	FY 2023
Braddock Road	1,336	887	677
Eisenhower Avenue	662	512	367
King St – Old Town	2,564	2,262	1,794
Potomac Yard - VT	854	934	793
Van Dorn Street	897	608	421

Source: WMATA RAIL RIDERSHIP DATA VIEWER
2.1.4 / Amtrak/Virginia Railway Express (VRE)

Amtrak and VRE operate regional passenger rail service serving Union Station in the City of Alexandria. A map of the VRE rail system is included as Figure 2-8.





2.1.5 / Fairfax Connector

In addition to WMATA, the Fairfax Connector also provides limited bus service in West Alexandria with routes connecting to the Van Dorn Metro and Mark Center Transit Center. A summary table for all Fairfax Connector routes that operate within the City of Alexandria is included as Table 2-9.

		day					Saturday			Sunday			
		Headway			Headway			Headway					
Route	Route Barly Early Late Late Late	Core	Non-Core	Span	Core	Non-Core							
						Fai	rfax (Connector					
109	4:59 AM – 11:13 PM	50	30	60	30	40	-	6:30 AM – 10:52 PM	60	60	6:30 AM – 7:52 PM	60	60
231	4:50 AM – 10:08 AM 3:01 PM – 10:14 PM	30	30	-	30	30	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
232	4:50 AM – 10:08 AM 3:01 PM – 10:14 PM	30	30	-	30	30	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
321	4:02 AM – 1:10 AM	60	30	30	30	30	60	5:04 AM – 12:13 AM	30	60	5:03 AM – 12:08 AM	60	60
322	4:02 AM – 1:10 AM	60	30	30	30	30	60	5:04 AM – 12:13 AM	30	60	5:03 AM – 12:08 AM	60	60
393	5:13 AM – 10:08 AM 3:35 PM – 7:59 PM	50	40	-	40	50	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Table 2-9 / Fairfax Connector Services in the City of Alexandria

2.1.6 / DOT Paratransit

The City of Alexandria provides DOT Paratransit service that includes complementary paratransit services for eligible riders who are not able to use DASH fixed-route service, as required by the Americans with Disabilities (ADA) Act of 1990.

Alexandria DOT paratransit service is available for free to all eligible riders within the City of Alexandria. Trips that extend outside of the City of Alexandria require a fare of \$4 to \$6 per trip.

Table 2-10 provides an overview of DOT Paratransit operating statistics for FY 2023.

Alexandria DOT Paratransit Service Summary	FY 2023
Annual Trips	39,245
Total Fleet Size	20 vehicles
Number of Vehicles in Peak Service	17 vehicles
Operating Costs	\$2.0 million
Revenue Hours	20,911
Revenue Miles	249,850

Table 2-10 / Existing DOT Paratransit Summary (FY 2023)

2.1.7 / Onboard Survey

In 2023, DASH hired a contractor to conduct a comprehensive customer intercept survey to provide information on customer demographics, travel patterns, and overall satisfaction with DASH services. This origin and destination (O-D) study was conducted on all DASH bus lines and the King Street Trolley. Interviewers administered intercept surveys via tablet computers, asking riders questions specific to their current trip, as well as questions regarding DASH services overall and additional sociodemographic questions. In total, 2,983 surveys were completed during October and November 2023.

Notable survey results are summarized below. A full report on the survey is provided as Appendix C.

- Around three-fourths of customers were persons of color or non-white (74%) with the largest proportion of customers identifying as African American or Black (38%).
- When asked their gender identity, customers systemwide were roughly evenly split between male (51%) and female (48%), with an additional 1% stating they were nonbinary.
- Customers, on average, were 37 years of age with children and teenagers under the age of 18 representing 8 percent of riders and seniors (65 years or older) accounting for 5 percent of all riders.
- The median household income reported by DASH customers is \$38,800. Around two-thirds of all DASH customers (64%) were below 100% of the poverty level, as compared to 18 percent of all city residents.

- DASH riders represent a broad range of educational attainment levels, with 36 percent possessing a bachelor's degree or higher, compared to the citywide average of 56 percent.
- 62 percent of customers who started riding DASH in the last two years reported that free fares had an impact on their decision to start riding DASH.
- 53 percent of customers who were riding DASH prior to free fares reported that they are riding DASH more often now that the system is free to ride.
- 95 percent of riders indicated that they are satisfied with DASH, including 79 percent who said that they were "very satisfied".

Additional information on survey findings and methodology are included in the report in Appendix C.

2.2 / Evaluation of Transit Market Demand and Underserved Areas

To better understand the demand for transit, especially as it relates to underserved areas, this section provides an array of demographic maps that provide insights into the different communities across the City of Alexandria. Some additional information on land use, employment, and population was gathered in the TSP planning process to help inform this document. The findings from these processes were used to identify potential opportunities for expanding service to underserved areas, which are discussed in the following sections. Additional demographic information obtained from the customer survey is available in Appendices B and C.

2.2.1 / Land-Use, Employment, Population, and Demographics

Land-Use

The DASH service area is centered around the City of Alexandria's jurisdictional boundaries, roughly 16 miles in total (see Figure 2-9). Much of the development in Alexandria consists of urban, high-density development at its eastern and western edges, with a small area of primarily low-to-medium density residential development in the center.

Alexandria has convenient access to several transportation modes, such as: Metrorail (with five stations within the city) and interstate highways I-395, and I-95/495, which both bisect the city. Commercial uses are located throughout Alexandria, with the downtown core located along King Street in the Old Town neighborhood, and other commercial corridors along routes such as Duke Street, U.S. Route 1, Eisenhower Avenue, Van Dorn Street, Mt. Vernon Avenue, and others.

Employment

Employment density (jobs per traffic analysis zone (TAZ) in the DASH service area) is shown in Figure 2-10. The DASH service area primarily consists of a jobs clustered around major thoroughfares and transitways. The areas in DASH's service area with higher employment densities include to the east and south-east portions of the city (Old Town and Carlyle neighborhoods), with another heavy concentration along I-395 in the western part of the city.

Population

Population density (people per square mile) in the DASH service area is shown in Figure 2-11. Citywide, Alexandria is noticeably a dense jurisdiction, with nearly 160,000 residents within only 16 square miles. Areas of higher population density appear in the west, north, east, and south-east portions of Alexandria. Generally, Central Alexandria is less dense, and this follows the trend of the urban and suburban built environment. The frequent bus network that was implemented for the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan offers robust service which serves the population dense areas of the city well.

Low-Income Population, Minority Population, and Elderly Population

Based on feedback from the community and City/ATC leadership, transit service was closely analyzed in terms of how it might impact communities of concern, including low-income residents, minorities, and seniors. Figure 2-12 details the minority population density (by census block group (CBG)), Figure 2-14 details the low-income population density (by CBG), and Figure 2-13 details the elderly population density (by CBG).

A table showing service access for these groups is provided as part of the evaluation of service accessibility standards in Section 2.3 of this document.

Limited-English Proficiency Population

The density of limited-English proficiency populations is shown in Figure 2-15. The results indicated that a sizeable amount of people fall into these categories of limited-English proficiency. These populations are dispersed throughout Alexandria, but with larger concentrations along I-395 in the west and in the Arlandria-Chirilagua neighborhood to the north.

Population with Disability

The density of populations living with a disability is shown in Figure 2-16. Areas in Alexandria with higher densities of populations with disability exist in the West End neighborhood and in the North Old Town neighborhood. Existing DASH service serves these communities well, though DOT paratransit also covers these neighborhoods.



Figure 2-9 / City of Alexandria Overview Map with DASH Routes

Source: GTFS data and Remix



Figure 2-10 / Employment Density

Source: ACS 2016, by TAZ.



Figure 2-11 / Population Density

Source: ACS 5-Year, 2017-2021, by CBG



Figure 2-12 / Minority Population Density

Source: ACS 5-Year, 2017-2021, by CBG



Figure 2-13 / Elderly Population Density

Source: ACS 5-Year, 2017-2021, by CBG



Figure 2-14 / Low Income Density

Source: ACS 5-Year, 2017-2021, by CBG



Figure 2-15 / Limited-English Proficiency Population Density

Source: ACS 5-Year, 2017-2021, by CBG



Figure 2-16 / Population with Disability Density

Source: ACS 5-Year, 2017-2021, by CBG

Origin-Destination Data

Origin-Destination data provides key insights for transit planners to better understand the travel demands for different connections. As part of the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan, the project team was able to prepare Origin-Destination maps for the City of Alexandria. Some of the maps and figures are provided below.

As shown in these graphics, a significant amount of people travel between Arlington County and the City of Alexandria, highlighting the imporance of providing service that connects Alexandria to areas like Columbia Pike and the Rosslyn-Ballston Corridor.

Further analysis presented in the following maps and graphics supports the conclusion that improvements to connections should be provided between Potomac Yard and Old Town, and Potomac Yard and Arlington County.



Figure 2-17 / Commuting Patterns from Origin-Destination Data

Source: Alexandria Transit Vision Choices Report



Figure 2-18 / Weekday Origin-Destination Trips (Internal & External Trips)

Source: Alexandria Transit Vision Choices Report



Figure 2-19 / Weekday Origin-Destination Trips (Internal Trips Only)

Source: Alexandria Transit Vision Choices Report



Figure 2-20 / Weekend Origin-Destination Trips (Internal & External Trips)

Source: Alexandria Transit Vision Choices Report



Figure 2-21 / Weekend Origin-Destination Trips (Internal Trips Only)

Source: Alexandria Transit Vision Choices Report

Projected 10-Year Growth

Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments (COG) population and employment projections were used to project trends over the next ten years to understand the future needs of the community and plan for appropriate levels of service. COG data was available in 5-year increments, so 2025 was used as the base year, and 2035 as the 10-year benchmark.

Figure 2-22 shows population projections, and Figure 2-23 details employment projections.

Highlights from this analysis include:

- The City of Alexandria will continue to experience steady population growth.
- Overall, the City is expected to grow from roughly 185,000 residents to over 205,000 residents
- The City of Alexandria will continue to be a major job hub for the region.
- Overall, the City is expected to add a little under 6,000 jobs from 2025 to 2035.

Figure 2-22 / Projected 10-Year Population Growth



Source: Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments Population Forecasts by Transportation Analysis Zone



Figure 2-23 / Projected 10-Year Employment Growth

Source: Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments Population Forecasts by Transportation Analysis Zone

2.2.2 / Transit Demand and Underserved Area Opportunities for Improvement

With the ongoing implementation of the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan, the City has been able to identify areas and corridors within City of Alexandria and surrounding areas that are underserved. Some of these areas have been addressed with the route changes from the New DASH Network, however, the following areas have been identified as underserved by the existing bus network based on current and future travel demand analysis from the ATV Plan and these previous sections of this document:

- Old Town Columbia Pike. Transit riders traveling between Old Town Alexandria and the dense Columbia Pike corridor in Arlington would be forced to make two transfers with the current bus network. Given the amount of residential and commercial density in both locations, there is a clear opportunity for a more convenient bus connection to serve the unmet demand.
- Old Town Ballston/Rosslyn. Similar to Old Town and Columbia Pike, the transit connections between Old Town and the Ballston-Rosslyn corridor in Arlington County are inadequate with the current bus network in light of the amount of residential and commercial activities in both of those areas.
- West Alexandria Arlington. Data suggests that additional connections between West Alexandria and Arlington would be warranted based on travel demand and demographics.
- **Potomac Yard National Landing.** The origin-destination maps for external trips identify a missing link between Potomac Yard and South Alexandria or National Landing. This connection is partially served by Metroway between Crystal City and Potomac Yard, but additional bus routes could provide better connections to other parts of the area. (*Note Arlington has proposed Route 85 in their recently adopted TSP that would address this need*).
- Old Town Fort Hunt/Mount Vernon. The connections between Old Town and Eastern Fairfax County is not currently well served by existing bus routes. The Metrobus 11Y provides a peak direction service, and the Richmond Highway Express (REX) connects to King Street, but there is no useful, all-day bus connection from Old Town to Fort Hunt or Mount Vernon
- **Eisenhower Avenue (Carlyle/PTO).** The demographic maps for population and employment density, as well as the origin-destination maps, suggest that existing bus service along Eisenhower Avenue near Old Town may be inadequate for current and future travel demand.
- Old Town Old Town North. The origin-destination maps show high demand for north-south travel within Old Town. While Lines 30 and 31 meet this demand in central Old Town, additional north-south service such as Line 34 may be needed for better connections between Old Town, Old Town North and Potomac Yard. This need is evident for both the weekday and weekend maps.

2.3 Performance Evaluation

This section assesses the existing performance of DASH's system based on the metrics and standards that were outlined in Chapter 1. DASH service was evaluated at both the system and route level where possible.

Opportunities for improvement are identified at the end of the subsection based on the results performance evaluation.

2.3.1 Performance Evaluation

The performance of DASH service was evaluated in terms of ridership, cost efficiency, safety, and system accessibility metrics. The results of this evaluation are discussed in the following sections.

More detailed route performance profiles are included in Appendix B.

Ridership

As noted in the first chapter, DASH and the City of Alexandria have made a policy decision in recent years that ridership is the most important metric by which the performance of the city's transit network should be assessed. Ridership also provides insight into the degree to which the DASH system is relevant and useful to the Alexandria community and the environmental, economic and traffic mitigation benefits that are being generated for the community at large by DASH usage.

Figure 2-24 provides a summary of monthly systemwide ridership in recent years. DASH ridership decreased to less than a third of typical ridership levels during the first six months of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 and drew well below 50% of typical ridership levels for all of FY 2021. In FY 2022, however, the introduction of the fare-free New DASH Network marked the beginning of a sharp upturn in monthly ridership levels that continued through FY 2022 and FY 2023. DASH became the first agency in the region to eclipse pre-pandemic ridership levels in April 2022 and set a new agency record for annual ridership with over 4.5 million boardings in FY 2023.



Figure 2-24 / DASH Systemwide Ridership by Month (FY17 – FY23)







Figure 2-26 / DASH Average Daily Ridership by Day Type (FY2021 – FY2023)

Average daily boardings by route for weekdays, Saturdays, and Sundays in FY 2022 are shown in Figure 2-27, Figure 2-28, and Figure 2-29, respectively. Routes with the highest weekday ridership are Lines 30, 31, 35 and 36A/B. The least productive weekday routes are Lines 34 and 104 which each drew less than five boardings per revenue hour. On weekends, Lines 30, 31, 35 and 36A/B maintain the highest ridership levels while Line 34 is the lowest.



Figure 2-27 / DASH Weekday Ridership by Route (FY 2022 vs. FY 2023)



Figure 2-28 / DASH Saturday Ridership by Route (FY 2022 vs. FY 2023)

Figure 2-29 / DASH Sunday Ridership by Route (FY 2022 vs. FY 2023)



Cost Efficiency

Cost efficiency is typically used to measure service productivity or usage in comparison to costs and is therefore a direct byproduct of ridership.

In order to determine the cost efficiency of the system, ridership numbers must be compared to revenue hours or operating costs to determine how efficiently the system and its routes are operating. For DASH, this metric is typically expressed in boardings per revenue hour and cost per rider.

In FY 2023, the DASH bus system drew approximately 15.7 boardings per revenue hour. This was an increase of over 47% from the 10.7 boardings per revenue hours that were recorded in FY 2022. For weekdays, DASH drew 15.9 boardings per revenue hour, which exceeds the systemwide standard of 12 boardings per revenue hour. On weekends, DASH drew 16.5 and 13.5 boardings per revenue hour on Saturdays and Sundays, respectively, which also exceed the minimum standards of 10.0. DASH also exceeded its minimum standards for boardings per revenue mile in FY 2023 with 1.8 on weekdays and Saturdays and 1.4 on Sundays. A comprehensive summary of ridership efficiency by route and route category is provided in Table 2-11 and Table 2-12.

In FY 2023, the DASH bus system drew approximately 15.7 boardings per revenue hour. This was an increase of over 47% from the 10.7 boardings per revenue hours that were recorded in FY 2022. For weekdays, DASH drew 15.9 boardings per revenue hour, which exceeds the systemwide standard of 12 boardings per revenue hour. On weekends, DASH drew 16.5 and 13.5 boardings per revenue hour on Saturdays and Sundays, respectively, which also exceed the minimum standards of 10.0. DASH also exceeded its minimum standards for boardings per revenue mile in FY 2023 with 1.8 on weekdays and Saturdays and 1.4 on Sundays. A comprehensive summary of ridership efficiency by route and route category is provided in Table 2-11 and Table 2-12.

In terms of cost per rider, DASH was \$7.51 per rider in FY 2023, which was 25 percent less expensive than the \$9.99 per rider in FY 2022. The \$7.51 per rider in FY 2023 is better than the minimum standard of \$8.00 per rider. A comprehensive summary of cost efficiency by route and route category is provided in Table 2-13 and Table 2-14.

As shown in Table 2-11, Lines 30, 33, 35 and the King Street Trolley all recorded more than 15 boardings per revenue hour and represent some of the more productive DASH services. Routes operating below their respective ridership productivity include Lines 34, 36A/B, 102 and 104 on weekdays. On Saturdays, Lines 31, 32, 34 and 36A/B are below standards. For Sundays, Lines 31, 32, 34 and 36A/B are operating below expected levels of productivity.

Routes	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	102	103	104	Trolley
WEEKDAY											
Passenger Boardings	660,241	590,024	108,600	148,153	41,259	1,225,397	449,647	59,191	70,955	45,013	220,686
Revenue Miles	335,225	338,344	109,896	64,110	74,117	599,825	313,122	69,718	67,330	59 <i>,</i> 499	35,546
Revenue Hours	36,053	41,724	10,658	8,283	9,343	63,366	32,243	6,832	5,125	4,622	9,122
Boardings Per Revenue Mile	2.0	1.7	1.0	2.3	0.6	2.0	1.4	0.8	1.1	0.8	6.2
BPRM Standard	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.5	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	5.0
Boardings Per Revenue Hour	18.3	14.1	10.2	17.9	4.4	19.3	13.9	8.7	13.8	9.7	24.2
BPRH Standard	10.0	15.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	15.0	15.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	20.0
SATURDAY											
Passenger Boardings	86,759	64,425	11,662	23,275	5,097	174,342	58,654	0	0	0	76,517
Revenue Miles	38,146	50,666	13,764	12,838	13,563	85,387	62,380	0	0	0	7,817
Revenue Hours	3,929	5,081	1,360	1,716	1,668	8,440	6,281	0	0	0	1,955
Boardings Per Revenue Mile	2.3	1.3	0.8	1.8	0.4	2.0	0.9	-	-	-	9.8
BPRM Standard	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.5	1.5	-	-	-	5.0
Boardings Per Revenue Hour	22.1	12.7	8.6	13.6	3.1	20.7	9.3	-	-	-	39.1
BPRH Standard	8.0	10.0	8.0	8.0	8.0	10.0	10.0	-	-	-	20.0
SUNDAY											
Passenger Boardings	74,387	50,953	9,124	13,917	3,647	158,427	51,999	0	0	0	58,509
Revenue Miles	41,882	52,210	15,013	7,749	7,938	93,189	68,063	0	0	0	8,492
Revenue Hours	4,355	5,120	1,500	1,029	949	9,211	6,839	0	0	0	2,136
Boardings Per Revenue Mile	1.8	1.0	0.6	1.8	0.5	1.7	0.8	-	-	-	6.9
BPRM Standard	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.5	1.5	-	-	-	5.0
Boardings Per Revenue Hour	17.1	10.0	6.1	13.5	3.8	17.2	7.6	-	-	-	27.4
BPRH Standard	6.0	8.0	6.0	6.0	6.0	8.0	8.0	-	-	-	20.0

Table 2-11 / Annual Ridership Productivity by Route (FY 2023)

Note: Highlighted cells represent routes and days that are below performance standards.

Route Categories	Frequent	Local	Commuter	Trolley	Total
WEEKDAY					
Passenger Boardings	2,265,068	958,253	175,159	220,686	3,619,166
Revenue Miles	1,251,291	583,349	196,547	35,546	2,066,733
Revenue Hours	137,333	64,336	16,579	9,122	227,370
Boardings Per Revenue Mile	1.8	1.6	0.9	6.2	1.8
BPRM Standard	1.5	1.0	1.0	5.0	1.5
Boardings Per Revenue Hour	16.5	14.9	10.6	24.2	15.9
BPRH Standard	15.0	10.0	10.0	20.0	12.0
SATURDAY					
Passenger Boardings	297,421	126,793	0	76,517	500,731
Revenue Miles	198,433	78,311	0	7,817	284,561
Revenue Hours	19,802	8,672	0	1,955	30,429
Boardings Per Revenue Mile	1.5	1.6	-	9.8	1.8
BPRM Standard	1.5	1.0	-	5.0	1.0
Boardings Per Revenue Hour	15.0	14.6	-	39.1	16.5
BPRH Standard	10.0	8.0	-	20.0	10.0
SUNDAY					
Passenger Boardings	261,379	101,075	0	58,509	420,963
Revenue Miles	213,463	72,581	0	8,492	294,536
Revenue Hours	21,170	7,833	0	2,136	31,139
Boardings Per Revenue Mile	1.2	1.4	-	6.9	1.4
BPRM Standard	1.5	1.0	-	5.0	1.0
Boardings Per Revenue Hour	12.3	12.9	-	27.4	13.5
BPRH Standard	8.0	6.0	-	20.0	10.0
TOTALS					
Passenger Boardings	2,823,868	1,186,121	175,159	355,712	4,540,860
Revenue Miles	1,663,186	734,241	196,547	51,856	2,645,830
Revenue Hours	178,305	80,842	16,579	13,213	288,938
Boardings Per Revenue Mile	1.7	1.6	0.9	6.9	1.7
Boardings Per Revenue Hour	15.8	14.7	10.6	26.9	15.7

Table 2-12 / Annual Ridership Performance by Route Category (FY 2023)

Note: Highlighted cells represent routes and days that are below performance standards.

Routes	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	102	103	104	Trolley
WEEKDAY											
Passenger Boardings	660,241	590,024	108,600	148,153	41,259	1,225,397	449,647	59,191	70,955	45,013	220,686
Revenue Miles	335,225	338,344	109,896	64,110	74,117	599,825	313,122	69,718	67,330	59,499	35,546
Operating Cost	\$ 4,254,227	\$ 4,923,379	\$ 1,257,593	\$ 977,435	\$ 1,102,432	\$ 7,477,169	\$ 3,804,694	\$ 806,183	\$ 604,758	\$ 545,349	\$ 1,076,443
Cost Per Mile	\$ 12.69	\$ 14.55	\$ 11.44	\$ 15.25	\$ 14.87	\$ 12.47	\$ 12.15	\$ 11.56	\$ 8.98	\$ 9.17	\$ 30.28
Cost Per Rider	\$ 6.44	\$ 8.34	\$ 11.58	\$ 6.60	\$ 26.72	\$ 6.10	\$ 8.46	\$ 13.62	\$ 8.52	\$ 12.12	\$ 4.88
SATURDAY											
Passenger Boardings	86,759	64,425	11,662	23,275	5,097	174,342	58,654	0	0	0	76,517
Revenue Miles	38,146	50,666	13,764	12,838	13,563	85,387	62,380	0	0	0	7,817
Operating Cost	\$ 463,582	\$ 599,519	\$ 160,530	\$ 202,429	\$ 196,766	\$ 995,965	\$ 741,162	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 230,666
Cost Per Mile	\$ 12.15	\$ 11.83	\$ 11.66	\$ 15.77	\$ 14.51	\$ 11.66	\$ 11.88	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 29.51
Cost Per Rider	\$ 5.34	\$ 9.31	\$ 13.77	\$ 8.70	\$ 38.60	\$ 5.71	\$ 12.64	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 3.01
SUNDAY											
Passenger Boardings	74,387	50,953	9,124	13,917	3,647	158,427	51,999	0	0	0	58,509
Revenue Miles	41,882	52,210	15,013	7,749	7,938	93,189	68,063	0	0	0	8,492
Operating Cost	\$ 513,937	\$ 604,101	\$ 177,006	\$ 121,441	\$ 111,958	\$ 1,086,938	\$ 807,008	\$-	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 252,024
Cost Per Mile	\$ 12.27	\$ 11.57	\$ 11.79	\$ 15.67	\$ 14.10	\$ 11.66	\$ 11.86	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 29.68
Cost Per Rider	\$ 6.91	\$ 11.86	\$ 19.40	\$ 8.73	\$ 30.70	\$ 6.86	\$ 15.52	\$	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 4.31

Table 2-13 / Annual Cost Efficiency by Route (FY 2023)

Route Categories	Frequent			Local	Cor	nmuter		Trolley		Total
WEEKDAY										
Passenger Boardings 2,265,068		9	958,253		175,159		220,686		619,166	
Revenue Miles	1,251	,291	5	83,349	19	96,547		35,546	2,066,733	
Operating Cost	\$ 16,2	05,242	\$7	7,591,687	\$1	,956,290	\$ 1,076,443		\$ 26,829,662	
Cost Per Mile	\$	12.95	\$	13.01	\$	9.95	\$	30.28	\$	12.98
Cost Per Rider	\$	7.15	\$	7.92	\$	11.17	\$	4.88	\$	7.41
SATURDAY										
Passenger Boardings	297,	421	1	26,793		0		76,517	500,731	
Revenue Miles	198,	433	7	78,311	0		7,817		284,561	
Operating Cost	\$ 2,3	36,645	\$ 1	,023,307	\$	-	\$	230,666	\$	3,590,618
Cost Per Mile	\$	11.78	\$	13.07	\$	-	\$	29.51	\$	12.62
Cost Per Rider	\$	7.86	\$	8.07	\$	-	\$	3.01	\$	7.17
SUNDAY										
Passenger Boardings	261,	379	1	01,075		0		58,509		420,963
Revenue Miles	213,	463		72,581		0	8,492		294,536	
Operating Cost	\$ 2,4	98,047	\$	924,342	\$	-	\$	252,024	\$	3,674,414
Cost Per Mile	\$	11.70	\$	12.74	\$	-	\$	29.68	\$	12.48
Cost Per Rider	\$	9.56	\$	9.15	\$	-	\$	4.31	\$	8.73
TOTALS										
Passenger Boardings	2,823	,868	1,	186,121	17	75,159	(1)	55,712	4	,540,860
Revenue Miles	1,663	,186	7	34,241	19	96,547		51,856	2	,645,830
Operating Cost	\$ 21,0	39,935	\$ 9	9,539,336	\$ 1	,956,290	\$ 1,559,134		\$	34,094,695
Cost Per Mile	\$	12.65	\$	12.99	\$	9.95	\$	30.07	\$	12.89
Cost Per Rider	\$	7.45	\$	8.04	\$	11.17	\$	4.38	\$	7.51

Table 2-14 / Annual Cost Efficiency by Route Category (FY 2023)

Safety

0 Jul-22

Aug-22

Sep-22

Oct-22

Nov-22

Dec-22

Jan-23

Feb-23

Mar-23

Apr-23

May-23

Jun-23

Safety is the top priority in public transit and DASH prides itself on an exceptional safety record. In FY 2023, DASH recorded 2.8 preventable events for 100,000 miles travelled, which was below the systemwide performance standard of 5 preventable events for 100,000 platform miles. It did represent an increase from the 1.8 preventable events per 100,000 miles that were recorded in FY 2022. Figure 2-30 shows data on preventable events for each month in FY 2023.

Additional safety and security data for DASH and the City of Alexandria is available through monthly and annual reporting to the National Transit Database (<u>https://www.transit.dot.gov/ntd</u>).



Figure 2-30 / DASH Preventable Events Per 100,000 Miles by Month (FY 2023)

System Accessibility

System accessibility is a key metric for ensuring that DASH services – especially frequent, all-day routes - are being distributed to places where more people can use it. Table 2-15 summarizes the residents and jobs who are located within ¼ mile of various levels of DASH service.

Demographic Category	% within 1/4 mile of FREQUENT, ALL DAY bus service	% within 1/4 mile of ANY bus service
All Residents	73%	95%
Low Income	81%	96%
Minority	78%	96%
Seniors (65 years+)	69%	94%
Jobs	73%	95%

Table 2-15 / DASH Accessibility for Residents and Jobs

Source: DASH 2023 service-level data; 2020 U.S. Census.

Bus Fleet

DASH vehicle fleet policies and the latest Fleet Replacement Plan are provided in Chapter 4.

Performance Evaluation for DOT Paratransit

Alexandria's DOT paratransit service served 33,635 trips in FY 2023, which represents an increase over the 27,350 trips served in FY 2022. Note that the 33,635 trips served in FY 2023 in the graph differs from NTD reported data that shows 39,245 total trips in FY 2023, as the NTD data also includes 'no show' trips. As shown in Figure 2-31, ridership has grown steadily year over year during the recent three-year period.





Another indicator of DOT's performance, cost per trip, shows a general increasing trend over the last three fiscal years as well in Figure 2-31. Overall, per trip costs increased from under \$40/trip to over \$50/trip during the three-year period. This increasing trend can help be explained by the fact that a previous taxicab company partner left the DOT program during this time.



Figure 2-32 / Alexandria DOT Paratransit Cost Per Trip by Month (Last Three Fiscal Years)

2.3.2 Performance-Based Opportunities for Improvement

Based on the performance evaluations outlined in the previous subsections, the DASH bus network is performing extremely well in terms of overall ridership, cost efficiency. Safety and accessibility. All current DASH system-wide standards in these categories are being met or exceeded. At the route-level, there are several DASH routes that are not currently meeting the minimum standard for boardings per revenue hour:

- Line 31 (NVCC Alexandria Braddock Road Metro). This route is currently falling slightly below minimum ridership productivity standards for boardings per mile on weekends. Additional weekend service improvements are included in Chapter 3 that could improve ridership productivity on this route.
- Line 32 (Landmark Transit Center King Street Metro). This route is not currently falling slightly below minimum ridership productivity standards on weekends. Additional weekend improvements are included in Chapter 3 that would bring the service headways up to the standard and improve ridership productivity on this route.
- Line 34 (Potomac Yard Lee Center). This route is currently falling below ridership productivity standards for weekdays, Saturdays and Sundays. Several recent route alignment changes and the new connection to the Potomac Yard-VT Metrorail station are expected to increase ridership over the next few years, and DASH is seeking to increase Sunday service on this route to run every 30 minutes.
- Line 36 (Mark Center Potomac Yard). This route is current falling below ridership standards during weekdays, Saturdays and Sundays, but the opening of the Potomac Yard-VT Metrorail

Station and continued development at Potomac Yard are expected to result in significant ridership increases for this route.

- Line 102 (Mark Center King Street Metro). This route is currently not meeting ridership standards during weekday peak periods.
- Line 104 (Braddock Road Metro Pentagon Metro). This route is currently not meeting ridership standards during weekday peak periods. Additional weekday service improvements are included in Chapter 3 that could improve ridership productivity on this route.

2.4 Operating and Network Efficiency Evaluation

This section evaluates the operating efficiency of the DASH network using available data. Operating and network efficiency were primarily evaluated based on the standards for headways, passenger loads, on-time performance and missed trips that were identified in Chapter 1.

Frequency & Span

Service frequency is the most important factor in service usefulness with routes that operate every 15 minutes or better providing the highest level of convenience and generally higher ridership levels (see Table 2-16. DASH service frequencies, or headways, vary by the type of route, with DASH carrying frequent, local, commuter, and trolley service, as outlined in Chapters 1 & 2.

Operating hours, or span, is another important service characteristic that determines the usefulness of transit service. DASH has not identified specific design standards for spans.

		V	Veekday		Saturday	y	Sunday		
Route Category	Route	Span	Headways (Peak)	Headways (Off-Peak)	Span	Headways	Span	Headways	
Frequent	31	5:00am - 12:30am	10	15	6:00am - 12:00am	15/30	6:00am - 12:00am	15/30	
Frequent	35	4:00am - 1:00am	10	10	6:00am - 12:30am	15	6:00a - 11:30p	15	
Frequent	36A/B	6:00a - 11:00p	15	15	7:00a - 10:30p	15	7:00a - 10:30p	15	
Headway Star	ndard	-	15	15	-	15	-	15	
Local	30	5:00am - 12:00am	10/20	30	6:00am - 11:30pm	30	6:00a - 11:30p	30	
Local	32	5:00am - 10:00pm	30	60	7:00am - 10:00pm	60	7:00am - 10:00pm	60	
Local	33	6:00am - 10:00pm	30	30	7:00am - 10:00pm	30	7:00am - 10:00pm	30	
Local	34	5:00am - 10:00pm	30	30	6:30am - 10:00pm	30	7:00a - 10:00p	60	
Headway Star	ndard	-	30	30	-	30	-	30	
Commuter	102	5:00a-8:00p	30	60	_				
Commuter	102	6:00a - 8:00p	30	-	_	-	_	-	
Commuter	104	6:15a - 8:15p	30	-	-	-	-	-	
Headway Star	ndard	-	30	-	-	-	-	-	
Trolley	KST	11:00am - 11:00pm	15	15	11:00am - 11:00pm	15	11:00am - 11:00pm	15	
Headway Star	ndard	-	15	15	-	15	-	15	

Table 2-16 / Frequency Evaluation

Note: Highlighted cells represent routes and days that are below performance standards.

Passenger Loads

Passenger load data can be used to further determine if existing service levels are commensurate with ridership demand or if additional trips are needed. Passenger load data also helps to inform short-term decisions made by the Dispatch controllers for vehicle deployment based on passenger capacities as well as long-term decision on future vehicle procurements.

The DASH ITS Team is still working validate the automated passenger counter (APC) equipment that tracks ridership and passenger load data on each bus, but has not yet received NTD certification. Accordingly, this data is not currently available but will be included with the FY 2026 update.

Reliability

Reliability is one of the most important metrics by which riders measure a transit service. If the service is not reliable, then riders may feel compelled to turn to other modes, like driving or ride-hailing. It is important to note that service reliability is invariably tied to service frequency since the consequences of a missed trip are far less significant if the next bus is only 10 or 15 minutes away instead of 60 minutes away. DASH typically uses on-time performance and missed trips as metrics by which its service reliability may be evaluated.

The most common indicator for service reliability is on-time performance (OTP), which measures the percentage of times that buses are arriving at timepoints no more than one minute early and no more than five minutes late. The DASH standard for on-time performance is 85 percent, based on previous data and industry standards.

In FY 2023, approximately 84 percent of all DASH weekday trips arrived on time, which was down by two percent from FY 2022. On weekends, DASH trips arrived on time 83 percent of the time on Saturdays and 87 percent of the time on Sundays. These values were also down slightly from FY 2022. A summary of on-time performance by route, day and time period is included as Table 2-17. All routes and time periods that fall below the 85 percent standard are highlighted.

Missed trips are another metric by which DASH measures its reliability. Missed trips typically occur due to operator staffing shortages, equipment failures, or traffic congestion. In FY 2023, DASH missed just over 200 trips out of nearly 338,000 total revenue trips that were completed. This represents a missed trip percentage of 0.06 percent, which is an increase from the 0.04 percent in FY 2022 and well above the standard of 0.02 percent. The increase is due in large part to operator staffing shortages, which have been addressed in the last six months, and vehicle reliability.
Douto	Weekday			Cotundou	Currelau	
Route	AM Peak	Midday	PM Peak	Saturday	Sunday	
30	91.6%	73.0%	73.7%	75.4%	85.8%	
31	87.4%	83.3%	80.7%	75.3%	80.9%	
32	94.6%	93.5%	90.8%	93.5%	95.3%	
33	89.1%	89.3%	81.5%	89.3%	90.6%	
34	91.7%	91.2%	89.3%	86.4%	90.8%	
35	86.0%	87.4%	84.2%	85.1%	90.7%	
36A/B	82.0%	86.6%	70.6%	84.6%	87.9%	
102	89.6%	89.2%	85.4%	-	-	
103	82.5%	86.5%	88.0%	-	-	
104	78.3%	87.8%	87.6%	-	-	
Trolley	_	<u>84.7%</u>	<u>83.5%</u>	<u>84.8%</u>	<u>86.5%</u>	
System	87.5%	85.8%	81.5%	83.0%	87.4%	

Table 2-17 / DASH On-Time Performance by Route, Day and Time Period

Note: Highlighted cells represent routes and days that are below performance standards.

Speed

Fixed-route speed data for DASH routes is not currently available. DASH is working with several vendors to deploy a business analytics platform that will collect and analyze speed and reliability data.

2.4.2 Efficiency Based Opportunities for Improvement

The results of the efficiency analysis indicate that there are several potential opportunities to improve the DASH network.

In terms of headways, additional off-peak and weekend improvements are needed on Lines 32 and 34 to meet the minimum headways standard of 30 minutes for local routes. Line 32 only operates every 60 minutes during middays, evenings and weekends. Line 34 runs every 30 minutes on weekdays and Saturdays but only runs hourly on Sundays. Both of these improvements are included as top priorities for service improvements in FY 2025.

For service reliability, there are several routes that are operating below the 85 percent standard for ontime performance. Based on this metric, Lines 30 and 31 is the least reliable routes, especially during weekday afternoons and weekends. This is likely due to traffic congestion in Old Town and on Duke Street near Telegraph Road. Line 36A/B is also particularly low during the afternoon peak period.

Lastly, the missed trip percentage in FY 2023 did not meet the agency standard of 0.02 percent. DASH Planning, Operations and Maintenance staff have identified this as an area of concern and is working to identify causes to address in FY 2025. Staff has identified a recent operator staffing shortage as a contributing factor, however, DASH has since returned to near full operator staffing levels.

2.5 Analysis of Opportunities to Collaborate with Other Transit Providers

2.5.1 Collaboration Analysis

The DASH bus network in Alexandria is designed to supplement the regional transit network for local travel within the city as well as to provide connections to regional transit hubs and other transit providers.

Regional operators that provide service to/from Alexandria include:

Metrorail (WMATA)

Metrorail operates heavy rail service to 91 stations throughout the Washington, DC region, and typically carries over 180 million passengers per year. The City of Alexandria is served by the blue and yellow lines at four different Metrorail Stations – Braddock Road, King Street, Eisenhower Avenue, and Van Dorn. These four stations typically draw about 40 million passenger boardings per year. DASH also provides service to the Pentagon Metro Station in Arlington County. The newest Potomac Yard Metrorail Station – an in-fill station in northern Alexandria on Potomac Avenue – opened in 2023.

Metrobus (WMATA)

In addition to Metrorail, WMATA also operates a regional bus network that typically carries over 130 million passengers per year. Metrobus runs 18 routes that provide service within the City of Alexandria. This includes the "Metroway" rapid bus service between Pentagon City and Braddock Road Metro, and the Richmond Highway Express (REX), which provides frequent, limited-stop service from Mount Vernon to Old Town via Route 1. Annual Metrobus ridership in Alexandria is typically around 17 million boardings per year.

Amtrak / Virginia Railway Express (VRE)

Intercity and commuter rail services such as Amtrak and VRE stop at Alexandria Union Station, before crossing the Potomac River into Washington, DC. VRE typically carries up to 5 million passengers per year.

Fairfax Connector

Fairfax County operates a regional bus system of 93 lines that provides service across the Northern Virginia Region. Fairfax Connector connects residents in Fairfax County with the City of Alexandria at the Van Dorn Metrorail Station and Mark Center Transit Center.

Private Shuttles

Several dozen private shuttles operate within the City of Alexandria to provide connections to Metrorail Stations. Examples include the Carlyle/PTO Shuttle, and the Van Dorn Exchange shuttle, which connects the Van Dorn Exchange apartment complex with the Van Dorn Metro.

Accessible Services

Accessible paratransit options are provided through the City of Alexandria's DOT program and the WMATA MetroAccess service.

2.5.2 Collaboration Based Opportunities for Improvement

Due to the overlapping nature of regional transit services in Alexandria, close coordination will need to continue. Some of the specific topics that merit discussion will include:

- Determining how service within Alexandria will be divided between WMATA and DASH.
- Allocation of bus bays and other infrastructure at transfer centers.
- Potential for DASH-operated service outside of Alexandria borders.
- Other planned changes to WMATA or Arlington routes that may affect service in Alexandria.
- Coordination with the recently completed Better Bus Network which provides a strategy and recommendations to create a better bus system throughout the region.

Chapter 3

Planned Improvements & Modifications



Chapter 3.0 / Planned Improvements and Modifications

The following section provides recommendations for future DASH service changes and fare adjustments over the next 10 years. These recommendations are based on the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan, staff analyses, and guidance from the General Manager and ATC Board of Directors. The performance evaluations from Chapter 2 have also informed many of these recommendations.

Section 3.1 provides a list of all of the service improvements that have been identified for the next decade, while Section 3.2 outlines the prioritization and timelines by which they might be implemented. It should be noted that specific operating funding sources for the improvements outlined below have not yet been identified, so they are all classified as "unfunded" at this time. DASH will be working with the City's Office of Management & Budget and City Council to advocate for the service improvements outlined below to be included in the city's annual budget each year.

3.1 / Planned Service Improvements (FY 2025 - FY 2034)

A summary of the proposed service improvements by route is included below in Table 3-1. Each of these "unfunded" improvements are summarized in greater detail in the pages that follow.

A route-by-route summary of the proposed service improvements and modifications are provided below. Cost information provided below is shown in FY 2025 dollars, but none of the improvements listed below have a secured funding source.

Line	Proposed Service Change	Relevant Policy, Goal or Standard
30	Increase off-peak and weekend headways from 30 minutes to 15 minutes for the entire route (Van Dorn Metro to Braddock Road Metro via Duke Street and Old Town) to meet headway standard for "Frequent" routes; Increase weekday peak headways from 30 minutes to 10 minutes for western route segment (Landmark Transit Center - Van Dorn Metro).	ATV, Headway Standard
31	Increase off-peak and weekend headways on the Old Town segment (King St. Metro - Braddock Rd. Metro) from 30 minutes to 15 minutes; Extend route to Baileys Crossroads for better connections to Columbia Pike corridor.	ATV, Ridership Standard, Headway Standard, Underserved Area
32	Increase off-peak and weekend headways from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes for the entire route (Landmark Transit Center - King St. Metro via Eisenhower Ave.); subsequently improve weekday and weekend headways from 30 minutes to 15 minutes between Van Dorn Metro and King Street Metro to meet headway standard for "Frequent" routes and realign to John Carlyle Street.	ATV, Ridership Standard, Headway Standard, Underserved Area
33	No additional improvements planned.	-
34	Increase Sunday headways from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes for the entire route (Potomac Yard - Lee Center via Old Town)	ATV, Ridership Standard, Headway Standard, Underserved Area
35	No additional improvements planned; Route and/or service levels likely to be modified as part of West End Transitway Operating Plan development.	-
36A	No additional improvements planned; Route and/or service levels likely to be modified as part of West End Transitway Operating Plan development.	-
36B	No additional improvements planned; Route and/or service levels likely to be modified as part of West End Transitway Operating Plan development.	-
102	Increase weekday midday headways from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes.	ATV
103	Increase weekday peak headways from every 30 minutes to every 20 minutes for the entire route (Braddock Road Metro - Pentagon Metro via Parkfairfax).	ATV
104	Increase weekday peak headways from every 30 minutes to every 20 minutes for the entire route (Braddock Road Metro - Pentagon Metro via Parkfairfax).	ATV, Ridership Standard
King Street Trolley	Extend routing from King Street Metro to Eisenhower Metro and move service starting time up from 11:00 AM to 6:00 AM on weekdays and weekends.	ATV, Underserved Area

Table 3-1 / DASH Service Modifications by Route (FY 2025 – FY 2034)

Line 30 / Van Dorn Metro – Braddock Road Metro via Eisenhower Avenue

DASH is proposing two improvements for Line 30: (1) to increase headways during weekday middays, evenings and weekends from every 30 minutes to every 15 minutes; and (2) to increase weekday peak headways between Landmark Transit Center and Van Dorn Metro from every 20 minutes to every 10 minutes.

Net Annual Plat. Hours	Net Annual Cost	Net Annual Ridership	Net Peak Vehicles
+18,000	+\$2,520,000	+239,000	+2

Plans, Opportunities, Needs or Standards Addressed by Above Change:	
ATV Plan, Access to Frequent Service, Headway Standard	

Line 30 is an east-west route that provides an important connection from West Alexandria to Old Town Alexandria via the Duke Street corridor. It is classified as a local route with 30-minute headways during off-peaks and weekends. It operates between Van Dorn Metro and Braddock Road Metro via South Van Dorn Street, Landmark Transit Center, Duke Street, King Street Metro and Old Town.

DASH is proposing to improve service frequency on Line 30 during off-peaks and weekends from every 30 minutes to every 15 minutes. This improvement would bring Line 30 headways up to the 15-minute standard of a "frequent" route classification and would serve to further build up ridership demand in the future Duke Street Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor. Additional peak service increases between Landmark and Van Dorn Metro would improve connectivity to the new West End development.



Figure 3-1 / Proposed Line 30 Improvements (UNFUNDED)

Line 31 / NVCC Alexandria – Braddock Road Metro via King Street

DASH is proposing two improvements to Line 31: (1) to increase headways between King Street Metro and Braddock Road Metro during weekday middays, evenings and weekends from every 30 minutes to every 15 minutes; and (2) to extend the route from NVCC-Alexandria to Skyline Towers.

Net Annual Plat. Hours	Net Annual Cost	Net Annual Ridership	Net Peak Vehicles
+28,000	+\$3,920,000	+205,000	+3

Plans, Opportunities, Needs or Standards Addressed by Above Change:
ATV Plan, Ridership Standard, Headway Standard, Underserved Area

Line 31 runs east-west from NVCC-Alexandria to Braddock Road Metro via King Street and Old Town, as shown in Figure 3-2. This route is another critical east-west connection between West Alexandria, Central Alexandria and Old Town.

DASH proposes to improve extend all off-peak Line 31 trips from King Street Metro to Braddock Road Metro via City Hall to enhance the Old Town Circulator (OTC) service and provide better connectivity and more one-seat rides from West Alexandria into Old Town. Currently, Line 30 runs every 15 minutes during middays and weekends from NVCC to King Street Metro, but only every 30 minutes from the King Street Metro to Braddock Road Metro in Old Town. The proposed improvements would extend all off-peak Line 31 trips to Braddock Road Metro to provide trips every 10-15 minutes along the entire route for all trips, seven days per week.

In addition to the service improvements outlined above, DASH is also proposing to extend Line 31 from its current terminus at NVCC – Alexandria to Baileys Crossroads via Seminary Road, as recommended in the 2030 ATV Plan. This extension would provide better connectivity between Old Town Alexandria and Columbia Pike via Metrobus 16-series routes. This was a connection that was identified as underserved in Chapter 2.





Line 32 / Landmark Transit Center – King Street Metro via Eisenhower Avenue

DASH is proposing two improvements to Line 32: (1) to increase headways during weekday middays, evenings and weekends from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes; and (2) to subsequently increase weekday and weekend headways from 30 minutes to every 15 minutes and shift the route alignment from Mill Road to John Carlyle Street.

Net Annual Plat. Hours	Net Annual Cost	Net Annual Ridership	Net Peak Vehicles
+13,000	+\$1,820,000	+89,000	+2

Plans, Opportunities, Needs or Standards Addressed by Above Change:	
ATV Plan, Ridership Standard, Headway Standard, Underserved Area	

Line 32 runs east-west from Landmark Mall to King Street Metro via Eisenhower Avenue, as shown in Figure 3-3. The current service runs every 30 minutes during weekday peaks, but only once per hour during weekday middays, evenings, and weekends.

DASH proposes to add more trips on Line 32 so that it runs every 30 minutes, all-day, seven days per week. These improvements will provide more useful, consistent DASH service for communities along North Ripley Street, Holmes Run Parkway, South Pickett Street, and many of the new developments in the Eisenhower Valley and near the Eisenhower Metrorail Station. The improvement to off-peak and weekend service described above would also bring Line 32 up to the minimum 30-minute headway standard for local routes, which is currently does not meet.

In addition to the off-peak service enhancements outlined above, DASH is also proposing to improve weekday peak frequency on Line 32 from every 30 minutes to every 15 minutes between Van Dorn Metro and King Street Metro. This improvement will help to add more service to Eisenhower Avenue near Old Town, which has seen extensive development over the last decade to become a major epicenter for jobs and residents. By increasing Line 32 weekday peak service to 15 minutes, the City would be investing in the continued growth and development of this corridor, as envisioned by the 2030 ATV Plan.





Line 33 / Potomac Yard-VT Metro – King Street Metro via Mount Vernon Avenue

No additional improvements are planned for Line 33 at this time. Line 33 was the subject of service improvements in October 2023 in which Sunday service headways were improved from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes.

Line 34 / Potomac Yard-VT Metro – Lee Center via City Hall

DASH is proposing to increase Line 34 headways on Sundays from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes and to realign the route from Bashford Avenue through a new redevelopment in Old Town North.

Net Annual Plat. Hours	Net Annual Cost	Net Annual Ridership	Net Peak Vehicles
+2,000	+\$280,000	+12,000	+0

Plans, Opportunities, Needs or Standards Addressed by Above Change:		
ATV Plan, Ridership Standard, Headway Standard, Underserved Area		

Line 34 is a local DASH route that runs north-south between Old Town Alexandria and Potomac Yard, connecting Lee Center, City Hall/Markey Square, Old Town North and the Potomac Yard-VT Metro Station. It operates every 30 minutes on weekdays and Saturdays and every 60 minutes on Sundays. The route was recently realigned from North Fairfax Street to North Pitt Street and from the Braddock Road Metro to the new Potomac Yard-VT Metro station via the dedicated bus lanes on Richmond Highway.

DASH is proposing to improve Sunday service frequency from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes to provide more useful service between Old Town and the new Potomac Yard-VT Metro station. The current Sunday service runs once per hour, which falls short of the weekday headway standards for a local DASH route and is insufficient for a bus route that connects to a new Metrorail station. This north-south connection in Old Town and Potomac Yard has also been identified as an underserved area, and Line 34 falls short of the ridership standard for local routes on both weekdays and weekends.



Figure 3-4 / Proposed Line 34 Improvements (UNFUNDED)

Line 35 / Van Dorn Metro – Pentagon via Beauregard Street.

No specific improvements have been identified for Line 35 at this time; however, Line 35 will likely be modified in concert with the implementation of the West End Transitway. Specific changes to route alignments and service levels will be identified through the ongoing development of the West End Transitway Operating Plan.

Line 36AB / Mark Center – Potomac Yard-VT Metro via Shirlington

No specific improvements have been identified for Line 36A/B at this time; however, Line 36A/B may be modified in concert with the implementation of the West End Transitway. Specific changes to route alignments and service levels will be identified through the ongoing development of the West End Transitway Operating Plan.

Line 102 / Mark Center – King Street Metro via Seminary Road

DASH is proposing to increase Line 102 headways on weekday middays from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes.

Net Annual Plat. Hours	Net Annual Cost	Net Annual Ridership	Net Peak Vehicles
+2,000	+\$280,000	+12,000	+0

Plans, Opportunities, Needs or Standards Addressed by Above Change:	
ATV Plan	

Line 102 is an east-west route that provides service along Seminary Road and Janneys Lane in Central Alexandria. It runs every 30 minutes during weekday peaks and every 60 minutes during middays from the Mark Center to the King Street Metro. Line 102 is the only "commuter" route that runs during weekday middays.

DASH is proposing to increase weekday midday headways to run once every 30 minutes instead of once per hour. This change would provide a benefit to customers traveling between King Street Metro and Mark Center, including patrons of the Alexandria Hospital and Virginia Theological Seminary. This service level increase was identified by the 2022 ATV Plan but was not implemented due to fiscal constraints.



Figure 3-5 / Proposed Line 102 Improvements

Line 103 / Braddock Road Metro – Pentagon via Parkfairfax

DASH is proposing to increase Line 103 headways during weekday peak hours from every 30 minutes to every 20 minutes.

Net Annual Plat. Hours	Net Annual Cost	Net Annual Ridership	Net Peak Vehicles
+4,000	+\$560,000	+34,000	+2

Plans, Opportunities, Needs or Standards Addressed by Above Change:	
ATV Plan	

As a commuter route, Line 103 provides weekday peak service between the Braddock Road Metro and the Pentagon via Parkfairfax. The route runs once every 30 minutes during the weekday morning and afternoon peak hours but does not operate during middays, evenings or weekends. The route primarily serves residents who live in Parkfairfax, Arlandria and along Russell Road who are commuting to the Pentagon.

DASH is proposing to improve weekday peak headways on Line 103 from every 30 minutes to every 20 minutes, which would restore pre-COVID service levels on this route. This improvement was identified in the 2022 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan but was not implemented due to fiscal constraints and the slow post-pandemic recovery of weekday peak ridership levels due to increased teleworking.

Figure 3-6 / Proposed Line 103 Improvements



Line 104 / Braddock Road Metro – Pentagon via Parkfairfax

DASH is proposing improve weekday peak headways to every 20 minutes, which would restore pre-COVID service levels on this route. This improvement was identified in the 2022 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan but was not implemented due to fiscal constraints and the slow post-pandemic recovery of weekday peak ridership levels due to increased teleworking.

Net Annual Plat. Hours	Net Annual Cost	Net Annual Ridership	Net Peak Vehicles
+4,000	+\$560,000	+24,000	+2

Plans, Opportunities, Needs or Standards Addressed by Above Change:	
Cost Efficiency, ATV Plan	

Line 104 provides weekday peak service between the Braddock Road Metro and the Pentagon via Parkfairfax. The route runs once every 30 minutes during the weekday morning and afternoon peak hours but does not operate during middays, evenings or weekends. The route primarily serves residents who live in Parkfairfax, and on Cameron Mills Road who are commuting to the Pentagon.

As part of the City Manager's proposed budget for FY 2025, DASH Line 104 was identified for a potential reduction from every 30 minutes to every 60 minutes on weekdays. This proposed reduction was ultimately not included in the final city budget that was adopted by City Council.



Figure 3-7 / Proposed Line 104 Improvements

King Street Trolley / King Street Metro – Market Square/City Hall via King Street

DASH is proposing to extend King Street Trolley routing from King Street Metro to Eisenhower Metro via Mill Road, and to move service start time up from 11:00 AM to 6:00 AM on weekdays and weekends.

Net Annual Plat. Hours	Net Annual Cost	Net Annual Ridership	Net Peak Vehicles
+14,000	+\$1,960,000	+170,000	+3

Plans, Opportunities, Needs or Standards Addressed by Above Change:	
ATV Plan, Underserved Area	

The iconic King Street Trolley runs back-and-forth between the King Street Metro and City Hall/Market Square from 11:00 AM to 11:00 PM seven days a week, 365 days per year. The service runs every 15 minutes along King Street in Old Town providing access to restaurants, shopping and tourist attractions to residents, workers and visitors.

As part of the ATV Plan, DASH and the City of Alexandria are planning to extend the Trolley routing from King Street Metro to Eisenhower Avenue Metro. This extension would provide better transit connectivity between Old Town and the Carlyle and Eisenhower East districts. Eisenhower East is the fastest-growing neighborhood in the City of Alexandria with many new high-rise residential, commercial and hotel developments, but it is relatively underserved by fixed-route bus service. As an additional improvement, DASH Is seeking to better integrate the King Street Trolley with the bus network in Old Town by introduce morning operating hours on the King Street Trolley. With this change, Trolley service would begin its daily operations at 6:00 AM instead of 11:00 AM. This improvement was recommended by the ATV Plan.

These trolley changes and any further changes to Trolley service will require additional funding, further coordination with city leadership, and approval by City Council.



Figure 3-8 / Proposed King Street Trolley Improvements

WMATA Metrobus Service Changes

As outlined in Chapter 2, the City of Alexandria is also served by a series of Metrobus routes that provide regional connections to Northern Virginia, Washington DC, and Maryland. WMATA is in the process of developing a final plan for its Better Bus Network project that would restructure its bus network over the next decade.

A map of the draft long-term recommendations for the Better Bus Network is included in Figure 3-9. This map will be revised and updated over the next year based on public outreach and guidance from the WMATA Board of Directors. The final Better Bus Network recommendations will be outlined in more detail in the FY 2026 update to this document.



Figure 3-9 / Draft Map of Better Bus Network Changes

3.2 / Prioritization of Planned Service Improvements

3.2.1 / Near-Term Service Recommendations (FY 2025 – FY 2027)

For its FY 2025 service recommendations, this document outlines two scenarios: (1) a "Baseline" or "Current Services" scenario which includes no increases or reductions to DASH service and is based on the preliminary FY 2025 budget; and (2) an "Unfunded ATV Improvements" scenario which essentially includes all the remaining service improvements that were recommended by the 2022 ATV Plan but have not yet been implemented.

Both scenarios include the existing enhanced service on Lines 35 and 36A/B, which are currently funded via the FY 2024 – FY 2025 NVTC I-95/395 Commuter Choice Program. This program requires that agencies who are receiving funding must reapply every two years through a competitive award process. DASH has been awarded funding to continue operating enhanced service on both routes but will need to re-apply for the FY 2026 – FY 2027 program cycle in late 2024.

FY 2025 "Baseline" Current Services Scenario

The FY 2025 baseline scenario assumes no changes from current FY 2024 service levels but does include a minor increase in service hours and mileages due to ambient traffic growth. Under this scenario, DASH projects to operate approximately 329,000 platform hours and 3.09 million platform miles of service in FY 2025.

These baseline service totals also include the Line 35 and 36A/B service enhancements from the I-395 Commuter Choice program that were implemented with the launch of the New DASH Network.

FY 2025 "Unfunded ATV Improvements" Scenario

DASH launched the New DASH Network and transitioned to fare-free operations in September 2021. This transition represented the first phase of the 2022 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan but did not include all of the service improvements that were identified by the 2022 ATV Plan due to budget constraints.

The "Unfunded" FY 2025 ATV Improvements Scenario includes a series of service increases that were recommended as part of the 2022 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan but have not yet been implemented due to funding constraints. These unfunded improvements represent approximately 14,000 additional annual platform hours and would require an additional \$2,100,000 of annual operating funding that is not included in the preliminary FY 2025 DASH budget.

Under the FY 2025 Unfunded ATV Improvements scenario, DASH would operate approximately 343,000 platform hours and 3.22 million platform miles. These totals represent a 4.2 percent increase from the baseline FY 2025 scenario. These service totals also include the Line 35 and 36A/B service enhancements from the I-395 Commuter Choice program that were discussed in previous sections.

FY 2025 Unfunded ATV Improvements

The following unfunded service improvements are included in the 2022 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan that was adopted by the ATC Board of Directors in 2019 but have not yet been implemented. DASH is proposing to implement the following service improvements in FY 2025 if supplemental funding was identified by City Council and made available to DASH. These improvements are listed in priority order in the event that some additional funding is available but not enough for all the service increases to be implemented.

- 1. Line 32 (Landmark Transit Center King Street Metro via Eisenhower Avenue). DASH is proposing to improve midday, evening, and weekend service to run every 30 minutes instead of every 60 minutes.
- 2. Line 34 (Potomac Yard-VT Metro Lee Center via Old Town). DASH is proposing to improve Sunday headways from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes.
- Line 31 (NVCC Alexandria Braddock Road Metro via King Street). DASH is proposing to extend weekend and off-peak short trips on Line 31 from King Street Metro to Braddock Road Metro so that Line 31 service in Old Town would run every 15 minutes instead of every 30 minutes.

A summary table of the proposed improvements that would be included in the FY 2025 Unfunded ATV Improvements scenario is included as Table 3-2. Maps of each improvement may be found in Section 3.1.

Arlandria Bus Access Improvement Study

In FY 2025, DASH and City staff will conduct a review of DASH service in Arlandria to determine if any routes could be adjusted to serve the section of Mount Vernon Avenue, north of Reed Avenue. This study is based on feedback from city leadership and the Arlandria community that this corridor would benefit greatly from better access to free DASH service.

Staff will be coordinating with WMATA staff as they finalize the recommendations from the Better Bus Network, which could impact Metrobus service in this area. Staff will review nearby DASH routes, including Lines 33 and 36A/B to identify if a routing adjustment would be possible to better serve this community. The analysis will review travel patterns, travel times, operational/safety considerations, operating cost impacts, fleet requirements, and consistency with ATV goals. Any service change recommendations resulting from the study would be proposed for inclusion in the FY 2026 – FY 2035 Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan (ATSP).

FY 2025 Bus Stop Consolidations & Improvements

DASH is working with City staff to inventory, assess, and consolidate bus stops in numerous locations throughout the service area and to improve access and passenger amenities for the remaining stops. In many locations in Old Town and throughout the City, DASH bus stops are currently spaced extremely close together – often within one block or less – which can increase overall travel times and make the service less useful to the average rider. DASH will review ridership data collected since the launch of the

New DASH Network to identify stops for potential consolidation. If a bus stop is identified for potential consolidation or removal, any affected passengers will be notified at least two weeks in advance and will be provided an opportunity to provide feedback.

In conjunction with the bus stop consolidation project, DASH will work with the City of Alexandria to identify bus stop improvements at consolidated stops, high ridership stops, stops with poor pedestrian accessibility, and stops that lack amenities. Potential improvements include shelter/bench installations, parking space removals, and passenger pad or "bulb out" construction. Bus "bulb-outs" or curb extensions can be particularly useful in congested urban areas like Old Town because they provide safe, accessible bus stops with minimal impact on parking spaces. Based on a recent survey, DASH and the City of Alexandria have prioritized bus stop accessibility and the provision of basic amenities like shelters, benches, and lighting in the coming year.

DASH has applied for DRPT funding through the Transit Ridership Incentivization Program (TRIP) to implement some of the bus stop improvement projects that will be identified through the process outlined above.

Table 3-2 / Cost Estimates for Potential FY 2025 Service Modifications

<u>Priority Order</u> <u>(1 = top</u> priority)	<u>Line #</u>	<u>Areas Served</u>	<u>Proposed Improvement</u>	<u>Net Annual</u> <u>Platform Hours</u>	<u>Net Annual Cost</u>
FY 2025 DASH S	upplemental Re	auests			
1	Line 32	Eisenhower Valley, Landmark Mall, Van Dorn Metro, Carlyle	Eisenhower Valley,Improve midday, evening and weekendandmark Mall, Van Dornservice from every 60 minutes to every 306,005		\$850,000
2	Line 34	Potomac Yard, Old Town North, City Hall, Lee Center	Sunday service improved to run every 30 minutes instead of every 60 minutes to provide better connectivity to new Potomac Yard Metro	1,044	\$150,000
3	Line 31	NVCC, King Street, Old Town	Extend off-peak/weekend short trips from King Street Metro to Braddock Road Metro for 15 minute service in Old Town; extend weekday evening hours.	7,196	\$1,100,000
		FY 2024 DASH Supplementa	l Requests	14,245	\$2,100,000

DASI	H FY 202	5 POTENTIAL SE			[DASH Service Plann	ing Decision Framework (1)	
27.01				Ridership	Equit	ty (2)	Impact/Alternatives	Cost Efficiency
<u>Priority Order</u> (<u>1 = top</u> priority)	<u>Line #</u>	<u>Areas Served</u>	Proposed Improvement	Net Change in Annual Boardings (Projected)	Low Income Residents within <u>1/4 mil</u> e (City Avg = 10.3%)	<u>Minority</u> <u>Residents within</u> <u>1/4 mil</u> e (City Avg = 48.1%)	<u>Description of Benefit / Cost of Not</u> <u>Improving</u>	<u>Annual Cost Per Add'l</u> Boarding (Lower = Greater <u>Rider Impact)</u>
FY 2025 DASH Su								
FY 2025 DASH SU	ipplemental Rec	quests						
1	Line 32	Eisenhower Valley, Landmark Mall, Van Dorn Metro, Carlyle	Improve midday, evening and weekend service from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes.	67,000	9%	54%	Shorter waits for buses on Eisenhower Avenue during middays, evenings and weekends. Improved connections to new Landmark development.	\$12.69
2	Line 34	Potomac Yard, Old Town North, City Hall, Lee Center	Sunday service improved to run every 30 minutes instead of every 60 minutes to provide better connectivity to new Potomac Yard Metro	9,000	9%	31%	Shorter waits for buses on Sundays in Old Town; better Sunday service to new Potomac Yard Metro	\$16.67
3	Line 31	NVCC, King Street, Old Town	Extend offpeak/weekend short trips from King Street Metro to Braddock Road Metro for 15 minute service in Old Town; extend weekday evening hours.	83,000	7%	39%	More one-seat trips from King St to Old Town; better connections to West End; more frequent OTC	\$13.25
		FY 2024 DASH Suppleme	ental Requests	159,000				\$13.21
FY 2025 DASH Re	eduction Scenari	os						
1	Line 104	Braddock Metro, Cameron Mills Rd, Parkfairfax, Pentagon	Reduce weekday peak service from every 30 minutes to every 60 minutes	-10,000	5%	27%	Much longer waits for Line 104 passengers in Parkfairfax; Service becomes much less useful.	\$18.00
		Total Potential FY 2024 Se	rvice Reductions	(\$42,000)				\$15.00

Table 3-3 / Service Planning Analyses of Unfunded ATV Improvements for FY 2025

DASH Service Improvements for FY 2026 – FY2027

For FY 2026 and FY 2027, DASH will continue working to implement the recommendations of the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan, including any "Unfunded ATV Improvements" from the 2022 ATV Plan that could not be implemented in earlier years. Ultimately, DASH will be seeking to fully realize the 2030 ATV Plan that was approved by the ATC Board of Directors in 2019. Additional information on the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan project, process, outcomes, and final report can be found at the ATV project website: www.dashbus.com/transitvision.

The full list of proposed FY 2026 DASH service changes includes:

- Unfunded FY 2025 Improvements. The three "unfunded" improvements from FY 2025 on Lines 32, 34, and 31 outlined in the previous section would be the top priority for FY 2026 and beyond if not implemented in FY 2025.
- Line 30. DASH is proposing to implement major off-peak service enhancements on the route so that it would run every 15 minutes during weekday middays, evenings, and weekends. (Unfunded)
- Line 32. DASH proposes to increase weekday peak service on Line 32 from every 30 minutes to every 15 minutes between Van Dorn Metro and King Street Metro. (Unfunded)
- Line 103. DASH is proposing to improve weekday peak headways to run every 20 minutes instead of every 30 minutes, similar to AT-3 peak service prior to the COVID pandemic. (Unfunded)
- Line 104. DASH is proposing to improve weekday peak headways to run every 20 minutes instead of every 30 or 60 minutes, similar to AT-4 peak service prior to the COVID pandemic. (Unfunded)

For FY 2027, DASH proposes the following additional service change:

- King Street Trolley. DASH proposes to extend the King Street Trolley from the King Street Metro to the Eisenhower Metro. DASH is also proposing to expand morning service hours so that Trolley service begins at 6:00 AM instead of 11:00 AM. (Unfunded)
- Line 102. DASH is proposing to increase weekday midday headways on Line 102 from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes.
- West End Transitway. The City of Alexandria is actively planning to build the West End Transitway, a high-capacity BRT service that would operate along the I-395 corridor between Alexandria and the Pentagon. The original route began at the Van Dorn Metro with stops at Landmark, Mark Center, Southern Towers and Shirlington Transit Center before reaching the Pentagon. The West End Transitway would replace significant portions of the DASH Line 35 with a modified routing pattern, more service during weekday peak periods, and more investment in bus prioritization and stop amenities. Additional route adjustments to the New DASH Network

structure along Beauregard Street near Lincolnia and King Street will be required in conjunction with the start of West End Transitway service, which is expected to begin in FY 2027.

Although a specific transit provider has not been identified to operate this service, DASH is wellpositioned for this opportunity due to its other nearby services and cost efficiency. Some operating funding for the West End Transitway has been secured through CMAQ/RSTP, but additional funding may be needed. The I-395/95 Commuter Choice program and other state and regional funding sources will be actively pursued. Additional information will be included in updates to this document in subsequent years.

WMATA Better Bus Network Project.

DASH and the City of Alexandria will also continue to work closely with WMATA and other regional partners in the ongoing development of the "Better Bus Network" regional bus network redesign project, which could have major impacts for future bus service in Alexandria and the greater Washington D.C. region.

The first phase of route changes resulting from this project could be implemented as early as FY 2026 with subsequent changes for FY 2027 and beyond based on available funding. The final "Year One" bus network will be determined based on a public outreach process in early 2024 and WMATA FY 2026 budget discussions in late 2024. DASH and the City of Alexandria will be able to incorporate the final recommendations from the Better Bus Network into subsequent updates to this document for FY 2026 and beyond.

More information about WMATA's "Bus Transformation Project" and "Better Bus Network" can be found at: <u>https://bustransformationproject.com/</u>.

3.2.2 / Mid-Term Service Recommendations (FY 2028 – FY 2030)

For FY 2028, FY 2029, and FY 2030, additional service change proposals will be made to advance the implementation of the 2030 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan network based on available funding. An overview of the 2030 ATV Plan network is provided below. Additional potential service improvements related to the West End Transitway and Duke Street BRT are also described at the end of this section.

2030 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan

The 2030 ATV Network represents the ultimate vision for the new ridership-oriented bus network while providing frequent, all-day bus service across most of the city. Many of the routes in the 2030 network are similar to the routes from the 2022 New DASH Network, but with additional frequency improvements. Figures 3-11 and 3-10 show the new 2030 network during peak and midday time periods, respectively, while Table 3-4 shows the service frequencies and hours of operations for all DASH and WMATA routes. Many of these routes and service levels are subject to change based on the recommendations from the West End Transitway Operations Plan that will be finalized by FY 2025.

The 2030 ATV Network was designed to be implemented by 2030, however, some of the improvements could be introduced during the latter part of the FY 2026 – FY 2030 period covered by this TSP if funding is available.

Full information about the 2030 ATV Plan can be found at <u>www.dashbus.com/transitvision</u>.

Duke Street Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)

The City of Alexandria was recently recommended to receive \$75 million in NVTA grant funding for the design and construction of the first phase of the "Duke Street in Motion" BRT project, which is scheduled for completion by FY 2028. This project could provide dedicated transit lanes, bus prioritization, and other capital improvements that will increase bus speeds, reliability and convenience between Landmark Mall and King Street Metro. These improvements could greatly benefit the future operations of the DASH and Metrobus service along this corridor.

DASH and City staff are currently working on developing a service plan and timeline for how future bus service along this corridor will be designed and what the timeline for the service improvements will be.

Based on the projects summarized above, DASH and the City of Alexandria are assuming the following timeline for mid-term (FY 2028 – FY 2030) service improvement projects:

FY 2028

- Any proposed near-term improvements that were identified in the previous section will be proposed for implementation in FY 2028.
- Line 31 is proposed to be extended from its current terminus at NVCC Alexandria to Skyline via Seminary Road in FY 2028 (Unfunded).

FY 2029 - FY 2030

- No additional service improvement projects have been identified for these years.
- Any remaining near- or mid-term improvements that have not yet been implemented by 2030 will be proposed for implementation in FY 2030



Figure 3-10 / 2030 ATV Plan (Midday)



Figure 3-11 / 2030 ATV Plan (Peak)



Table 3-4 / 2030 ATV Plan (Frequency Table)

3.2.3 / Long-Term Service Recommendations (FY 2031 – FY 2034)

DASH and City have focused on realizing the 2022 and 2030 Alexandria Transit Vision Plan recommendations so no specific service changes have been planned for FY 2031 or beyond. If any nearor mid-term service recommendations are not implemented by FY 2030, they would be proposed for implementation during these years.

Additional adjustments to DASH service will also be implemented as needed to support the continued transition of the DASH fleet to 100% electric buses.

A summary of the operating costs of the route improvements identified in previous sections is included below as Table 3-5. Additional capital costs are outlined in the Fleet Expansion section in Chapter 4.

Route	F	Y25	F	Y26	F	Y27	F١	28	FY2	29	FY	30	FY	31	FY	32	FYS	33	FYS	84
Line 30	\$	-	\$	2,149	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 31	\$	1,100	\$	-	\$	-	\$	2,477	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 32	\$	850	\$	857	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 33	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 34	\$	150	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 35	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 36A/B	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 102	\$	-	\$	-	\$	222	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 103	\$	-	\$	429	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Line 104	\$	-	\$	652	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
<u>Trolley</u>	\$	-	\$	_	\$	1,652	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Totals	\$	2,100	\$	4,087	\$	1,874	\$	2,477	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-

Table 3-5 / DASH Projected Operating (FY 2025 – FY 2034) (in thousands)

Service Projections	FY25	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29	FY30	FY31	FY32	FY33	FY34
Ops Costs (Baseline)	\$ 38,772	\$ 40,734	\$ 43,003	\$ 45,398	\$ 47,927	\$ 50,596	\$ 53,414	\$ 56,390	\$ 59,530	\$ 62,846
Ops Costs (w/ Un- funded Improve- ments)	\$ 40,452	\$ 46,363	\$ 50,819	\$ 56,127	\$ 59,253	\$ 62,554	\$ 66,038	\$ 69,716	\$ 73,599	\$ 77,699

3.3 / Service Development

The following table identifies the changes in service levels for each route based on the improvements described earlier in this section. No service reductions are proposed for any routes.

As noted above, additional service changes are likely to be proposed for FY 2027 and beyond based on the recommendations in the West End Transitway Operating Plan that will be completed by Summer 2024. This will likely include a significant reduction or discontinuation of Line 35, since it will be largely replaced by the new West End Transitway service.

Table 3-6 will be updated for next year's ATSP to reflect any changes.

Service Levels by										
Route	FY25	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29	FY30	FY31	FY32	FY33	FY34
Platform Hours			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 30	0	17,688	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 31	7,196	0	0	19,032	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 32	6,005	7,056	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 33	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 34	1,044	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 35	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 36A/B	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 102	0	0	1,764	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 103	0	3,528	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 104	-1,840	5,368	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
King St. Trolley	<u>0</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>13,140</u>	<u>0</u>						
Total Increases	12,405	33,640	14,904	19,032	0	0	0	0	0	0
Platform Miles										
Line 30	0	182,976	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 31	66,823	0	0	114,192	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 32	56,353	84,672	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 33	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 34	9,521	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 35	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 36A/B	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 102	0	0	10,584	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 103	0	49,392	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Line 104	0	49,392	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
King St. Trolley	<u>0</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>78,840</u>	<u>0</u>						
Total Increases	132,696	366,432	89,424	114,192	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 3-6A / DASH Projected Platform Hours & Miles (FY 2025 – FY 2034) – WITH UNFUNDED IMPROVEMENTS

Service Totals	FY25	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29	FY30	FY31	FY32	FY33	FY34
Platform Hours	328,697	335,271	341,977	348,816	355,793	362,908	370,167	377,570	385,121	392,824
Platform Miles	3,090,109	3,151,911	3,214,949	3,279,248	3,344,833	3,411,730	3,479,964	3,549,564	3,620,555	3,692,966

Table 2 70 / DACH Droi	ected Platform Hours & Miles (FY		
Idule 5-7D / DASH PIUJ	ected Plation in Hours & Willes (FT	2025 - FT 2054) - WIINOUI	

Chapter 4

Implementation Plan


Chapter 4.0 / Implementation Plan

This section outlines policies and steps that are required by DASH to maintain current operations and implement the improvements or modifications described in Section 3, including asset management, fleet maintenance and capital improvement projects.

4.1 / Transit Asset Management (TAM) Plan

As a Tier II agency, DASH participates in the DRPT-sponsored group plan for Transit Asset Management. The current TAM Group Plan runs from FY 2022 – FY 2025 and is available on the DRPT website (<u>https://drpt.virginia.gov/guidelines-and-requirements/transit-asset-management-plan/</u>).

The purpose of the TAM Plan is to assist participating transit agencies to develop a comprehensive plan for acquiring, maintaining and replacing any and all transit assets necessary to operate their service. The plan also helps agencies to ensure that all assets are maintained in a State of Good Repair (SGR), per Federal Transit Administration (FTA) guidelines.

The DRPT TAM Group Plan contains a detailed inventory of all assets for each agency, including vehicles, facilities and equipment. The TAM also identifies useful life benchmarks for each asset class, summarizes the findings of asset condition assessments, sets performance targets, and informs future investment priorities.

4.1.1 / Vehicle Fleet Policies

DASH provides fixed route transit services for the community of Alexandria, Virginia utilizing a fleet of 116 heavy duty fixed-route transit buses which are all stored in the William B. Hurd DASH Transit Facility. The type, size and number of vehicles required to meet service needs and advance city mobility goals are identified by the DASH Chief Infrastructure & Development Officer with input from Maintenance, Operations, Safety and Planning & Scheduling staff. Vehicle propulsion types are determined based on recommendations from the recent DASH Zero-Emission Bus Implementation Plan, which sets a target of 2037 for full transition to a 100% electric bus fleet.

DASH Maintenance staff follow practices and procedures outlined in the DASH Fleet & Facility Maintenance Program ensure that all vehicles are properly maintained to promote safety, reliability and cleanliness. The vehicle maintenance procedures identified in the DASH Fleet & Facility Maintenance Program are summarized below:

- 1. Each bus undergoes a pre-trip and post-trip safety inspection by each operator which operates the vehicle, this may occur multiple times per day per vehicle.
- 2. Each bus is serviced by the Fleet Maintenance Service department once per day, typically at the end of the day. Through this process, the following is performed:
 - o Full safety inspection is conducted, defects are noted for repair;
 - o All fluids and lubricants are checked and filled to appropriate levels if necessary;

- Interior of bus is cleaned;
- Farebox is probed and dumped, if required;
- Mileage data is downloaded from Fleetwatch system which imports into Fleetio, Fleet Management System;
- DEF and Diesel Fuel is fueled;
- Bus is washed through exterior bus wash; and
- Battery electric buses are charged at depot charging stations within garage.
- 3. Each bus undergoes a preventative maintenance (PM) program that meets all manufacturer recommendations for service intervals for each tasks and items to meet State of Good Repair. The details of the overall Preventative Maintenance Program is detailed and outlined in
- 4. The Maintenance department uses the program Fleetio to track and manage the Preventative Maintenance Program and to ensure that all capital assets have the appropriate service tasks performed per the schedule outlined by the program. The Fleetio program receives dynamic data from Fleetwatch on the current live odometer readings of all buses, which is used to schedule and define the required preventative maintenance timelines of most PM programs.
- 5. All safety and mechanical defects identified through any of the processes above or elsewhere are promptly addressed and rectified by the Maintenance department. Defects and issues are entered, tracked, and rectified in the Fleetio software system. Additionally, safety defects result in the bus being removed from service until the issues are fully rectified and the bus can pass a pre-trip safety inspection.

Wheelchair Lift, Ramp, and Securement Devices are inspected as part of the pre-trip and post-trip safety inspections. In addition, they are inspected and serviced appropriately as part of all levels of the Preventative Maintenance Program, beginning with a PM-A level inspection. The satisfactory inspection of wheelchair lift, ramp, and securement devices are a mandatory requirement to pass the respective inspection. Any failures in these systems and devices are promptly rectified by the Maintenance department.

DASH utilizes and exercises Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) Warranty coverage for rolling stock and systems. Warranty work is tracked and notated appropriately for all applicable issues and work orders as managed in the Fleetio system. DASH submits for Warranty work requests or reimbursements through various OEM portals for Warranty Claims, such as New Flyer, Gillig, Thermoking, etc. As buses begin work for defects and is identified to be a component under warranty, it will trigger this process to utilize, request, and track warranty claims.

Complete vehicle history files are available at any given time. They are tracked and archived in the Fleetio Fleet Management System and/or any subsequent system. The vehicle history files consist of:

- All current and historic fleet inventory
- Service records, work orders, and issues for all vehicles
- Preventative maintenance work completed for all vehicles
- Labor utilized on all vehicles
- Parts utilization on all vehicles

As required by DRPT, DASH uses the Transit Economic Requirements Model (TERM) to assess the condition of assets such as buses, support vehicles and equipment. The TERM model assumes that each asset will be assigned a value for its current condition from 1.0 to 5.0 based on the following scale.

- 1.0 1.94 = Asset is in "poor" condition.
- 1.95 2.96 = Asset is in "marginal" condition.
- 2.95 3.95 = Asset is in "adequate" condition.
- 3.96 4.75 = Asset is in "good" condition.
- 4.75 5.0 = Asset is in "new" or "excellent" condition.

The condition of each asset is updated regularly and recorded in TransAM, which serves as the agency's primary asset inventory database. Based on FTA guidance, any asset rated below 2.5 or beyond its useful life span – typically 12 years for buses – is considered to be beyond a State of Good Repair (SOGR) and in need of replacement.

The DASH Director of Fleet Maintenance is held accountable to the DASH Chief Operating Officer on the satisfactory performance of the Fleet Maintenance Program. The Chief Operating Officer reports to the General Manager and is responsible for the overall State of Good Repair of DASH's Fleet and Facilities Assets.

Fixed-Route Bus Fleet

The DASH bus fleet is comprised of 101 buses that are available for daily revenue service and five contingency spares. Due to the recent arrival of ten replacement buses, the total fleet size has temporarily increased to 116 buses. A summary of the DASH fixed-route bus fleet is shown in Table 4-1.

The bus fleet is comprised of mostly 35-foot buses (59%), but also includes 40-foot buses (33%) and several articulated 60-foot buses (4%). The DASH fleet includes a mix of clean diesel (41%), hybrid electric (47%), and battery electric buses (13%). DASH also operates six hybrid electric trolley replica buses.

The FY 2024 peak service requirement for weekdays is 77 vehicles, so the spare ratio is roughly 31%, or 28% if Trolleys are excluded. DASH also has six emergency contingency spare buses, which are not included in the spare ratio calculation.

To maintain State of Good Repair, DASH is required to replace each bus once it reaches the end of its 12year useful life cycle. A summary of the bus fleet replacement is included in Section 4.2 of this document.

Vehicle ID's	Year	Make	Туре	Length	# of Vehicles
200-206	2011	Gillig	Hybrid	35'	7
300-302	2011	Gillig	Hybrid	40'	3
400-404	2011	Gillig (Trolley)	Hybrid	29'	5
207-211	2012	Gillig	Hybrid	35′	5
303-307	2012	Gillig	Hybrid	40'	5
212-216	2014	Gillig	Hybrid	35'	5
308-309	2014	Gillig	Hybrid	40'	2
217-229	2015	Gillig	Hybrid	35′	13
405	2015	Gillig (Trolley)	Hybrid	35'	1
230-233	2017	Gillig	Hybrid	35′	4
310-311	2017	Gillig	Hybrid	40'	2
501-514	2018	Gillig	Clean Diesel	35'	14
515-527	2019	New Flyer	Clean Diesel	35'	13
528-530	2020	New Flyer	Clean Diesel	35'	3
701-705	2020	New Flyer	Clean Diesel	40'	5
706-715	2023	New Flyer	Clean Diesel	40'	10
801-803	2020	New Flyer	Electric	40'	3
804-806	2021	Proterra	Electric	40'	3
807-810	2021	Proterra	Electric	40'	4
901-904	2021	New Flyer	Electric	60'	<u>4</u>
		OTAL ACTIVE FLEE	Т		111

Table 4-1A / Existing DASH Fixed-Route Revenue Bus Fleet

Table 4-2B / Existing DASH Fixed-Route Contingency Bus Fleet

Vehicle ID's	Year	Make	Туре	Length	# of Vehicles
101-102	2007	Gillig	Diesel	35'	2
103-105	2002	MCI	Diesel	40'	3
	тот	AL CONTINGENCY F	LEET		5

Support Vehicle Fleet

In addition to its fixed-route bus fleet, DASH also owns and maintains a fleet of 17 support vehicles that are used for supervision of operations, operator relief movements, and administrative functions like Planning, Safety and Training. Funding for the maintenance and purchase of these vehicles is included in the annual DASH operating budget.

Paratransit Fleet

The City of Alexandria's DOT Paratransit Service is operated by National Express Transit/Diamond Transportation. Diamond Transportation maintains of a fleet of 20 paratransit vehicles that are available for DOT paratransit service. Since the City of Alexandria does not own or maintain the paratransit fleet, no capital investments are needed or planned from the City for its DOT paratransit program.

4.1.2 / Maintenance & Operations Facilities Policies

The William B. Hurd DASH Maintenance Facility is located at 3000 Business Center Drive in Alexandria, Virginia and supports all DASH operations, maintenance and administrative functions. The 160,000 square foot facility was opened in 2009 and is owned by the City of Alexandria and maintained by the City's Department of General Services. The City of Alexandria also owns the adjacent undeveloped parcel, which contains an impound parking lot but will be incorporated into the DASH Facility footprint as part of a project to expand the existing DASH Facility that is outlined in Section 4.2.

Based on FTA and DRPT guidelines, DASH provides an annual assessment of the condition of its facility in the agency's TransAM database. This assessment follows the same condition ratings scale of 1-5 that was summarized earlier in this section. The most recent assessment was conducted in January 2024 with the DASH Facility being assessed to be in "adequate" condition with a 3.0 rating. The assessment noted that the facility "has reached midlife and is experience some deterioration, particularly on parking deck," and that "damages resulting from recurring flooding have also taken a toll, although several recent facility improvements have been made that are expected to significantly mitigate flooding risk."

The City of Alexandria's Department of General Services is onsite for regular maintenance needs, including regular inspections of all aspects of the DASH Facility. The City typically identifies necessary funding needs for regular facility maintenance and upgrades through its annual Capital Improvement Program (CIP).

4.1.3 / Passenger Facilities & Amenities Policies

The City of Alexandria is responsible for the installation and maintenance of the more than 700 bus stops within the city limits in close coordination with DASH and WMATA staff. This includes ensuring that the bus stops and amenities are regularly cleaned and maintained to meet basic standards of safety, accessibility, comfort and cleanliness. The City utilizes the Alex 311 system for the reporting and resolution of bus stop maintenance issues, including overflowing trash receptacles, broken shelter glass, overgrown foliage, and graffiti. DASH and WMATA staff also work closely with City staff during winter weather events to prioritize snow removal from bus stops and passenger facilities.

New or improved bus stops, such as those upgraded as part of redevelopment projects, are subject to review by City and DASH staff to ensure that the stop is safe, comfortable, accessible and is consistent with City and DASH standard bus stop design practices. Sta

The bus facilities located at the Van Dorn Street, Eisenhower Avenue, and Braddock Road Metrorail stations are maintained by WMATA; however, the bus facilities at the King Street-Old Town and Potomac Yard-VT Metrorail stations are maintained by the City of Alexandria.

The City of Alexandria provides a wide array of transit amenities such as bus shelters, benches, trash cans, lighting, and real-time bus arrival displays. These amenities are distributed throughout the service area based on ridership data, income/ethnicity/disability status demographics, staff analysis, funding opportunities, development conditions and customer requests. General policies for the distribution of bus shelters, benches, trash cans, lighting fixtures and posted schedule information are outlined below. ATC/DASH and City staff monitor the locations of all transit amenities to ensure that they are equitably distributed to minority and low-income areas.

- **Bus Shelters.** Bus shelters are provided at roughly 65 stops throughout the City of Alexandria. The installation of bus shelters is generally based upon ridership data and staff input, but many shelters have been installed as part of developer agreements on construction projects. Generally, bus shelters are prioritized for bus stops with at least 50 average boardings per weekday.
- Benches. Benches are provided at nearly 200 stops throughout the City of Alexandria. The installation of benches is based upon ridership, customer requests and staff input. Stops located near medical and senior facilities are also furnished with benches as much as possible. Generally, bus shelters are prioritized for bus stops with at least 20 average boardings per weekday, however, stops located near significant populations of seniors, the disabled, students, or other special uses (e.g., hospitals, medical offices, tourist attractions) may receive special consideration.
- **Trash Cans.** Trash cans are installed at roughly 150 stops in the City of Alexandria. Trash cans are typically installed at stops where there is a demonstrated issue with littering, but ridership data, customer requests, maintenance trends and staff input are also considered. Trash cans are regularly maintained by the City of Alexandria's Department of Transportation & Environmental Services (T&ES).
- **Lighting**. As part of its focus on passenger safety, the City of Alexandria installs lighting at many of its bus stop locations, including those with bus shelters. The distribution of lighting fixtures is primarily based upon ridership, customer requests, safety considerations, and staff recommendations.
- **Real-Time Information Displays.** ATC/DASH have installed real-time information displays at more than 60 stops across the City of Alexandria. These displays provide customers with information on when the next buses will arrive based on real-time bus locations. Most of the displays are solar-powered tablets mounted on bus stop poles, but several larger TV screens or real-time kiosks have been installed at major transit hubs or transfer locations across the City.

Installation decisions on real-time information displays is generally based upon ridership, transfer activity, grant opportunities, developer considerations, operating factors, sunlight exposure, and staff input. In addition to these real-time information displays, DASH also makes real-time bus arrival information available via the DASH Tracker website, third-party real-time apps, SMS text message, and an interactive voice response (IVR) on the DASH Customer Service telephone hotline. A static display featuring QR Codes with links to the "Schedules" page on the DASH website is also provided at several dozen bus stop locations.

Finally, the City of Alexandria and DASH work closely to maintain a bus stop inventory that includes detailed information about stop locations, routes served, accessibility, and various amenities. Staff are currently developing a bus improvement prioritization index that will help to guide future bus stop improvement projects. Factors such as stop utilization (ridership), socioeconomic data, geographic equity, and the cost and difficulty of improvements are among the main factors that will be included in the index criteria.

4.1.4 / DASH Technology & Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Policies

In recent years, DASH has implemented a wide range of transit technology on its buses, at its bus stops, and at its facility. The goal of these ITS programs is to improve day-to-day operations, promote safety/security, and to enhance overall rider experience by finding ways to make DASH faster, more reliable, more accessible, and easier to use. Examples of recent DASH technology programs include Computer-Aided Dispatch (CAD)/Automated Vehicle Location (AVL) systems, Automated Passenger Counters (APC's), and Scheduling Software.

DASH is known for its innovative approach to transit, and often conducts pilot projects to find new and better ways to solve typical transit problems. New ITS pilot projects are typically identified through ongoing discussions with multiple DASH departments, agencies and vendors to identify the need and potential tools or systems that could address it before applying for grants or initiating procurement. Through these pilots, the agency is able to evaluate new technologies in real-life applications, and to ultimately be more methodical in their adaptation to ensure that each new system fits into a larger, integrated ITS program. DASH staff also work closely with City staff – particularly in the T&ES Smart Mobility team - and regional transit partners to compare findings on new technology projects and to identify best practices.

Additional information on current DASH Technology and ITS projects can be found in Section 4.2 and Appendix B.

4.2 / Capital Implementation Plan

This section is based on DASH capital needs that are identified in the City of Alexandria's FY 2025 – FY 2034 Capital Improvement Program (CIP). The CIP is updated each year with major updates every other year. Its main purpose is to identify the funding and timelines for all capital projects that will be implemented by the City of Alexandria and DASH over the next ten years. Additional details on the City's Capital Improvement Program can be found at <u>https://www.alexandriava.gov/Budget</u>.

A summary of the DASH projects in the draft FY 2025 – FY 2034 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is provided in Table 4-3.

ltem	Project Description	FY 2025 CIP Funding Request	FY 2025-2034 Total CIP Funding Request
1	Bus Fleet Replacement. DASH is responsible for the planning, procurement, purchase, testing, acceptance and maintenance of its active bus fleet. This program provides funding for the purchase of replacement transit buses that enable DASH to operate fixed-route bus service throughout the City of Alexandria. It also includes funding for repairs and replacements related to vehicle batteries, and powertrain components. DASH will be working with City staff and other stakeholders to coordinate the procurement, purchase and delivery of the replacement buses that are funded by this project.	\$14,358,000	\$155,296,800
2	DASH Fleet Expansion & Electrification. This project provides for additional buses that are needed to maintain and expand bus service levels, consistent with the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan and the Alexandria Mobility Plan. This project will also facilitate the transition of the entire DASH fleet to 100% electric buses by 2037.	\$10,492,000	\$30,279,500
3	DASH Facility Expansion. The current DASH Facility has reached its maximum bus capacity and cannot accommodate future fleet expansion. DASH has secured funding from multiple state and regional sources for a staged implementation of expanded bus storage capacity, which will be integrated with facility and utility upgrades to support a zero-emission sub-fleet. The City's temporary parking arrangement for its overflow impound lot, currently housed on the adjacent DASH bus expansion land, will ultimately need to be relocated. (Note: Most of the funding appropriated for this project is from prior years).	\$9,944,700	\$20,944,700
4	DASH Electric Bus On-Route Charging. This project will provide funding for "on-route" bus charging stations that will support the DASH electric bus fleet. On-route charging stations are installed at strategic bus terminals across the service area for shorter charging sessions that can be performed between trips during layover periods without returning to the garage. These stations are critical for extending the battery range of electric buses so that they can operate for longer periods of time without returning to the garage depot.	\$0	\$8,849,600
5	DASH Technologies. This project funds future technology initiatives that allow DASH to incorporate new innovations into their day-to-day operations to improve ridership, cost efficiency and customer satisfaction. Such technologies include onboard equipment, transit signal prioritization, facility security technology upgrades, service planning analysis software tools, enhanced onboard video monitoring systems, advanced bus maintenance diagnostic systems, or other elements to improve operations and customer experience.	\$150,000	\$5,423,300
6	Transit Signal Priority. DASH and the City of Alexandria are working together to prioritize buses on city streets with technology that provides extra green time for buses as they travel through signalized intersections.	\$1,736,000	\$1,736,000
7	Transit Strategic Plan. DASH and the City are including additional funding for future updates to the new Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan (ATSP), which is required by DRPT.	\$0	\$100,000
	TOTALS	\$36,680,700	\$222,629,900

Table 4-3 / FY 2025 – FY 2034 DASH Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Summary

Funding Year	Tuno	Quantity	Retire Date	FY25	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29	FY30	FY31	FY32
Delivery Year	Туре	Quantity	Retire Date	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29	FY30	FY31	FY32	FY33
2011 Gilligs	Hybrid	10	Due 2023								
2011 Gilligs (Trolley)	Hybrid	5									
2012 Gilligs	Hybrid	10	Due 2024			_					
2014 Gilligs	Hybrid	7	Due 2026		7]	_				
2015 Gilligs	Hybrid	13	Due 2027			13					
2015 Gillig (Trolley)	Hybrid	1				1			_		
2017 Gilligs	Hybrid	6	Due 2029					6		_	
2018 Gilligs	Clean Diesel	14	Due 2030						14	i i	
2019 New Flyers	Clean Diesel	13	Due 2031							13	

2019 New Flyers

2020 Electric Buses (NF/Proterra)

2021 Electric Buses (NF/Proterra)

Replacement Buses (Clean Diesel)

2023 Replacement Buses

2024 Replacement Buses

2024 Smart Scale Buses

Total Retirements

2024 Replacement Trolleys

2024 Comm. Choice Buses

Replacement Buses (Electric)

Expansion Buses (Clean Diesel)

Total Replacement Buses

Expansion Buses (Electric)

Total Expansion Buses

Clean Diesel

Electric

Electric

Clean Diesel

Electric

Electric

Clean Diesel

Electric

Due 2031

Due 2032

Due 2033

Due 2035

Due 2036

Due 2036

Due 2036

Due 2036

Table 4-4 / DASH Fleet Replacement Plan (FY 2025 – FY 2034)

Note: The dashed line represents the point at which each sub-fleet reaches the end of its useful life (12 years). Buses that are retired in yellow cells are being kept beyond this useful life.

FY33

FY34

FY34

FY35

4.2.1 / Rolling Stock

Fleet Replacement

The DASH Fleet Replacement Plan is based on the assumption that buses should be retired once they reach the end of their useful 12-year life to ensure that DASH service may be operated with the highest standards of safety, comfort and reliability. Based on the FY 2025 – FY 2034 Capital Improvement Program, the following replacement buses will be purchased during the next 10 years:

- FY 2025 No replacement buses will be purchased.
- FY 2026 7 battery electric replacement buses will be purchased.
- FY 2027 13 electric replacement buses and 1 electric replacement Trolley will be purchased
- FY 2028 No replacement buses will be purchased.
- FY 2029 6 battery electric replacement buses will be purchased.
- FY 2030 14 battery electric replacement buses will be purchased.
- FY 2031 21 battery electric replacement buses will be purchased.
- FY 2032 6 battery electric replacement buses will be purchased.
- FY 2033 8 battery electric replacement buses will be purchased.
- FY 2034 No replacement buses will be purchased.

Table 4-4 shows the DASH Fleet Replacement Plan for FY 2025 – FY 2034. Though not shown in the table, DASH received \$24 million in FTA Low/No Emission Bus Funding for the purchase of 13 replacement electric buses in FY 2024 and is expecting these buses to be purchased in the coming months for delivery in late FY 2025 or early FY 2026.

Fleet Expansion & Electrification

In order to maintain appropriate urban service levels for the City of Alexandria, increase service frequency on productive existing routes, add new service in developing areas, and achieve an industry-standard spare ratio, DASH must periodically increase its active bus fleet size. The current fleet includes 101 active vehicles, not counting vehicles that are in the process of being decommissioned and retired. With a planned peak pull-out requirement of 77 buses in FY 2025, DASH will be able to maintain its spare ratio at 31%, which is above the industry standard of 20%. Excluding trolleys, the DASH fleet spare ratio is currently 28%.

DASH is planning the following fleet expansions over the next few years:

• FY 2022 – FY 2023 Smart Scale Funding. DASH secured roughly \$11.1 million in state funding through the Smart Scale program. Most of the funding for this project will be used towards the facility expansion project described in Section 6.6, but the funds will also cover the purchase of six expansion buses to be used towards improved DASH bus service in major development corridors throughout the city. Though these buses are currently scoped as clean diesel buses, DASH may apply for additional funding through the FTA Low/No Emission Vehicles grant program to upgrade some or all of these buses to 100% electric propulsion. These six expansion buses are scheduled for FY 2025 delivery and will support the service expansions described in Section 5.3.

- **FY 2024 FY 2025 Smart Scale Funding**. DASH was also able to secure \$12 million in additional Smart Scale funding for the purchase of 12 additional zero-emission expansion buses. These buses are scheduled for purchase in FY 2024 and delivery by FY 2025. Due to unit cost increases for buses, DASH will be working with DRPT staff to determine if additional funding will be needed to purchase these buses or if the number of buses will need to be reduced.
- FY 2024 FY 2025 I-395 Commuter Choice. DASH secured funding through the NVTC I-395 Commuter Choice Program to purchase two 100% electric articulated buses that will be used to expand passenger capacity on Line 35. These buses are scheduled for purchase in FY 2025 and delivery in FY 2025.

With these planned expansions, DASH will be increasing its active fleet size from 101 buses to roughly 121 buses over the next five years. Though currently unfunded, DASH is also seeking to increase its fleet size by 8 buses over the next three years through the City's Capital Improvement Program (CIP) to increase service levels and maintain service reliability as more and more of the fleet transitions to 100% zero emission vehicles.

The corresponding facility expansion that is needed to accommodate the growing DASH bus fleet is detailed later in this section.

Zero Emissions Fleet

In 2018, the City and the ATC Board of Directors adopted a new fleet goal to transition to a 100% zeroemission fleet by the year 2037. In 2020, DASH became the first transit agency in Northern Virginia to operate electric buses when it took delivery of three New Flyer electric buses as part of the state's VW Mitigation Trust. The transition continued in 2021 with the arrival of three Proterra electric buses in January, and eight more electric buses through the NVTA grant. These recent additions bring the total DASH electric bus fleet size to 14 buses, which represents 14% of the active bus fleet. With additional plans to increase the electric bus fleet, DASH expects that more than one-third of its bus fleet will be 100% electric by FY 2025.

This movement towards zero-emission buses is supported by the City of Alexandria's 2021 Alexandria Mobility Plan, and Eco-City Alexandria, which both seek to improve the quality of life and sustainable transportation options.

Other DASH efforts towards a zero-emission fleet have included:

- DASH has modified its most recent Capital Improvement Program (CIP) funding requests to the City of Alexandria to include funding for electric replacement buses as early as FY 2026. DASH anticipates that all buses purchased after FY 2025 will be battery electric to achieve the agency goal of full fleet transition by 2037.
- DASH has secured multiple regional and state grant funding opportunities through Virginia Smart Scale and NVTA (70% Funds) that will help cover the cost of facility expansions, upgrades, infrastructure improvements, and additional electric buses, bus chargers, and maintenance equipment over the next five years;

- DASH has requested CIP funding for on-route charging stations to maximize the service range of its electric bus fleet. DASH is working with the City of Alexandria, local developers, and other local entities to identify future locations for on-route bus charging stations that will allow DASH to operate a 100% electric bus fleet in the future. Potential locations include Landmark Mall, Potomac Yard Metro, Eisenhower Avenue Metro, Braddock Road Metro, Van Dorn Metro, Mark Center and NVCC Alexandria.
- In 2023, DASH and the City of Alexandria were awarded\$24 million in Low/No Emission Bus grant funding from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for the purchase of 13 new 100% electric buses as well as facility upgrades and charging equipment needed to support the new vehicles.
- DASH was recently awarded \$3.5 million from the NVTC I-395 Commuter Choice Program for the purchase of two 60-foot electric buses with electric charging equipment that will deployed on Line 35 to boost ridership capacity in the I-395 corridor.

The above programs will allow DASH to continue to work towards it goal of a 100% fleet transition to battery electric buses by 2037.

4.2.2 / Facility Expansion

As part of the \$11 million Smart Scale project mentioned above, DASH has secured funding to expand its existing garage facility to increase vehicle capacity from 96 buses to 134 buses to meet anticipated service demand in the coming decades. The existing William B. Hurd Transit Facility was opened in 2009 but has since exceeded its maximum bus capacity.

Upon completion of the current William B. Hurd Transit Facility, the land located directly adjacent to the west of the facility was identified and committed for DASH to expand onto for future growth as needed. This parcel, which is currently used as a temporary impound lot, will be regraded and integrated into the existing facility. The design process for the facility expansion began in late 2021 and is expected to be completed in 2024. As outlined by the Zero-Emission Bus Implementation Plan (Phase 1), the facility expansion is expected to include up to 40 electric bus chargers.

Construction of the facility expansion is scheduled to begin by FY 2025, and the new expanded facility would likely open by FY 2026 or FY 2027.

4.2.3 / DASH Technology

Over the last few years, DASH has continued to leverage various technologies to improve its customer experience, enhance passenger safety, collect better performance data and gain internal efficiencies. Recent projects have included Automated Passenger Counter (APC) retrofits, a web-based ridership data analysis tool (Hopthru) and a web-based dashboard tool for better performance data reporting (Geckoboard).

Additional technology projects that are either ongoing or will be started in FY 2025 are listed below:

- Electric Bus Charge Management Pilot. In FY 2024, DASH was awarded DRPT "Demonstration Project" grant funding to implement an Electric Bus Charge Management System Pilot project that allows DASH to monitor electric bus charging status of individual buses. The project includes the installation of hardware equipment on the charging dispensers as well as software that will be used by DASH staff in the Operations, Maintenance and Planning Departments to better understand bus charging profiles and to deploy the electric buses more efficiently.
- Automated Wheelchair Securement Pilot. DASH also secured a second FY 2024 DRPT "Demonstration Project" grant to install a state-of-the-art automated wheelchair securement system on up to five DASH buses. This system is designed to allow passengers with mobility devices to safely secure themselves in the designated ADA seating area without operator involvement. When compared with current manual securement practices, this system will reduce potential liability for accidents due to operators incorrectly securing mobility devices and speed up the boarding process to reduce overall travel times and improve overall service reliability. Lastly, this system will also eliminate the need for close contact between operators and passengers which greatly reduces the risk of viral transmission or other conflicts. If this pilot is successful, DASH would potentially begin ordering this system on future bus orders.
- Thru Vision Blind Spot Camera Pilot. DASH is applying to DRPT for FY 2025 Demonstration Grant funding to install and test new "Thru Vision" blind spot cameras on up to 20 DASH buses. Each bus would be equipped with two exterior cameras on the front of the bus and two screens inside the bus on the two front pillars. The screens will provide bus operators with a view of the areas that would normally be obscured by the two front pillars and would effectively remove the driver's two biggest blind spots. These cameras are expected to improve safety and reduce the likelihood of pedestrian strikes, which are most often caused by pedestrians crossing the street in the driver's blind spots. If this pilot is successful, DASH would potentially begin ordering this system on future bus orders.
- Onboard Passenger Information Screen Pilot. DASH is applying to DRPT for FY 2025 Demonstration Grant funding for an Onboard Passenger Information Screen Pilot project that would allow DASH to install and test information screens on up to 10 buses. Each bus would be equipped with two infotainment screens that would display information including stop names for the next 3-5 stops, route transfer information for passengers connecting to other routes, service alerts, and real-time information for upcoming transfer points. The screens could also be used for advertising and other DASH promotional efforts. Customers will be able to use these screens for better information on when they need to get off the bus, transfers and service disruptions. DASH installed infotainment screens on one of its buses (#703) last month and has received positive customer feedback so far. If the pilot is successful, DASH would consider installing similar screens on all future bus orders.
- **Bus Speed & Reliability Data Improvements.** DASH is exploring technology platforms that will provide better visibility into bus speeds and reliability metrics. This will allow DASH and City staff to better understand where schedule adjustments and street or stop improvements could be implemented to prioritize buses over other modes and improve speeds and reliability.

• **Transit Signal Prioritization.** DASH and the City of Alexandria T&ES staff have been working over the last five years to install Transit Signal Prioritization (TSP) technology at key intersections on transit corridors throughout the City. This technology enables traffic signals to sense when a bus is approaching so that it can extend the green phase to allow the bus to move through more quickly. This leads to increased bus speeds and greater service reliability, particularly for bus routes that operate on more congested corridors.

To date, the City of Alexandria has installed TSP technology at 54 intersections and has plans to expand to most intersections used by Metrobus or DASH buses by 2026. DASH buses are currently benefiting from TSP at 28 intersections, including 18 on the Duke Street corridor and 10 on the King Street Corridor. By the end of FY 2023, several additional intersections along Beauregard Street and Van Dorn Street are anticipated to be available for DASH buses. A map of TSP locations is included as Figure 4-1.

Over two-thirds of the of the DASH revenue fleet (71 buses) are currently equipped with TSP, including all new DASH buses purchased since 2018, and all 40- and 60-foot buses. All new bus builds will include TSP equipment, and additional retrofits will be completed as funding becomes available.



Figure 4-1 / Transit Signal Prioritization (TSP) Location in City of Alexandria

TSP Legend

DASH Accessible OWMATA Only

This map shows location of Transit Signal Prioritization in Alexandria. Intersections marked as "Green" have both cellular and wireless (radio) communications, alllowing both WMATA and DASH to use them. Intersections marked "Yellow" have only cellular communications, so only WMATA can use them.

4.2.4 / Other Capital Projects

A summary of other capital projects related to public transportation that the City of Alexandria is undertaking as part of its 10-year Capital Improvement Plan are summarized below. The projects and numbers shown below reflect the draft FY 2025 – FY 2034 CIP projects.

ltem	Project Description	FY 2025 CIP Funding Request	FY 2025-2034 Total CIP Funding Request
1	Transit Corridor 'A' – Route 1. The Route 1 Transitway is a 5-mile-long, high-capacity transit corridor connecting the Pentagon City and Braddock Road Metrorail stations. The initial segment of the corridor was completed in the summer of 2014. Remaining funding from the original construction project will be used to design the final extension of the dedicated transit lanes on Richmond Highway between East Glebe Road and Evans Lane and provide the environmental analysis required for this project. In FY 2020, \$5 million of funding was added as part of the Amazon Incentive Package to help complete the planning and design as well as the right-of-way acquisition and construction of the Transitway north of East Glebe Road to Evans Lane. The City plans to apply for future grant funding for the construction of this project. Timing of project construction and right-of-way acquisition will depend on the timing and phasing of phase two of the North Potomac Yard development project and proposed Entertainment District at Potomac Yard.	\$0	\$10,000,000
2	Transit Corridor 'B' – Duke Street. This project will construct a 4.5-mile segment of high-capacity transitway along Duke Street between the former Landmark Mall Site and the King Street Metrorail Station. Based on Council direction, staff sought and obtained \$87 million of regional transportation NVTA 70% funds to use for planning, design, right-of-way, construction, and asset acquisition such as buses and shelters. Design will occur in FY 2024 - 2025 with construction anticipated to begin in FY 2026. Construction of an ultimate build condition will likely be phased depending on the results of the outreach findings as well as adjacent private redevelopment projects. Once completed, this project will support development approved in the Eisenhower West, Eisenhower East and Landmark/Van Dorn Small Area Plans (including the redeveloped	\$55,800,000	\$75,000,000

Table 4-5 / City of Alexandria Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Summary*

	Landmark Mall), while increasing transit options for local and through trips emphasizing inter-		
3	jurisdictional coordination. Transit Corridor 'C' – West End Transitway. T his project will take a phased approach toward construction of a high-capacity Transitway between the Van Dorn Metrorail station and the Pentagon. The City was awarded \$57.2 million for FY 2024 - FY 2025 SMART SCALE for the design, right-of-way, construction and bus purchases for the first phase of this project. Phase I is focused on Transportation Systems Management (TSM) improvements, such as Transit Signal Priority, queue jump lanes, new bus stations, pedestrian and, bicycle improvements, and intersection improvements. Design of the Phase I (TSM) is funded through \$4.6M in NVTA 70% grants and began in FY 2023. West End Transitway is anticipated to begin operation by FY 2027. Phase II of this project includes dedicated transit lanes on portions of Van Dorn Street and Beauregard Street. Additional funding and right-of-way will be required to implement the Phase II plan, and the City will continue to work with private developers for the additional right-of-way and seek other funding sources including federal funds. The City was awarded \$5 million in NVTA 70% funds to design the roadway, including two bridges, along Van Dorn Street, south of Edsall Road in FY 2026.	\$32,594,347	\$32,594,347
4	Landmark Transit Center. As part of the redevelopment of the former Landmark Mall site, the existing transit center will be moved from the back of the existing mall to a central location in the new mixed-use development and one central block will be a dedicated transit center with up to six bus bays. The conceptual site plan has been approved, and it is anticipated to be refined and finalized in the next few years as individual blocks are designed with more detail. The centrally located transit center is a key component of the transportation network of the redevelopment. The new transit center will service existing WMATA and DASH bus service to, and through, the redeveloped mall site and hospital, as well as the West End Transitway and Duke Street Transitway lines. The project allows for capacity for additional future routes, electric bus charging facilities, and operator restroom and break facilities.	\$800,000	\$12,297,054
5	Capital Bikeshare. Stations are located in areas identified in the Alexandria Mobility Plan through a demand model and with input from the community. Capital costs for stations and bicycles are dependent on size of the station and number of docks and are funded by development or federal grants. Capital Bikeshare is a regional system that has stations in the District of Columbia; Arlington County, VA; Fairfax County, VA; Falls Church, VA; Prince George's County, MD; and Montgomery County, MD. Developer funded stations will continue to be added to the network as new buildings come online.	\$50,000	\$512,000

6	Complete Streets-Vision Zero. The Complete Streets Program funds a variety of capital infrastructure improvements and initiatives to make it easier, safer, and more comfortable for residents and visitors to walk, bike, and take public transit. This program also funds projects to advance the City's Vision Zero goal of eliminating traffic fatalities and severe injuries by 2028.	\$840,500	\$12,883,500
7	Bus Shelter Maintenance. This project supports the ongoing maintenance, cleaning, repairs, and reconstruction of bus shelters within the city of Alexandria. With free fares on DASH and the expansion of both DASH and WMATA bus routes, more people will be encouraged to use transit and utilize bus shelters. Bus shelters are a vital visual indicator and provide shelter during inclement weather, and the greater use will require additional maintenance. Being able to properly maintain the bus shelter is the critical first impression between the customer and the transit service. Performance of the transit service and the bus shelter maintenance is often factored into the rider's satisfaction with the overall service.	\$119,900	\$1,374,400
8	WMATA Capital Contributions. This project funds capital infrastructure improvements by participating governments including the City of Alexandria for the Washington Area Metropolitan Transit Authority (WMATA). In addition, this project also funds the newly mandated local match for the dedicated funding source created by the Virginia General Assembly to support the WMATA Capital Program.	\$16,896,000	\$189,126,000

*Table figures include DRAFT FY 2025-2034 figures

Chapter 5

Financial Plan



Chapter 5.0 / Financial Plan

5.1 / Operating and Maintenance Costs and Funding Sources

The funding source and cost data outlined below are broken out separately for Alexandria Transit Company (DASH) and the DOT Paratransit Services. Funding Sources and Operating Costs for the two services are wholly separate.

Federal Funding

Neither DASH nor Alexandria DOT receive federal operating assistance.

State Funding

From FY22 through FY24 DASH received state funding through the Transit Ridership Incentive Program (TRIP) via the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT). These funds were used to support DASH's transition to a fare-free structure and obligated DASH to remain fare free for four (4) years, while providing funding for three years. The total amount of state funding related to the TRIP funding over the FY22-FY24 period was \$7,236,171.

DASH receives additional state funding through the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission's I-395 Commuter Choice program to run enhanced service on lines 35 and 36. This funding supports regular, frequent, service on those lines with headways of at least 15 minutes or better.

DOT Paratransit does not receive state operating assistance.

Farebox Revenue

Since September of 2021, DASH has operated a fare-free structure and no longer collects fares. Through the state funding TRIP grant, DASH is required to remain fare free through the end of calendar year 2025. This TSP assumes that DASH remains fare-free through FY34.

DOT Paratransit received \$40,861 in fare revenue in FY 2023.

Local Revenue

DASH receives the majority of its operating revenue from local funds by way of appropriated subsidy from the City of Alexandria. Since the transition to a fare-free structure, the contribution by the City of Alexandria to DASH has increased and will continue to increase as state funding from TRIP ends. Over the period of this TSP, the local contribution for DASH's subsidy will rise in parallel with increasing operating costs.

DOT Paratransit receives funding from the City of Alexandria's General Fund.

Other Revenue Sources

DASH collections a small portion of additional revenue from various sources. These include advertising programs and charter services. DOT Paratransit does not receive funding from any other revenue sources.

Operating and Maintenance Cost Summary

A summary of DASH Operating and Maintenance costs and projections are provided below. All information provided below includes the service enhancements on Lines 35 and 36 that are funded by the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission's I-395 Commuter Choice program.

Alexandria DOT cost information is also provided, but the City of Alexandria does not operate or maintain the vehicles and instead pays the annual amounts listed below for a third-party (Diamond Transportation) to for these responsibilities.

Table 5-1	Operating and Maintenance Cost History (in \$1,000s)
-----------	--

Operating Cost History	FY21	FY22	FY23
DASH	\$25,712	\$31,180	\$34,396
Paratransit	\$774	\$1,200	\$1,600

Table 5-2 / Operating and Maintenance Cost Projections w/o Unfunded Improvements (in \$1,000)

Operating Cost Projections	FY24	FY25	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29	FY30	FY31	FY32	FY33	FY34
DASH	\$37,873	\$ 38,772	\$ 40,734	\$43,003	\$ 45,398	\$47,927	\$ 50,596	\$ 53,414	\$ 56,390	\$ 59 <i>,</i> 530	\$62,846

Table 5-3 /	Operating and	Maintenance	Revenue	Projections	(in \$1.000)
	operating and	Wanteenance	ILC VCIIGC	rojections	(

Revenue Sources	FY24	FY25	FY25 F			FY27	FY	28	FY2	29	FY30 I		FY:	31	FY32		FY33		FY3	34
DASH																				
Local Subsidy	\$30,249	\$	34,512	\$ 36,2	50	\$ 38,075	\$	39,992	\$4	42,008	\$4	44,124	\$4	46,347	\$4	48,681	\$!	51,131	\$5	53,704
State Funding (TRIP)	\$ 1,783	\$	-	\$-		\$ -	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
State Funding (NVTC)	\$ 5,532	\$	3,916	\$ 4,1	35	\$ 4,574	\$	5,048	\$	5,559	\$	6,110	\$	6,704	\$	7,344	\$	8,032	\$	8,773
Charter Services	\$ -	\$	130	\$ 13	33	\$ 137	\$	140	\$	140	\$	140	\$	140	\$	140	\$	140	\$	140
Advertising	\$ 250	\$	154	\$ 1!	54	\$ 154	\$	154	\$	154	\$	154	\$	154	\$	154	\$	154	\$	154
Other Misc	\$ 60	\$	60	\$ (62	\$ 63	\$	65	\$	66	\$	68	\$	70	\$	71	\$	73	\$	75
TOTAL DASH	\$37,873	\$	38,772	\$40,7	34	\$43,003	\$	45,398	\$4	47,927	\$5	50,596	\$!	53,414	\$!	56,390	\$!	59,530	\$6	52,846

Paratransit operating costs are primarily spent on the operator, Diamond Transportation, with some smaller operating costs being spent on Senior Services and VIA transportation software. Maintenance is the responsibility of Diamond Transportation.

Table 5-4 / Operating and Maintenance Cost Projections Including Service Improvements (in \$1,000)

Operating Cost Projections	FY24	FY25	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29	FY30	FY31	FY32	FY33	FY34
DASH (with Improvements)	\$40,452	\$ 46,363	\$ 50,819	\$ 56,127	\$ 59,253	\$62,554	\$ 66,038	\$ 69,716	\$ 73,599	\$ 77,699	\$ 81,584

5.2 / Capital Costs and Funding Sources

The following tables outline the costs and funding sources for DASH and City capital projects that are necessary to support DASH services and the improvements identified in the previous chapter. Table 5-5 shows all costs and funding associated with DASH replacement and expansion buses as highlighted in Chapter 4. Table 5-6 shows all costs and funding associated with DASH and City capital projects.

Additional information on the City of Alexandria's Draft CIP for FY 2025 – FY 2034 Capital Improvement Program will be available when the plan is made public in late February. The final version of this document will be updated to include this information.

	FY25	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29	FY30	FY31	FY32	FY33	FY34
Replacement Buses	0	7	14	0	6	14	21	6	8	0
Expansion Buses	14	4	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
TOTAL Buses	14	11	18	0	6	14	21	6	8	0
Cost of Replacements	\$14,358	\$11,571	\$23,237	\$ 245	\$10,664	\$24,921	\$38,851	\$12,064	\$16,311	\$1,103
Cost of Expansion	\$10,492	\$ 7,188	\$ 6,200	\$6,400	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Total Cost (\$1,000s)	\$24,850	\$18,759	\$29,437	\$6,645	\$10,664	\$24,921	\$38,851	\$12,064	\$16,311	\$1,103
Funding Sources:										
Local Funds	\$ 154	\$ 2,291	\$ 4,342	\$ -	\$ 2,108	\$ 4,819	\$ 7,371	\$ -	\$ 4,209	\$ -
NVTA 30% Funds	\$ 164	\$ 4,092	\$ 1,791	\$ 164	\$ 1,851	\$ 1,883	\$ 1,824	\$ 1,610	\$ 1,791	\$ -
State Funds	\$24,532	\$-	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Unsecured State Funds		\$12,376	\$23,304	\$6,481	\$ 6,705	\$18,220	\$29,655	\$10,454	\$10,311	\$1,103
Total Funding	\$24,850	\$18,759	\$29,437	\$6,645	\$10,664	\$24,921	\$38,851	\$12,064	\$16,311	\$1,103

Table 5-5 / Vehicle Replacement and Expansion Costs and Funding Sources (in \$1,000)



Appendix A

Agency Profile & System Overview



Appendix A: Agency Profile and System Overview

A.1 History

In 1984, the City of Alexandria founded a non-profit public service agency known as the Alexandria Transit Company, or "DASH", to help meet the growing demand for public transportation within the City. DASH began operating revenue service on five routes with 18 buses in March 1984 and grew steadily over the subsequent decades.

In 1993, DASH took over several Metrobus routes as a means of cost savings for the City of Alexandria. The next service expansion occurred in 2011 with the introduction of the "AT-2X" Mark Center Express to serve the new Department of Defense facility on Seminary Road. In 2012, DASH began operating the King Street Trolley, a free daily service that runs from the King Street Metro Station to the Potomac River waterfront. In 2014, DASH launched its first crosstown route, which helped enhance connections with other regional providers like Metrobus and ART.

The original DASH Facility was located on South Quaker Lane and housed all DASH Operations, Maintenance and Administrative functions for just over 25 years. In 2009, DASH opened a new Gold LEED Certified operating and maintenance facility on nearby Business Center Drive. This new, larger, state-of-the-art facility allowed opportunities to pursue service expansion and to introduce newer types of environmentally friendly vehicles such as the hybrid electric buses that began revenue service in 2011 and the 100% electric buses that began operating in 2020. Additional grant funding has been secured for a Facility Expansion project that will allow DASH to provide additional bus service and to support a larger zero-emission bus fleet.

In 2021, DASH unveiled the "New DASH Network", which represented the first phase of the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan and the largest and most comprehensive single-day service change in agency history. The network expanded frequent, all-day service across the City in a bid to make transit more relevant for more people. The launch of the new network also coincided with a transition to 100% fare-free operations on all DASH buses.

A.2 Governance

The Alexandria Transit Company is a non-profit corporation organized under Chapter 1, Title 13.1 of the Code of Virginia, for the purpose of providing mass transportation services as a public service corporation. The entire capital stock of the corporation – seven shares at a par value of \$1.00 a share – is owned by the City of Alexandria. This arrangement provides means by which the transit system may be run as a business-type enterprise with City Council retaining overall policy control and the ATC Board of Directors managing the day-to-day operation of the transit system.

ATC is governed by a Board of Directors elected annually by the Alexandria City Council, acting in the capacity of the sole stockholders. Board Members serve without compensation and for one-year terms (re-appointment is permissible). Regular monthly Board meetings are held the second Wednesday of every month, except for a summer recess in July and August. ATC operates under the direction of its

Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, Josh Baker. Mr. Baker is the principal staff advisor to the Board on transit matters.

The current members of the ATC Board of Directors are listed below:

- David Kaplan, Chairperson
- Stephen Klejst, Vice Chairperson
- Matt Harris, Board Member
- Ajashu Thomas, Board Member
- Jesse O'Connell, Board Member
- Murat Omay, Board Member
- Hillary Orr, *Board Member* (City T&ES Designee)
- Kendel Taylor, *Board Member* (City Finance Designee)

In 2020, the DASH Advisory Committee (DAC) was founded as an independent advisory committee of bus riders who meet on a quarterly basis to provide advocacy to the DASH General Manager from a rider perspective. The committee is wholly independent of the ATC Board of Directors, and DAC members are appointed by the DASH CEO/General Manager and provide a diverse set of perspectives from different backgrounds, demographics, and communities. Committee members serve two-year terms but are eligible for reappointment.

The current members of the DASH Advisory Committee are listed below:

- Ross Simons, Chairperson
- Jim Durham, Vice Chairperson
- Arish Gajjar, Committee Member
- Eric Van Horn, Committee Member
- Yvette Jiang, Committee Member
- Bonnie O'Day, Committee Member
- Jim Maslanka, Committee Member
- Jason Kunik, Committee Member
- Abel-Rahman Elnoubi, *Committee Member*
- Matthew McManus, Committee Member
- Nawful Kulam, *Committee Member*
- Kursten Phelps, Committee Member
- Salma El Gourchal, Committee Member (Student Representative)

A.3 Organizational Structure

DASH is led by a CEO/General Manager, Josh Baker, who reports to the ATC Board of Directors. The full organizational structure is included in Table A-1 below. All DASH employees are employed by Transit Management of Alexandria (TMA).

Bus operators and mechanics are represented by the Amalgamated Transit Union (ATU, Local 689). The most recent DASH-ATU Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) took effect on July 1, 2023 and will

remain in effect until June 30, 2026. DASH Maintenance staff have recently joined ATU Local 689, but no formal labor agreement has been approved.

The operation of Alexandria DOT Paratransit service is contracted by National Express Transit/Diamond Transportation Services. The current contract term runs from December 2021 to December 2026.



Table 5-6 / DASH Organizational Structure (2024)

A.4 Services Provided and Areas Served

The following section summarizes the transportation services that are provided by the City of Alexandria. Additional information can be found in Chapters 1 and 2.

Alexandria Transit Company (DASH)

The Alexandria Transit Company (DASH) currently operates traditional fixed-route bus service on ten regular bus routes, and the King Street Trolley. The primary service area covers approximately 15 square miles and generally aligns with the jurisdictional boundaries of the City of Alexandria. A map of the DASH bus system is included as Figure 5-1. An inset map depicting bus service in Old Town Alexandria is shown as Figure A-2. The majority of DASH service operates within the City of Alexandria, however, three routes – Lines 35, 103, and 104 – also provide service along Interstate 395 between Alexandria and the Pentagon. DASH utilizes 77 buses for its current weekday peak service needs. In addition to its regular bus services, DASH also operates the iconic King Street Trolley, a free tourist-oriented service running between the King Street Metro and City Hall/Market Square via King Street in Old Town. The trolleys typically run every 15 minutes from 11:00 AM to 11:00 PM, 365 days per year.

All DASH buses are fully ADA accessible with low floor, wheelchair lifts or ramps, and priority seating. All buses have onboard announcement systems that provide both audio announcements as well as digital displays with the name of the upcoming stop. All new bus stops within the City of Alexandria are required to be compliant with ADA access standards. DASH and the City of Alexandria estimate that nearly 60 percent of current stops are ADA compliant but are actively working to increase that share. Additional information the DASH fleet and bus stop amenities is provided in Chapter 4.



Figure 5-1 / DASH System Map



Figure 5-2 / DASH System Map (Old Town Inset)



Figure 5-3 / Metrobus & Metrorail Service Map

WMATA (Metrobus/Metrorail)

Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) serves as the regional transit operator for the Washington, DC metropolitan region and operates two (2) Metrorail lines and 17 Metrobus routes within the City of Alexandria. The City of Alexandria is served by five (5) Metrorail stations, including the Potomac Yard-VT Metrorail Station that was opened in May 2023. WMATA service is funded in part by contributions from the City of Alexandria.

Fairfax Connector

In addition to WMATA, the Fairfax Connector also provides limited bus service in West Alexandria with routes connecting to the Van Dorn Metro and Mark Center Transit Center. More information on Fairfax Connector service in Alexandria is provided in Chapter 2.

Amtrak/VRE

Amtrak and VRE operate regional passenger rail service serving Union Station in the City of Alexandria. A map of the VRE System is included in Chapter 2.

Alexandria DOT & MetroAccess

The City of Alexandria's Department of Transportation and Environmental Services (T&ES) manages the City's *DOT* ADA paratransit service. The City uses a contractor, National Express Transit/Diamond Transportation, to provide the transportation service with dispatching software from VIA Mobility, Inc. to maintain client information and manage reservations. The DOT ADA paratransit service is available

within the cities of Alexandria, Fairfax and Falls Church, counties of Arlington and Fairfax, along with the District of Columbia. DOT paratransit service is available Monday-Friday from 5 - 1 a.m., Saturday from 6 - 1 a.m., and Sunday from 7 - 1 a.m. DOT operates approximately 17 paratransit vehicles during maximum service and recording approximately 33,635 passenger trips in FY 2023.

Additional paratransit service for regional trips is available with WMATA's MetroAccess service.

A.5 Fare Structure, Payments, and Purchasing

DASH

In September 2021, DASH transitioned to 100% fare-free operations on all DASH buses. The fare-free program will continue at least through FY 2025 as funded by the Transit Ridership Incentive Program (TRIP) from the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT) with local support from the City of Alexandria. No additional fare adjustments are proposed for FY 2025.

Prior to the elimination of fare collection in 2021, the DASH base fare was \$2.00 with free interagency transfers, discounts for Senior/Disabled SmarTrip cardholders and free rides for local high school students. DASH Passes provided unlimited monthly rides for \$45 per month and the DASH Bus app provided customers with the ability to purchase and validate fares on their smartphone devices.

Alexandria DOT

Paratransit trips within the City of Alexandria are provided at no cost through the DOT program. DOT passengers who are traveling outside of the City but within 5 miles are charged a one-way fare of \$4.00. Trips that extend beyond five miles of the City or any trips to/from Washington, DC require a one-way fare of \$6.00. DOT fares may be paid in cash at the time of the trip or by credit card in advance. Certified Personal Care Attendants (PCA) may ride with the DOT passenger at no cost.

Metrobus

As shown in Table A-X, Metrobus and Metrorail fares vary by service type, rider class, time of day, and distance traveled. WMATA also offers free or discounted transfers for riders requiring multiple buses or trains in a single trip, and a range of passes for unlimited use of Metrorail and Metrobus. Reduced fares are available for Seniors and Persons with Disabilities. Children under the age of five ride WMATA for free, and elementary, middle and high school students in Washington, DC also are able to ride at no cost under the "DC Kids Ride Free" Program.

Customer payment methods include cash (exact change), SmarTrip cards, and the SmarTrip app with Google Pay or Apple Wallet. Customers may purchase fares online, on the SmarTrip app, or in-person at fare vending machines provided at each Metrorail station, the Metro Center Sales Office, Commuter Stores, or selected retail outlets.

Table 5-7	/ Metrorail,	Metrobus	&	MetroAccess Fares
-----------	--------------	----------	---	--------------------------

Metrorail		
	Regular Fare	Reduced Fare*
Weekday (5:00 a.m 9:30 p.m.)	\$2.00 - \$6.00	\$1.00 - \$3.00
Weekday (After 9:30 p.m.) Weekends	\$2.00	\$1.00
Metrobus		
	Regular Fare	Reduced Fare*
Regular Routes	\$2.00	\$1.00
Express Routes	\$4.25	\$2.10
MetroAccess		
	Regular Fare	
Regular Routes*	Up to \$4.00	

Table 5-8 / Metrorail/Metrobus Passes

	Passes		
Metrorail & Metrobus		Regular Price	Reduced Price*
1-Day Unlimited Pass		\$13.00	
3-Day Unlimited Pass		\$28.00	
7-Day Unlimited Pass		\$58.00	
7-Day Short-Trip Pass		\$38.00	
Monthly Unlimited Pass		\$64.00 - \$192.00	
Regional Bus Pass			
7-Day Pass		\$12.00	\$6.00

Source: <u>www.wmata.com/fares</u>

A.6 Transit Asset Management – Existing Fleet and Facilities

The DASH bus fleet is currently comprised of 101 buses for use in daily revenue service, not including buses that have been replaced and are in the process of being decommissioned and retired. The FY 2024 peak service requirement for weekdays is 77 vehicles, so the spare ratio is roughly 31%, or 28% if Trolleys are excluded. DASH also has six emergency contingency spare buses, which are not included in the spare ratio calculation. A summary of the active and contingency bus fleets are shown in Table 4-1 in Chapter 4.

The bus fleet is comprised of mostly 35-foot buses (63%), but also includes 40-foot buses (27%) and several articulated 60-foot buses (4%). The DASH fleet includes a mix of clean diesel (35%), hybrid electric (51%), and battery electric buses (14%). DASH also operates six hybrid electric trolleys. To maintain State of Good Repair, DASH is required to replace each bus once it reaches the end of its 12-year useful life cycle.

Maintenance, storage, and parking for all DASH buses is located the William B. Hurd Transit Facility, a 160,000 square foot LEED Silver building, which is located at 3000 Business Center Drive, Alexandria, VA, 22314. Electric charging and gas refueling_takes place within the DASH facility.

A.7 Transit Safety & Security Programs

DASH has recently developed its first draft Agency Safety Plan (ASP), which outlines all policies and procedures relating to maintaining the safety and security of DASH staff and customers. It includes safety management policies, safety risk management/mitigation strategies, safety assurance monitoring, and safety promotion. This plan will be presented to the ATC Board of Directors in 2024 for their review.

DASH also strives to prepare its employees to respond effectively to potential security threats through training that includes how to prepare, observe, assess, and respond; the use of good judgment; application of due diligence; and capability to build on best practices identified in drills, training, rules, and procedures if confronted with a security incident or emergency. DASH is also developing a Transit Security Template and Assessment Review Toolkit (TSTART) Plan which includes the following provisions:

- Management and Supervisors communicate the DASH security plan and procedures to all employees and cultivate a culture of security awareness.
- DASH staff safeguards business and sensitive security information from release or dissemination to unauthorized persons.
- Management and security personnel maintain awareness of current National Terrorism Advisory System (NTAS) advisories, including bulletins and alerts, and communicate updates to all DASH personnel.
- DASH staff respond to security threats, which may be sourced from federal, state, and local government agencies or private sector resources, by implementing additional or altered security procedures, measures, and/or policies.
- New employees receive security training within 30 days of beginning employment. All employees receive periodic refresher security training every year. DASH Training staff provide

additional training to select employees based on their role within the agency and trains all employees to observe, assess, and report security threats and/or incidents.

Lastly, DASH also participates in the voluntary Baseline Assessment for Security Enhancement (BASE) program that is sponsored by the Transportation Security Administration (TSA). This program involves periodic assessments of agency policies and practices as well as unannounced testing of staff adherence to agency policies and best practices.

A.8 Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Programs

The following section outlines several current ITS programs and projects that seek to improve DASH operations, efficiency and customer experience.

Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD)/Automated Vehicle Locator (AVL) | Clever Devices

DASH has used Clever Devices for its CAD/AVL systems since 2015. CAD/AVL systems allow transit agencies to track the locations of their buses at all times and assign buses to specific runs or trips. The system provide information to CAD/AVL maps that are used by dispatch staff, as well as real-time bus arrival information to customer-facing websites, apps, and real-time displays through a RT-GTFS Feed. A separate scheduling software platform (e.g. Optibus) creates the route schedules and work assignments. This data is then imported into CleverWorks and reconfigured into the GTFS (General Transit Feed Specification) and Real-Time GTFS feeds that are used by CAD/AVL, DASH Tracker and third-party apps and websites.

These CAD/AVL systems also provide information to the bus drivers about their location, work assignment and if they are on time or not via a touch screen. Onboard hardware required for CAD/AVL includes a router, onboard computer, and interactive "TCH" display for operators. In addition to supporting CAD/AVL, the onboard computer also controls external headsigns or destination signs, internal LED signs and the onboard audio announcements.

Fixed-Route Scheduling Software | Optibus

DASH currently uses scheduling software from Optibus. Although the CAD/AVL System is critical for daily transit operations, it relies entirely upon schedule information that is provided by a fixed-route scheduling software platform. Optibus allows the DASH Planning & Scheduling team to create route schedules, vehicle blocks, operator runs and weekly roster assignments that ensure that all trips are covered as efficiently as possible. Optibus uses advanced algorithms to reduce costs while maintaining service reliability and operator satisfaction. It also allows for real-time scenario planning so that DASH staff can quickly evaluate potential changes and understand their impact on agency budget, staffing and fleet needs.

Automated Passenger Counters | Hella APC's

For its automated passenger counters (APC's), DASH utilizes Hella APC equipment on its buses, supporting by Ridecheck Plus (Clever Devices) and Hopthru ridership analysis software. APC's are video sensors mounted above each door on every bus that use advanced 3-D video technology to accurately track passenger boardings and alightings. Daily ridership data is stored on the onboard computer which

uploads the data when the bus returns to the garage. Ridership data is then aggregated by Ridecheck Plus and fed into the Hopthru ridership analytics platform that allows staff to see graphics and visualizations of ridership trends.

Garage Management | SmartYard (Clever Devices)

DASH uses Smartyard, a Clever Devices software product, to monitor buses within the DASH Facility. This platform includes a garage map so that the dispatch team is able to view the status and locations of all buses within the garage. Smartyard relies on sensors placed around the garage to be able to identify the exact location, including row and parking spot, of every DASH bus in the garage. It is also integrated with Fleetio so that bus statuses may be shown and buses that are deadlined are not put into service.

Headsigns | Luminator, Hanover Displays

All DASH buses are equipped with exterior headsigns, or destination signs, that provide information on the bus route and direction, including the final route terminus and any important "via" points that will help customer determine if the bus is going where they need it to go. These signs are also used for additional customer communications and service alerts.

Most DASH buses are equipped with one large destination sign on the front of the bus, one smaller LED sign on the curb side and a small rear LED sign. Newer and larger DASH buses may be equipped with additional signs on the driver side or a second sign on the curb side. Most DASH destination signs are provided by Luminator but the most recent DASH order was outfitted by Hanover Dispays with signs that have higher resolutions and colors. Destination sign content is managed

Surveillance Cameras | Apollo RSM

All DASH buses are equipped with interior/exterior video surveillance equipment from Apollo RSM that allows Operations and Safety staff to monitor live feeds from up to 8 different cameras. Video recordings are stored on a large hard drive on each bus and can be downloaded later for review, usually for accidents or other events. The current system requires manually removal of hard drives so that video history may be uploaded onto a desktop computer.

Real-Time Displays | CHK/Connectpoint, Redmon Group

In 2018, DASH began installing real-time bus arrival information kiosks and tablets at various highridership locations throughout the city. Major real-time displays from Redmon Group were funded by a DRPT Demonstration Grant and installed at City Hall, Southern Towers, NVCC-Alexandria, King Street Metro, Mark Center, NSF and other key stop locations. Smaller, solar-powered table displays provided by CHK/Connectpoint have also been installed in dozens of key stops across the City, many of which were funded by the NVTC I-395 Commuter Choice grant program. By the end of FY 2024, DASH expects to have real-time information displays at 70 stop locations, which combined account for over 50 percent of DASH average weekday ridership.

DASH Tracker | Cambridge Systematics

DASH launched a new real-time arrival website in 2021 called the DASH Tracker which can be viewed at <u>www.dashbus.com/tracker</u>. This DASH Traker website provides real-time bus arrival information directly from the DASH and WMATA RT-GTFS feeds with a higher degree of accuracy than most other third-party websites and apps. It also features route-level service alerts for major service disruptions. The DASH Tracker is prominently featured on the DASH website and is supported by Cambridge Systematics. Although DASH Tracker is the main real-time platform that is supported by DASH, other third-party platforms like the Transit App, Citymapper, Google maps, and Moovit are also able to display DASH real-time information on their respective platforms.

Trip Planning | Moovit

DASH also recently upgraded the trip planning tool that is featured on the DASH website. The new Moovit trip planner is embedded on the agency website and provides highly-accurate trip planning information on DASH, WMATA and all other regional transit providers. Although the main DASH trip planner is provided by Moovit, DASH has an open feed for its RT-GTFS so other platforms such as Apple Maps, Google Maps, and the WMATA Smartrip app are able to provide DASH trip planning information to their customers.

Fleet Management | Fleetio, Fleetwatch

For fleet management needs, DASH utilizes Fleetio and Fleetwatch. Fleetio allows DASH Maintenance staff to track maintenance needs and efforts for preventative maintenance, parts orders, and general repairs. This platform keeps a detailed fleet inventory for each bus and allows staff to easily update bus status so that Operations knows which buses are available for revenue service and which are not. Fleetwatch, which relies upon data that is automatically uploaded from buses in the service lane each night, is also used for tracking fluid consumption and vehicle mileages.

Support Fleet Management | Samsara

DASH recently has deployed the Samsara system to its fleet of support vehicles. This system will be used to track vehicle usage, see real-time vehicle locations, and to support video surveillance on the support fleet.

Transit Signal Priority | GTT Opticom

DASH and the City of Alexandria T&ES staff have been working over the last five years to install Transit Signal Prioritization (TSP) technology at key intersections on transit corridors throughout the City. This technology enables traffic signals to sense when a bus is approaching so that it can extend the green phase to allow the bus to move through more quickly. This allows for increased bus speeds and greater service reliability, particularly for bus routes that operate on more congested corridors. To date, the City of Alexandria has installed TSP technology at 54 intersections and has plans to expand to most intersections used by Metrobus or DASH buses by 2026.

Electric Bus Charge Management Pilot | WideSense

DASH secured a FY 2024 DRPT "Demonstration Project" grant to implement a Charge Management System Pilot project that will allow DASH to monitor electric bus charging status of individual buses and actively manage the distributing of electrical charging across multiple charging stations to better align with real-time service needs. This includes the installation of hardware equipment on the charging dispensers as well as software that will be used by DASH staff in the Operations, Maintenance and Planning Departments to better understand bus charging profiles and to deploy the electric buses more efficiently. DASH will be the first transit agency in the state to deploy this type of platform, which will improve reliability, and reduce charging costs by decreasing the number of buses charging during peak utility pricing periods. Furthermore, this technology will enable the DASH team to support a greater number of battery electric buses with less charging infrastructure, thus minimizing capital needs and achieve full fleet conversion to zero-emission buses.

Automated Wheelchair Securement Pilot | Q'Straint

DASH was also awarded funding for an FY 2024 DRPT "Demonstration Project" grant to install a state-ofthe-art automated wheelchair securement system on up to five DASH buses. This system is designed to allow passengers with mobility devices to safely secure themselves in the designated ADA seating area without operator involvement. When compared with current manual securement practices, this system will reduce potential liability for accidents due to operators incorrectly securing mobility devices and speed up the boarding process to reduce overall travel times and improve overall service reliability. Lastly, this system will also reduce the need for close contact between operators and passengers which greatly reduces the risk of viral transmission or other conflicts. If this pilot is successful, DASH would potentially begin ordering this system on future bus orders.

Bus Speed & Reliability Data Improvements

DASH is exploring technology platforms that will provide better visibility into bus speeds and reliability metrics. This will allow DASH and City staff to better understand where schedule adjustments and street or stop improvements could be implemented to prioritize buses over other modes and improve speeds and reliability.

A.9 Data Collection and Ridership/Revenue Reporting Method

DASH ridership data is currently collected using farebox data with operators manually pressing a button each time a passenger boards the bus. DASH Is currently in the process of validating the automated passenger counters (APC's) that have been installed or retrofitted on all DASH buses. These buses are equipped with 3-D video sensors that are mounted above each door to automatically count passengers as the board and alight. The APC validation effort will earn National Transit Database (NTD) certification with the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) by the end of FY 2024 such that DASH will be able to transition to using APC data for FY 2025 and discontinue farebox-based ridership data collection.

A.10 Coordination with Other Transportation Service Providers

City of Alexandria and DASH staff closely coordinate on the planning and provision of transit service with regional providers like WMATA Metrobus and Metrorail that operate within the City. DASH and the City
are also in regular communication with other providers in adjacent jurisdictions such as ART (Arlington County) and the Fairfax Connector (Fairfax County). Alexandria will continue coordination efforts with regional agencies to support ATC's mission into the future, and to provide connecting service Metrorail stations, giving convenient access to the regional transit system.

Additional information on other regional transit providers that operate within the City of Alexandria is included in Chapter 2.

A.11 Public Outreach/ Engagement/ Involvement

The City of Alexandria and DASH both have comprehensive programs for soliciting public engagement for key transit service planning decisions, which have been used to for community outreach for the Alexandria Transit Vision Plan, Alexandria Mobility Plan, and the Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan.

Methods that are typically used for public engagement by DASH and City staff include:

- Website (Multilingual)
- Social Media Posts
- Email Distribution Lists
- Newspapers (Multilingual)
- Flyers at Bus Stops (Multilingual)
- Alerts on Real-Time Information Displays
- Onboard Posters (Multilingual)
- Onboard Announcements (Multilingual)
- Pop-Up Events at Bus Stops
- Bus Ride-A-Longs
- Community Meetings/Open Houses (Multilingual)
- Public Hearings (Multilingual)
- Outreach to Community Groups representing non-traditional outreach participants
- Staff Presentations at Community Group Meetings
- Tabling at Major City Events

Feedback collected through outreach processes is carefully documented and reviewed by staff. Staff incorporates feedback into final decisions when appropriate, but includes all public comments in the materials that are presented to the ATC Board of Directors prior to their consideration of adoption.

A.12 Current Initiatives

Information on Current City and DASH Initiatives is provided in Chapter 1.

Appendix B



Line 30 / Old Town Circulator (OTC)

(a.k.a. "Line N3" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Residents within ¼ Mile:	49,600 resid
Low Income Residents:	5,952 (12.0 µ
Minority Residents:	25,395 (51.2
Senior Residents:	6,115 (12.3 µ
Jobs within ¼ Mile:	39,446 jobs

49,600 residents 5,952 (12.0 percent) 25,395 (51.2 percent) 5,115 (12.3 percent)

Current Service Levels:

Route Description:

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		5am – 12am
AM/PM Peak	10-20 min.*	
Midday	30 min.	
Evening	30 min.	
Saturday	30 min.	6am – 12am
Sunday	30 min.	6am – 12am

*Peak service between Van Dorn Metro and Landmark only runs every 20 minutes due to short trips.











African American/Black
Caucasian or White
Hispanic or Latino
Asian
Middle Eastern/North African
Other
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander
American Indian/Native American

African American/Black



Caucasian or White	Hispanic or Latino	Asian	Middle Ea	ster
		4.52K	2.98K	
		Multi-Racial C	Other	Nati
				0.36K
17.31K	14.30K	1.74K 0).98K	Am



Line 31 / Old Town Circulator (OTC)

(a.k.a. "Line N4" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Route Description:	NVCC-Alexandria to Braddock Metro via King Street

Residents within ¼ Mile: 38,900 residents 3,618 (9.3 percent) Low Income Residents: 12,215 (31.4 percent) 5,856 (15.2 percent) 27,200 jobs

Current Service Levels:

Minority Residents:

Senior Residents:

Jobs within ¼ Mile:

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		5am – 12:30am
AM/PM Peak	10 min.	
Midday	15 - 30 min.	
Evening	30 min.	
Saturday	15 - 30 min.	6am – 12am
Sunday	15 - 30 min.	6am – 12am

*Line 31 to run every 15 minutes from NVCC to King Street Metro during off-peaks and weekends.







Overall Satisfaction



Race and Ethnicity

African American/Black
Caucasian or White
Hispanic or Latino
Asian
Middle Eastern/North African
Multi-Racial
Other
American Indian/Native American

African American/Black

Caucasian or White	Hispanic or Latino	Asian	N	Middle
		3.18K	1	I.67K
			Other	
16.25K	12.99K	0.77K	0.75K	



Line 32 (a.k.a "Line N1" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Route Description:	Landmark Mall to King Street Metro via
Residents within ¼ Mile:	40,100 residents
Low Income Residents:	4,932 (12.3 percent)
Minority Residents:	15,960 (39.8 percent)
Senior Residents:	5,252 (13.3 percent)
Jobs within ¼ Mile:	39,900 jobs

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		5am – 10pm
AM/PM Peak	30 min.	
Midday	60 min.	
Evening	30 min.	
Saturday	60 min.	7am – 10pm
Sunday	60 min.	7am – 10pm



Eisenhower Avenue





Line 32

Overall Satisfaction

3.4% — Very satisfied 19.9% -1.<mark>5</mark>% Somewhat satisfied Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Very dissatisfied Somewhat dissatisfied - 75.2%

Most Important Reason for Riding



r		3.55K
	2.7	78K
•	1.85K	
D	1.39K	
y	1.37K	
e		
S		
e		
01	K	2K

Race and Ethnicity

• African American/Black • Caucasian or White • Hispanic or Latino • Asian • Other • American Indian/Native American • Multi-Racial

African American/Black



Caucasian or White
2.19K





Line 33 (a.k.a "Line N5" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Route Description:	King Street Metro to Potomac Yard via Mount Vernon Avenue
Noute Description.	king street metro to i otomae rara via mount vemon Avenue

Residents within ¼ Mile:20Low Income Residents:1,Minority Residents:5,Senior Residents:2,Jobs within ¼ Mile:7,

20,600 residents 1,586 (7.7 percent) 5,892 (28.6 percent) 2,101 (10.2 percent) **7,400 jobs**

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		6am – 10pm
AM/PM Peak	30 min.	
Midday	30 min.	
Evening	60 min.	
Saturday	30 min.	7am – 10pm
Sunday	60 min.	7am – 10pm









• African American/Black • Caucasian or White • Hispanic or Latino • American Indian/Native American • Asian • Middle Eastern/North African









Line 34 (a.k.a "Line N6" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Route Description:

Lee Center to Braddock Road Metro via City Hall

Residents within ¼ Mile:	19,2
Low Income Residents:	1,96
Minority Residents:	4,59
Senior Residents:	3,02
Jobs within ¼ Mile:	14,6

19,241 residents
1,963 (10.2 percent)
4,598 (23.9 percent)
3,021 (15.7 percent)
14,600 jobs

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		5am – 10pm
AM/PM Peak	30 min.	
Midday	30 min.	
Evening	30 min.	
Saturday	30 min.	6:30am – 10:11pm
Sunday	60 min.	7am – 10pm









• Caucasian or White • African American/Black • Hispanic or Latino • Asian • Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander • Other • Multi-Racial

Caucasian or White

African American/Black	Н
1.76K	0.





Line 35 (a.k.a "Line N7" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Route Description:

Van Dorn Metro to Pentagon via Beauregard Street

Residents within ¼ Mile: Low Income Residents: Minority Residents: Senior Residents: Jobs within ¼ Mile: **45,647 residents** 7,805 (17.1 percent) 25,928 (56.8 percent) 4,747 (10.4 percent) **14,600 jobs**

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		4am – 1am
AM/PM Peak	10 min.	
Midday	10 min.	
Evening	30 min.	
Saturday	15 min.	6am – 12:30am
Sunday	15 min.	6am – 11:30pm









• African American/Black • Hispanic or Latino • Caucasian or White • Asian • Middle Eastern/North African • Multi-Racial • American Indian/Native American • Other • Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander

African American/Black



Hispanic or Latino	Caucasian or White	Asian	Middle Eastern/N	Nort
		9.20K 8.06K		
		Multi-Racial	America	Ot
				0.6
35.23K	19.80K	3.64K	1.50K	

Line 36A/B (a.k.a "Line N10/N11" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Routo	Description:
Roule	Description:

Residents within ¼ Mile: Low Income Residents: Minority Residents: Senior Residents: Jobs within ¼ Mile:

39,400 residents 5,083 (12.9 percent) 16,351 (41.5 percent) 3,782 (9.6 percent) 11,300 jobs

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		6am – 11pm
AM/PM Peak	15 min./30 min.	
Midday	15 min./30 min.	
Evening	15 min./30 min.	
Saturday	15 min.	7am – 10:30pm
Sunday	15 min.	6:58am – 10:32pm

Mark Center to Potomac Yard via Shirlington









• African American/Black • Hispanic or Latino • Caucasian or White • Asian • Middle Eastern/North African • Multi-Racial • American Indian/Native American

African American/Black

Hispanic or Latino	Caucasian c
8.81K	5.41K





Line 36B

Overall Satisfaction

5.1% 1.9% -9.7% -Very satisfied 1.2% Somewhat satisfied Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Very dissatisfied Somewhat dissatisfied - 82.2%

Most Important Reason for Riding

Routes that go places you need to go
Frequency of service (how often the buses are ru
Service Reliability
Affordability
Service hours (buses running during early morni
Nothing would encourage me to use DASH more
Fuel prices
Bus stop amenities (benches

)			8.41K	
•			8.08K	
,			6.99K	
/		3.21K		
•	-	2.86K		
9				
S				
S				
0	K		: 5K	







Line 102 (a.k.a "Line N22" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Mark Center to King Street via Seminary & Mark Center Express

Residents within ¼ Mile: Low Income Residents: Minority Residents: Senior Residents: Jobs within ¼ Mile: **17,800 residents** 2,100 (11.8 percent) 8,793 (49.4 percent) 2,172 (12.2 percent) **9,200 jobs**

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		5am – 8pm
AM/PM Peak	30 min/15 min.	
Midday	60 min/No Service	
Evening	No Service	
Saturday	No Service	No Service
Sunday	No Service	No Service











• African American/Black • Caucasian or White • Hispanic or Latino • Middle Eastern/North African • American Indian/Native American • Asian

African American/Black

Caucasian or White
2.41K





Line 103 (a.k.a "Line N23" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Route Description:	Braddock Road to Pentagon via Parkfairfax
Residents within ¼ Mile:	21,900 residents
Low Income Residents:	2,672 (12.2 percent)
Minority Residents:	6,198 (28.3 percent)
Senior Residents:	2,190 (10.0 percent)
Jobs within ¼ Mile:	3,200 jobs
_	Frequency











Caucasian or White

	African American/Black	Hi	
	2.19K	1.	





Line 104 (a.k.a "Line N24" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Route Description:	Braddock Road to Pentagon via Parkfairfax	
Residents within ¼ Mile:	17,367 residents	
Low Income Residents:	1,059 (6.1 percent)	
Minority Residents:	3,560 (20.5 percent)	
Senior Residents:	2,275 (13.1 percent)	
Jobs within ¼ Mile:	3,300 jobs	
	Residents within ¼ Mile: Low Income Residents: Minority Residents: Senior Residents:	

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		6:15am – 8:15pm
AM/PM Peak	30 min.	
Midday	No Service	
Evening	No Service	
Saturday	No Service	No Service
Sunday	No Service	No Service











Frequency of service (how often the buses are ru
Service Reliability
Routes that go places you need to go
Affordability
Service hours (buses running during early morni
Nothing would encourage me to use DASH more
C



Caucasian or White Middle Eastern/North African African American/Black Hispanic or Latino Asian

Caucasian or White





n/North African	African American/Bl	Hispanic or Latino
	0.32K	0.32K
	Asian	
	0.16K	

King Street Trolley (KST)

(a.k.a "Line KST" in 2022 ATV Plan)

Route Description:

King Street Metro to Old Town Waterfront

Residents within ¼ Mile: Low Income Residents: Minority Residents: Senior Residents: Jobs within ¼ Mile:

6,627 residents 524 (7.9 percent) 1,160 (17.5 percent) 1,213 (18.3 percent) 13,400 jobs

	Frequency	Span (Approx.)
Weekday		11am – 11pm
AM/PM Peak	15 min. (No AM Peak Service)	
Midday	15 min.	
Evening	15 min.	
Saturday	15 min.	11am – 11pm
Sunday	15 min.	11am – 11pm









Caucasian or White African American/Black Hispanic or Latino Asian Middle Eastern/North African Other Multi-Racial

Caucasian or White





Appendix C

DASH Onboard Survey Final Report (2023)

DASH On-Board Customer Survey Summary Report

February 1, 2024





Table of Contents

Background and Purpose	4
Summary of Findings	5
DASH Customer Base	5
Trip Demographics	10
Transit Reliance	23
Trip-Making Characteristics	26
Access and Egress to Transit	29
Transfers	29
DASH Free Fare, Attributes, and Satisfaction	31
Riding DASH	32
Methodology	34
Sampling Plan	35
Survey Methodology	35
Data Cleaning and Quality Control	
Data Cleaning and Geolocation Validation	
Survey Expansion	
Data Limitations	
Final Survey Totals	37
Lessons Learned	37
Appendix	
Appendix 1: Minority and Geographical Areas	
Appendix 2: Rider Profiles and Figures	46
Demographics	46
Appendix 3: Mode and Line Profiles	172
Appendix 4: Survey Tool	
Appendix 5: Sampling Plan	
Weekday Sampling Plan	
Saturday Sampling Plan	
Sunday Sampling Plan	201

Appendix 6: Weighting Methodology	
Weekday Weights	
Saturday Weights	
Sunday Weights	

Background and Purpose

In 2023, the Alexandria Transit Company, or DASH, conducted a comprehensive customer intercept survey to provide information on customer demographics, travel patterns, and overall satisfaction with DASH services. This origin and destination (O-D) study was conducted on all DASH bus lines and the King Street Trolley. Interviewers administered intercept surveys via tablet computers, asking riders questions specific to their current trip, as well as questions regarding DASH services overall and additional sociodemographic questions. In total, 2,983 surveys were completed during the fielding period of October 11 to November 19¹.

Large scale O-D surveys can provide detailed information about travel patterns within the DASH system, including origin to destination trip data, boarding and alighting stops, modes of access and egress, number of transfers and transfer points, and the impact of fare-free service. Additionally, findings from O-D surveys can help DASH make decisions and service changes while ensuring rider populations protected under Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 are not negatively impacted.

This document summarizes the findings of this survey. Specifically, it will review:

- **Summary of Findings**, including the entirety of the survey in total and broken out by mode, and key questions by demographic categories;
- Methodology, including the timeline and process from launch to reporting, covering survey and sampling plan development, training procedures, data collection, trip validation, and weighting and data processing;
- **Lessons Learned**, reviewing areas of potential methodological improvement when conducting future DASH O-D studies;
- Appendix 1, Tables for Minority and Geographical Areas
- Appendix 2, Rider Profiles for rider groups of interest and detailed demographic figures;
- Appendix 3, Mode and Line Profiles for lines;
- Appendix 4, a copy of the final intercept questionnaire;
- Appendix 5, a copy of the sampling plan; and
- Appendix 6, a detailed outline of the weighting plan with the final weighting tables.

¹ Note that data collection was not conducted on November 11, due to the holiday schedule for Veterans Day.

Summary of Findings

This section summarizes the results of the O-D survey conducted from October 11 to November 19 at the systemwide and mode levels. All statistics, unless otherwise stated, represent responses weighted up to an average month of ridership. The majority of these findings are presented systemwide and by:

- Bus
- King Street Trolley

Additionally, where applicable, Census data for Alexandria City has been used for demographic comparison, using the ACS 1-Year Estimate PUMS Microdata sample, vintage 2022.

Due to rounding, all columns may not add up to exactly 100 percent. Please note that in the cases of a small sample size (n<50), statistical significance is not shown.

DASH Customer Base

Table 1 shows the highest proportions of home ZIP codes by system overall, by bus, and by King Street Trolley, with the subsequent maps showing an overlay of these regions of operation.

ZIP Codes								
System (A) (n=2,596)		Bus (B) (n=2,327)		King St Trolley (C) (n=269)				
ZIP CODE	%	ZIP CODE	%	ZIP CODE	%			
22304	17%	22304	18%	22314	22%			
22314	17%	22314	16%	22301	9%			
22311	13%	22311	14%	22304	6%			
22302	9%	22302	9%	22302	3%			
22312	7%	22312	7%	All others*	60%			

Table 1: Home or Local Zip Code

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher

than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

*No other single ZIP code represented >2% of riders





Figure 2 - Weighted Responses by Home ZIP Code (System)



Figure 3 - Weighted Responses by Home ZIP Code (Bus)







Trip Demographics

Overall, around three-fourths of customers were POC or non-white (74%); however, this proportion was greater among Bus customers (77%) than King Street Trolley customers (32%). Riders were asked to identify their race and ethnicity. Overall, the largest proportion of DASH customers are African American or Black (38%), although bus customers were significantly more likely to be Black or African American (40%) than King Street Trolley customers (15%). Similarly, bus customers were more likely than King Street Trolley customers to identify as Hispanic or Latino (24%, compared to 11%), Middle Eastern or North African (4%, compared to 1%), or multi-racial (2%, compared to <1%).

Table 2: Race and Ethnicity

Q22. What is your race or ethnicity?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=155,460)*	System (n=2,436)	Bus (B) (n=2,185)	King St Trolley (C) (n=251)
African American or Black	20%	38%	40% ^c	15%
Caucasian or White	50%	26%	23%	68% ^B
Hispanic or Latino	17%	23%	24% ^c	11%
Asian	6%	6%	6%	5%
Middle Eastern/North African	NA	4%	4% ^c	1%
Multi-racial	6%	2%	2% ^c	<1%
American Indian or Alaska Native	0%	1%	1%	-
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	0%	<1%	<1%	-
Other	1%	1%	1%	<1%
Net: POC/Non-white	50%	74%	77% ^c	32%

Base=Those answering

Responses are tabulated to match Census format. Categories shown do not overlap as a result.

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Census data is formatted as Hispanic/Latino alone, then by other solo codes.




Figure 6 - Race and Ethnicity by Weighted Responses and Percentage



When asked their gender identity, customers systemwide were roughly evenly split between male (51%) and female (48%), with an additional 1% stating they were nonbinary. While bus customers had the same near even split (51% male, 48% female), King Street Trolley had significantly more male customers (61%, compared to 51% for bus).

Table 3: Gender

Q23. What is your gender identity?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=155,460)	System (n=2,545)	Bus (B) (n=2,285)	King St Trolley (C) (n=260)
Male	49%	51%	51%	61% ^B
Female	51%	48%	48% ^c	39%
Nonbinary	NA	1%	1%	-

Base=Those answering





Figure 8 - Gender Identity by Weighted Responses and Percentage



Customers, on average, were 37 years of age. However, customers on the King Street Trolley tended to be slightly older (44.2 years of age on average) compared to bus customers (36.7 years of age on average). Reflecting this, bus customers were more likely to fall into the 23-34 age range (26%, compared to 18%), while King Street Trolley customers were more likely to fall into the 55-64 (19%, compared to 11%) and 65-74 (12%, compared to 4%) age ranges.

Q24. What is your age?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=)	System (n=2,432)	Bus (B) (n=2,187)	King St Trolley (C) (n=245)
Under 16	16%	1%	1%	-
16-17	2%	7%	7%	-
18-24	6%	19%	19%	16%
25-34	19%	26%	26% ^c	18%
35-44	20%	20%	20%	18%
45-54	13%	12%	11%	15%
55-64	11%	11%	11%	19% ^B
65-74	7%	5%	4%	12% ^B
75 or over	6%	1%	1%	2%
Average	NA	37.1	36.7	44.2 ^B
Median	NA	33.4	33.0	42.6

Table 4: Aae

Base=Those answering





Figure 10 - Age by Weighted Responses and Percentage



While DASH system riders overall represent a broad range of educational attainment levels, King Street Trolley customers are significantly more likely than bus customers to have a Bachelor's degree or higher (70% vs. 34%).

Table 5: Level of Education

Q25. What is your highest level of education?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=155,460)	System (n=2,335)	Bus (B) (n=2,098)	King St Trolley (C) (n=237)
Less than high school	22%	11%	12%	-
High school diploma or GED	9%	26%	27% ^c	6%
Some college	9%	20%	21% ^C	13%
Associate's or technical school degree	4%	7%	7%	10%
Net: Bachelor's Degree or more	56%	36%	34%	70% ^B
Bachelor's or undergraduate degree	28%	18%	18%	26% ^B
Some graduate school	NA	4%	4%	9% ^в
Graduate or professional degree	28%	14%	12%	35% ^B

Base=Those answering









The median household income reported by DASH customers is \$38,800. However, King Street Trolley customers reported a significantly greater average household income (median of \$105,600) compared to bus customers (\$37,300). Unsurprisingly, then, King Street Trolley customers were more likely than bus customers to report a household income of \$100,000 or more (52% vs. 14%). In comparison, around two-thirds of all DASH customers (64%) were below 100% of the poverty level², with this being significantly greater among bus customers (66%) than King Street Trolley customers (31%).

² Calculated as two times the federal poverty threshold, or 2*\$29,950 = \$59,900. The closest comparable income break was Q26(09), \$50,000 to less than \$75,000. Any customer who responded Q26(01-08) was therefore considered under 100% of Poverty Level, and any who responded Q26(09-13) was considered above 100% of the Poverty Level.

Table 6: Household Income

Q26. Which of the following BEST describes your TOTAL ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD INCOME in 2022 before taxes?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=80,342)	System (A) (n=1,587)	Bus (B) (n=1,416)	King St Trolley (C) (n=171)
Less than \$15,000	4%	18%	19% ^c	6%
\$15,000 to less than \$20,000	2%	8%	9% ^c	3%
\$20,000 to less than \$25,000	2%	5%	5%	3%
\$25,000 to less than \$30,000	2%	7%	7% ^c	2%
\$30,000 to less than \$35,000	3%	6%	6% ^c	1%
\$35,000 to less than \$40,000	1%	8%	8%	7%
\$40,000 to less than \$45,000	2%	5%	5%	6%
\$45,000 to less than \$50,000	2%	7%	7%	3%
\$50,000 to less than \$75,000	13%	12%	12%	11%
\$75,000 to less than \$100,000	12%	7%	7%	6%
\$100,000 to less than \$150,000	19%	8%	8%	20% ^B
\$150,000 to less than \$200,000	12%	4%	3%	11% ^B
\$200,000 or more	21%	4%	3%	21% ^B
Average	NA	\$58.2K	\$53.9K	\$113.0K ^B
Median	NA	\$38.8K	\$37.3K	\$105.6K
Below 100% of Poverty Level	NA	64%	66% ^c	31%

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Figure 13 - Household Income by Weighted Responses



Nearly eight in ten (79%) trips are taken by customers who report they are employed. This was similar across both bus and King Street Trolley (79% and 77%, respectively). However, King Street Trolley did see a greater percentage of customers who were retired (17%, compared to 5% bus), while a greater percentage of bus customers were students, either employed (8%, compared to 4% King Street Trolley) or unemployed (9%, compared to 5% King Street Trolley). Additionally, bus customers were more likely to report being unemployed, retired, or furloughed (5%) compared to King Street Trolley customers (1%). Other employment breakouts are shown in Table 7.

Table 7: Employment Status

Q21. What is your current employment status?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=155,460)	System (A) (n=2,465)	Bus (B) (n=2,208)	King St Trolley (C) (n=257)
Net: Employed	63%	79%	79%	77%
Employed full-time	NA	59%	58%	64%
Employed part-time	NA	13%	13%	9%
Student and also employed	NA	8%	8% ^c	4%
Self-Employed	NA	<1%	<1%	1%
Net: Not Employed	37%	21%	21%	23%
Student and not employed	NA	9%	9% ^c	5%
Retired	NA	6%	5%	17% ^B
Unemployed, furloughed, or disabled	NA	5%	5% ^c	1%
Homemaker	NA	2%	2%	1%

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher

than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

As mentioned, a higher percentage of bus customers were students (17%) compared to King Street Trolley customers (8%). Overall, fewer than two in ten DASH customers were students (16%).

Table 8: Student Status

Q21. What is your current employment status? (Student Status)	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=155,460)	System (A) (n=2,465)	Bus (B) (n=2,208)	King St Trolley (C) (n=257)
Net: Student	20%	16%	17% ^c	8%
Net: Not a student	80%	84%	83%	92% ^B

Base=Full-time students and answering

Customers who were employed were asked to report which days of the week they worked from home, rather than in an office. Roughly four in ten DASH customers (39%) reported ever working from home. This proportion is significantly greater among King Street Trolley customers than bus customers (52% vs. 38%). For King Street Trolley customers, between two to three in ten reported working from home any of the days Monday through Friday (22%-27%). For Bus customers, only one to two in ten reported the same (14%-18%).

Q21A. On which days of the week, Sunday through Saturday, when your workplace is open do you typically work from home?	System (A) (n=1,879)	Bus (B) (n=1,689)	King St Trolley (C) (n=190)
Sunday	6%	6%	5%
Monday	18%	17%	27% ^B
Tuesday	15%	14%	25% ^B
Wednesday	16%	16%	22%
Thursday	15%	15%	23% ^B
Friday	18%	18%	24%
Saturday	6%	6%	5%
It varies	12%	11%	20% ^B
Ever work from home	39%	38%	52% ^B
Never work from home	61%	62% ^c	48%

Table 9: Commuter/Hybrid/Work from Home Status

Base=Those who are employed and answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Three questions were asked to identify Limited English Proficiency (LEP) customers. First, customers were asked whether they predominantly speak a language other than English at home. One-third of DASH customers overall (34%) do primarily speak a language other than English at home. This proportion is greater among bus customers than King Street Trolley customers (36% vs. 15%).

Table 10: English Fluency

Q18. Do you predominantly speak a language other than English at home?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=145,686)	System (A) (n=2,514)	Bus (B) (n=2,251)	King St Trolley (C) (n=263)
Yes	31%	34%	36% ^c	15%
No	69%	66%	64%	85% ^B

Base=Those answering

Next, customers were asked how well they speak English. Customers who responded that they predominantly speak English at home were coded as speaking English "Very well". Overall, the vast majority of DASH customers indicated they speak English "Very well" (86%). However, bus customers were more likely than King Street Trolley customers to report speaking English less than very well (14% vs. 5%).

Q18/Q20. How well do you speak English?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=44,757)	System (A) (n=2,505)	Bus (B) (n=2,242)	King St Trolley (C) (n=263)
Very well	64%	86%	86%	95% ^B
Well	23%	9%	9% ^c	4%
Not well	10%	5%	5% ^c	1%
Not at all	3%	<1%	<1%	-
Net: Less than very well	36%	14%	14% ^c	5%

Table 11: English Proficiency

Base= Those Answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Customers who reported not speaking a language other than English at home [Q18(02)] are included in "Very well"

Customers who predominantly spoke a language other than English at home were then asked what language. Overall, about two in ten (18%) DASH customers reported speaking Spanish (including all dialects). Amharic (4%) and Arabic (3%) were the next two most frequent primary languages. Other languages are shown in Table 12 below.

Table 12: Primary Language

Q18/Q19. Which language?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=80,342)	System (A) (n=2,361)	Bus (B) (n=2.107)	King St Trolley (C) (n=254)
English	67%	70%	69%	88% ^B
Spanish (including all dialects)	11%	18%	19% ^c	9%
Amharic	4%	4%	4% ^c	1%
Arabic	3%	3%	3% ^c	<1%
French (including all dialects)	1%	2%	2%	1%
Chinese (including all dialects)	1%	1%	1%	<1%
Korean	1%	<1%	1%	-
Vietnamese	<1%	<1%	<1%	-
Russian	<1%	<1%	<1%	1%
Other	11%	1%	1%	<1%

Base=Those who speak another language and answering

As part of the access and egress questions, customers could report the use of a mobility aid to access public transit. Overall, only 1% of customers reported using a mobility aid to access public transit, which was relatively consistent across both modes. Please note that this is for bus and trolley specifically – paratransit was not surveyed as part of this study.

Table 13: Disability Status

Q3/Q10. Used a mobility aid to access public transit	System (A) (n=2,672)	Bus (B) (n=2,394)	Trolley (C) (n=278)
Yes	1%	1%	<1%
No	99%	99%	100%

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

About three in four customers (77%) live with at least one other person, with the median number of people in the household being 3. Bus customers were more likely to have 5 or more people in their household (17%) compared to King Street Trolley customers (8%).

Table 14: Household Size

Q17. Including YOU, how many people <u>live</u> in your household?	Census (Alexandria City PUMS) (n=80,342)	System (A) (n=2,307)	Bus (B) (n=2,062)	King St Trolley (C) (n=245)
1	56%	23%	23%	19%
2	24%	25%	24%	37% ^B
3	10%	21%	20%	22%
4	8%	16%	16%	15%
5	3%	9%	10% ^c	3%
6	<1%	3%	3% ^c	1%
7	<1%	1%	1%	2%
8 or more	<1%	3%	3%	2%
Net: 2 or more	44%	77%	77%	81%
Average	NA	2.9	2.9	2.7
Median	NA	3.0	3.0	2.0

Base=Those answering

The largest proportion of DASH customer households have two adults (41%), which is greater for King Street Trolley customers (52%) than for bus customers (40%), where three in ten customers are living in a household with only one adult (31%). The median number of adults in each household is 2.

Table 15: Number of Adults

Q17/Q17AA. How many of these people living in your household are 18 years of age or older?	System (A) (n=2,257)	Bus (B) (n=2,015)	King St Trolley (C) (n=242)
1	31%	31% ^C	22%
2	41%	40%	52% ^B
3	18%	18%	16%
4	7%	7%	7%
5	2%	2% ^c	<1%
6	1%	1%	1%
7	<1%	<1%	1%
8 or more people 18 years of age or older	1%	1%	1%
Net: 2 or more	69%	69%	78% ^B
Average	2.2	2.2	2.2
Median	2.0	2.0	2.0

Base= Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Almost four in ten DASH customers (38%) reported having children in their household, with bus customers reporting this significantly more (39%) than King Street Trolley customers (27%). The average number of children per household was just below 1 (0.1).

Q17/Q17A. Number of children in household	System (A) (n=2,257)	Bus (B) (n=2,015)	King St Trolley (C) (n=242)
0	62%	61%	73% ^B
1	16%	17%	12%
2	15%	15% ^c	9%
3	5%	5%	5%
4	1%	1%	-
5	1%	1%	<1%
6	<1%	<1%	-
7	<1%	<1%	-
Net: 1 or more	38%	39% ^c	27%
Average	0.7	0.7 ^c	0.5

Table 16: Number of Children

Base= Those answering

Transit Reliance

Transit reliance is the level of reliance on public transportation that an individual has in order to travel. The questions used to determine transit reliance for this study were:

- Q11, "If DASH had not been available today, how would you have made this trip?";
- Q14, "Do you have access to a vehicle you could have used to make this trip?";
- Q15, "Do you have a valid driver's license?"; and
- Q17B, "How many cars, motorcycles, or vehicles do you have access to in your household?"

Depending on the responses to these questions, resident customers were categorized as being either::

- Extremely Reliant would not have made the trip if DASH was not available,
- Highly Reliant would have made the trip another way, but do not have a valid driver's license,
- Moderately Reliant do have a driver's license, but do not have access to a working vehicle,
- Slightly Reliant have a working vehicle but would not have been able to use it for this trip, and
- Not Reliant would have driven themselves to make this trip were DASH not available.

The full logic for the coding of responses can be found in the footnotes of Table 17.

Overall, one-half of DASH customers are not transit reliant (50%). However, 38% of Bus customers are highly or extremely reliant (28% highly, 10% extremely), significantly greater than King Street Trolley customers (13% and 6%, respectively).

The lines that had the greatest proportion of extremely reliant customers were Line 34 (17%), Line 36 (15%), Line 32 (13%) and Line 33 (13%).

Table 17: Transit Reliance

Transit Reliance	System (A) (n=2,895)	Bus (B) (n=2,591)	King St Trolley (C) (n=304)
Extremely Reliant	9%	10% ^c	6%
Highly Reliant	27%	28% ^c	13%
Moderately Reliant	11%	11%	7%
Slightly Reliant	3%	3%	7% ^B
Not Reliant	50%	48%	67% ^B

Base=Those answering

Levels of transit reliance are defined as follows:

Extremely: [Q11(96)]

Highly: [Q11(02-95,99,NA) AND Q15(02)]

Moderately: [Q11(02-03,05-95,98-99,NA) AND Q17B(0) AND Q15(01,98,NA)]

Slightly: [Q11(02-95,NA) AND ((Q17B(1-5,98) AND Q14(02) AND Q15(01,98,NA))) OR (Q17B(98,NA) AND Q15(01,98,NA))]

Not: [Q11(01,04) OR (Q11(02-95,99) AND Q17B(1-5,98) AND (Q14(01,98) OR Q15(01,98)))]

One in ten customers (10%) stated that they would not have made this trip if DASH had not been available, a proportion that is greater for bus customers (10%) than for King Street Trolley customers (6%). The primary backup mode was a rideshare service, such as Uber or Lyft (30%), followed by another transit provider (26%). The latter was an option for a larger percentage of bus customers (27%) than King Street Trolley customers (14%). However, King Street Trolley customers were more likely to report that they would have walked to their destination (54%) than bus customers (19%), which makes sense given the King Street Trolley is often used to move around Oldtown, rather than making long trips. Lastly, bus customers were far more likely to report riding with someone to their final destination (14%) compared to King Street Trolley customers (2%).

Table 18: Alternate Mode of Transportation

Q11. If DASH had not been available today, how would you have made this trip?	System (A) (n=2,811)	Bus (B) (n=2,511)	King St Trolley (C) (n=300)
Rideshare service such as Uber, Lyft, or Taxi	30%	30%	25%
Other transit provider (that is, Metrobus, Metrorail)	26%	27% ^c	14%
Walk	21%	19%	54% ^B
Ride with someone to your final destination	13%	14% ^C	2%
Drive a vehicle directly to your final destination	10%	10%	6%
Bike or scooter to your final destination	3%	3%	3%
Would not make this trip	10%	10% ^C	6%

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Customers were also asked about the number of buses, trains, or trollies they would take to reach their final destination. The majority of customers only used one route and did not transfer (61%). As expected, very few customers took three or more routes as a part of their trip (6%).

Table 19: Number of Routes

Q4. How many buses, trains, or trollies will you take to get to your FINAL DESTINATION?	System (A) (n=2,905)	Bus (B) (n=2,602)	King St Trolley (C) (n=303)
1 route	61%	61%	56%
2 routes	33%	33%	35%
3 routes	6%	5%	8%
4 routes	<1%	<1%	-
5 or more routes	<1%	<1%	-
Net: Transferred	39%	39%	44%
Net: 3 or more routes	6%	6%	8%
Average number of routes	1.5	1.5	1.5
Median number of routes	1.0	1.0	1.0

Base=Those answering

As part of travel demographics and transit reliance, riders were asked about their access to working vehicles. Almost four in ten customers (37%) did not have access to a personal vehicle in their household. This was significantly greater for bus customers (38%) compared to King Street Trolley customers (19%), whereas the majority of King Street Trolley customers had two vehicles available (37%, significantly greater than bus customers' 19%). Unsurprisingly, this highlights the importance of the DASH bus as a mode of transit, especially considering that those who are extremely, highly, or moderately transit reliant had were significantly more likely to report not having a vehicle in their household (67%), compared to those who are not transit reliant (5%).

Table 20: Household Vehicle Access

Q17B. How many cars, motorcycles, or vehicles do you have access to in your household?	System (A) (n=2,292)	Bus (B) (n=2,049)	King St Trolley (C) (n=243)
0	37%	38% ^c	19%
1	38%	38%	34%
2	20%	19%	37% ^B
3	3%	3%	7%
4	1%	1%	3%
5 or more	1%	1%	-
Net: 2+	25%	24%	47% ^B

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Additionally, they were asked if they had access to a vehicle they could have used to make the trip they were surveyed on. Only about four in ten (38%) had access to a vehicle that could have been used to make this trip. Findings were similar regardless of mode.

Table 21: Trip Vehicle Access

Q14. Do you have access to a vehicle you could have used to make THIS TRIP?	System (A) (n=2,702)	Bus (B) (n=2,412)	King St Trolley (C) (n=290)
Yes	38%	37%	43%
No	62%	63%	57%

Base=Those answering

When asked whether they had a valid driver's license, about four in ten customers said they do not (41%). This is significantly higher for bus customers, however (42%, compared to King Street Trolley's 17%).

Table 22: Valid Driver's License

Q15. Do you have a valid driver's license?	System (A) (n=2,682)	Bus (B) (n=2,396)	King St Trolley (C) (n=286)
Yes	59%	58%	83% ^B
No	41%	42% ^c	17%

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Trip-Making Characteristics

Roughly four in ten trips began at home (41%), and about three in ten (28%) started from work. This was significantly greater for bus than for King Street Trolley for both home (43% bus, 22% King Street Trolley) and work (29% bus, 16% King Street Trolley). However, King Street Trolley had the largest proportion of trips coming from recreation, social, or personal locations (44%, compared to bus's 12%).

Q1. Where are you coming from now?	System (A) (n=2,906)	Bus (B) (n=2,599)	King St Trolley (C) (n=307)
Home	41%	43% ^c	22%
Work	28%	29% ^c	16%
Recreation, social, or personal	14%	12%	44% ^B
Shopping or errands	8%	8%	11%
School or college (students only)	6%	6% ^c	1%
Doctor, medical service, or hospital (non-work only)	1%	1%	<1%
Net: Not coming from home	59%	57%	78% ^B
Net: Recreation, social, or personal/church/restaurant	14%	12%	44% ^B
Net: Home/hotel/temporary lodging	42%	43% ^c	26%

Table 23: Origin

Base=Those answering

Home was the most common destination of trips (44%) followed by work (24%). These proportions were again greater for the bus (45% for home and 25% for work or work-related) than for King Street Trolley (37% and 6%). Again, King Street Trolley had the largest proportion of customers heading to recreation, social, or personal locations (39%, compared to 13% for buses).

Q8. What type of place is your final destination on this one-way trip?	System (A) (n=2,863)	Bus (B) (n=2,557)	King St Trolley (C) (n=306)
Home	44%	45% ^c	37%
Work	24%	25% ^c	6%
Recreation, social, or personal	15%	13%	39% ^B
Shopping or errands	8%	9%	6%
School or college (students only)	5%	5% ^c	2%
Doctor, medical service, or hospital (non-work only)	1%	1%	<1%
Hotel/Temporary lodging	1%	<1%	8% ^B
Net: Not going to home	56%	55%	63% ^B
Net: Recreation, social, or personal/church/restaurant	15%	14%	40% ^B
Net: Home/hotel/temporary lodging	45%	45%	45%

Table 24: Destination

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Trips were also categorized by their combined origin and destination into the following categories:

- Home-Based Work trips that have an O-D combination of home and work;
- Home-Based Other trips that have an O-D combination of home and another location;
- Work-Based Work trips that have an O-D combination of work and another work or job related location;
- Work-Based Other Trips that have an O-D combination of work and another location; and
- Other-Based Other Trips that have an O-D combination of two non-work, non-home locations.

The majority of trips were either home-based work (43%) or home-based other (42%). For bus, the most frequent trips were home-based work (45%, significantly greater than King Street Trolley customers' 14%), while for King Street Trolley the most frequent were home-based other (43%), followed by otherbased other (35%, significantly higher than bus customers' 6%). To see trips by trip-type mapped out on the Alexandria area, please see the maps in Appendix 2.

Тгір Туре	System (A) (n=2,851)	Bus (B) (n=2,546)	King St Trolley (C) (n=305)
Home-Based Work	43%	45% ^c	14%
Home-Based Other	42%	42%	43%
Work-Based Work	3%	3% ^c	1%
Work-Based Other	4%	4%	7% ^B
Other-Based Other	8%	6%	35% ^B

Table 25: Trip Type

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

On average, three in four customers reported that they are a frequent rider (75%), riding three or more days per week. Bus customers were significantly more likely to report being frequent riders (78%) compared to King Street Trolley customers (31%). Notably, one-third of King Street Trolley customers reported it was their first time riding (34%), considerably higher than bus customers (3%).

Q12. How frequently do you ride dash?	System (A) (n=2,816)	Bus (B) (n=2,521)	King St Trolley (C) (n=295)
Net: Frequent Rider	75%	78% ^c	31%
6 or 7 days per week	29%	31% ^c	11%
5 days per week	27%	28% ^c	5%
3 or 4 days per week	18%	19%	15%
Net: Infrequent Rider	25%	22%	69% ^B
1 or 2 days per week	11%	11% ^C	7%
Less than once a week, but at least once a month	4%	4%	10% ^B
Less than once a month	5%	4%	19% ^B
This is your first time riding	6%	3%	34% ^B
Average	4.3	4.4 ^C	2.5
Median	4.7	4.8	1.7

Table 26: Trip Frequency

Base=Those answering

Access and Egress to Transit

Customers primarily walked to access public transit (91%). This was true across both DASH modes.

Table 27: Mode of Access

Q3. How did you get FROM your origin to the FIRST BUS, TRAIN, OR TROLLEY on THIS ONE-WAY TRIP?	System (A) (n=2,737)	Bus (B) (n=2,453)	King St Trolley (C) (n=284)
Walked only	91%	91%	90%
Rode with someone who drove	3%	3% ^c	1%
Rideshare service such as Uber, Lyft, or Taxi	3%	3%	3%
Drove a car	2%	2%	4%
Mobility aid (cane, walker, wheelchair, etc.)	1%	1%	<1%
Personal bicycle or scooter	<1%	<1%	1%
Bikeshare or scootershare	<1%	-	1%
Some other way	<1%	<1%	1%

Base=Those answering

Table 28: Mode of Earess

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Walking is also the primary mode of egress from public transit (94%), which speaks to the area's public transit system's ease of accessibility.

Q10. When you GET OFF the bus or train, how will you
destination

Q10. When you GET OFF the bus or train, how will you get to your destination	System (A) (n=2,833)	Bus (B) (n=2,533)	King St Trolley (C) (n=300)
Walk only	94%	94%	92%
Will ride with someone who will drive	2%	2%	1%
Rideshare service such as Uber, Lyft, or Taxi	2%	2%	2%
Drive a car	1%	1%	2%
Bikeshare or scootershare	1%	1%	2%
Personal bicycle or scooter	<1%	<1%	1%
Mobility aid (cane, walker, wheelchair, etc.)	<1%	<1%	<1%
Some other way	<1%	<1%	1%

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Transfers

While the majority of trips did not involve a transfer (61%), those that did had customers report their trip chain with all routes taken from their boarding to their alighting stop. These unlinked trips were then turned into transfer pairs, with any directly linked routes creating a single pair (e.g., if a customer took the 30 to the 31 to the 32, that trip would be assigned the transfer pairs 30-31 and 31-32, signifying the routes that directly connected to one another). When categorizing trip pairs, route order is not taken into consideration, so trip pairs are always listed with the lower numbered route first.

Transfer pair analyses were run for all lines to identify the most frequent transfer pairs for any given line.

Table 29: Riders by Number of Transfers

Q4. How many buses, trollies, and/or ferries will you take to get to your FINAL DESTINATION?	System (A) (n=2,905)	Bus (B) (n=2,602)	King St Trolley (C) (n=303)
0 transfers	61%	61%	56%
1 transfer	33%	33%	35%
2 transfers	6%	5%	8%
3 transfers	<1%	<1%	-
4 or transfers or more	<1%	<1%	-
Net: Transferred	39%	39%	44%
Average number of transfers	0.5	0.5	0.5

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Those who made a transfer as part of their trip were assigned trip pairs, the linked lines they took as a part of their trip³. The most common transfer pair for DASH overall and bus specifically was 35-Metrorail (11% and 12%, respectively). For King Street Trolley, it was King Street Trolley-Metrorail (65%).

		Most Us	ed Route		
System Bus (A) (B) (n=839) (n=764)		(A) (B)		King St (C (n=	c)
Trip Pair	%	Trip Pair	%	Trip Pair	%
35-Metrorail	11%	35-Metrorail	12%	King Street Trolley-Metrorail	65%
30-35	8%	30-35	9%	King Street Trolley-Metrobus	7%
31-35	7%	31-35	8%	30-King Street Trolley	5%
35-Metrobus	6%	35-Metrobus	6%	30-Metrobus	5%
31-Metrorail	5%	31-Metrorail	6%	32-King Street Trolley	5%

Table 30: Most Frequent Transfer Pairs (Top 5)

Base=Those answering

Overall, the line with the highest proportion of customers (including lines transferred to/from) was line 35 (37%), which was also true for bus customers, specifically (40%). King Street Trolley customers had a greater proportion of trips connecting to Metrorail (16%) compared to bus customers (9%).

³ Note that these transfer pairs do not account for directionality, and as such, trips that went from route 30-31 would be identified the same as route 31-30. Transfer pairs are always listed with the lower numbered route first. Additionally, as records could have multiple transfer pairs, the weighting was adjusted for each record when running analyses on transfer pairs. For information on how transfer pairs were weighted, please see **Appendix 5: Weighting Methodology**.

Table 31: Most Used Route (Top 5)

Most Used Route					
	System (A) (n=2,920)		Bus (B) (n=2,612)		Trolley C) 308)
Route	%	Route	%	Route	%
Line 35	37%	Line 35	40% ^c	King St Trolley	100% ^B
Line 30	21%	Line 30	22% ^c	Metrorail	16% ^B
Line 31	18%	Line 31	19% ^c	Metrobus	4%
Line 36	16%	Line 36	17%	Line 30	1%
Metrorail	9%	Metrorail	9%	Line 33	1%

Base=Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

DASH Free Fare, Attributes, and Satisfaction

In September 2021, DASH implemented the New Network, offering free fares across all its services. DASH wanted to examine the impact free fares and the New Network had on customers' decision to ride DASH, and whether customers made more trips as a result of free fares.

To start, customers were asked whether they rode DASH before September 2021, when free fares and the New Network were implemented. Slightly less than one-half of the surveyed customers reported that they had (46%), although this was higher for bus customers (47%) than for King Street Trolley customers (26%), unsurprising given the higher proportion of King Street Trolley customers who were riding for the first time.

Table 32: Riding Before September 2021

Q12/13. How frequently do you ride DASH/Did you ride DASH before September 2021 when free fares and the New Network were implemented?	System (A) (n=2,779)	Bus (B) (n=2,392)	King St Trolley (C) (n=196)
Yes	46%	47% ^c	26%
No	54%	53%	74% ^B

Base= Those answering, with new riders coded as "No"

Those who did not ride DASH before free fares were then asked if it impacted their decision to start riding DASH services. Almost two-thirds of customers (62%) said yes.

Q13A. Did free fares impact your decision to start riding DASH?	System (A) (n=1,513)	Bus (B) (n=1,299)	King St Trolley (C) (n=214)
Yes	62%	62%	54%
No	38%	38%	46%

Table 33: Impact of Free Fares on Decision to Start Riding DASH

Base= Those who did not ride DASH before free fares and answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Those who did ride DASH before free fares were asked *how* free fares impacted how often they ride DASH. The majority (53%) stated that they ride more frequently than they did before free fares, although about four in ten (41%) said they ride the same amount as before free fares. This proportion was similar across modes.

Table 34: Impact of Free Fares on Frequency of Riding DASH

Q13B. How did free fares impact how often you ride DASH?	System (A) (n=1,234)	Bus (B) (n=1,157)	King St Trolley (C) (n=77)
I ride more frequently than before free fares	53%	53%	46%
I ride the same amount as before free fares	41%	41%	48%
I ride less frequently than before free fares	6%	6%	6%

Base= Those who rode before free fares and answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Riding DASH

Several questions were asked pertaining to how customers get information regarding transit services, important attributes in their decision to ride DASH, and their opinions on DASH overall, in order to identify where DASH can focus efforts to improve their service and disseminate information and updates.

When asked where they primarily received transit service information, about four in ten customers said by smartphone app (i.e., SmarTrip app, Transit app, Google maps, etc.) (44%), while one-third said they received transit information from the DASH website or trip planner (34%). Bus customers were significantly more likely to utilize DASH sources, such as the website (36%, compared to King Street Trolley 12%), DASH social media (4%, compared to King Street Trolley 1%), DASH Telephone Information Center (3%, compared to King Street Trolley <1%), and DASH email or text alerts (2%, compared to King Street Trolley <1%). King Street Trolley customers, however, were far more likely to simply wait at the bus stop (27%, compared to bus customers 1%). Again, given the large proportion of first time and lowfrequency King Street Trolley riders, this makes sense.

Table 35: Primary Transit Service Information

Q27. Where do you primarily get transit service information?	System (A) (n=2,272)	Bus (B) (n=2,041)	King St Trolley (C) (n=231)
Smartphone app (i.e., SmarTrip app, Transit app, Google maps, etc.)	44%	44%	40%
DASH website or trip planner	34%	36% ^c	12%
Printed Ride Guide brochure	5%	5%	8%
DASH social media	4%	4% ^C	1%
Another transit agency website (e.g., WMATA Trip Planner)	3%	3%	6%
Just wait at the bus stop	3%	1%	27% ^B
DASH Telephone Information Center	3%	3% ^c	<1%
DASH e-mail/text alerts	1%	2% ^c	<1%
Word of mouth/Friends/Family	1%	1%	2%

Base= Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Customers were then asked to pick up to three attributes that were most important in making their decision to ride or not ride DASH. Of those who could be encouraged to ride DASH more often (98%), the primary importance attribute was free fares (58%), followed by routes that go places they need to go (49%) and service reliability (36%), consistent across all modes.

Table 36: Trip Distribution by Attribute of Importance

Q13C. Please pick which three of the following are the most important in your decision to ride or not ride DASH.	System (A) (n=2,776)	Bus (B) (n=2482)	King St Trolley (C) (n=294)
Affordability, that is, free fares	58%	58%	59%
Routes that go places you need to go	49%	49%	52%
Service reliability	36%	36%	42%
Frequency of service (how often the buses are running)	29%	29%	33%
Service hours (buses running during early mornings, late nights, and weekends)	21%	21%	18%
Feeling of personal safety and security	15%	15%	15%
Cleanliness of buses and bus stops	13%	12%	15%
Environmental sustainability or climate concerns	11%	12% ^C	7%
Bus stop amenities (benches, shelters, lighting, real-time information)	7%	7%	5%
Fuel prices	6%	6%	5%
Other	1%	<1%	1%

Base= Those answering who could be encouraged to ride DASH more often

Overall, the majority of customers are satisfied with DASH (95%), with more than three in four (79%) reporting being very satisfied. This is higher for King Street Trolley customers (98% satisfied and 87% very satisfied) compared to bus customers (94% satisfied and 79% very satisfied), but as King Street Trolley is mostly used for home-based other and other-based other trips, is a system that runs simply and frequently, and is often used for leisure rather than commuting, it makes sense that satisfaction would be higher.

That said, this does not detract from the fact that DASH customers are generally satisfied with the service they receive. Customers who stated they were dissatisfied (2%) listed their most important attributes they consider in riding DASH to be routes going to places they need to go (45%), service reliability (36%), and affordability (32%).

Q13D. How would you rate your overall satisfaction with DASH service?	System (A) (n=2,784)	Bus (B) (n=2,489)	King St Trolley (C) (n=295)
Net: Satisfied	95%	94%	98% ^B
Very satisfied	79%	79%	87% ^B
Somewhat satisfied	15%	16%	11%
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	3%	3%	1%
Net: Dissatisfied	2%	2% ^c	1%
Somewhat dissatisfied	1%	1%	-
Very dissatisfied	1%	1%	1%

Table 37: Overall Satisfaction with DASH

Base= Those answering

Superscript letters (e.g., A, B, or C) indicate that the labeled percentage is significantly higher than the percentage in the corresponding segment (i.e., B for Bus, C for King St Trolley, etc.)

Methodology

The interviewer administered survey was developed between DASH staff and the research team. It contained 37 questions for customers and took approximately ten minutes to complete. The survey was conducted in English, Spanish, and Amharic, and was conducted entirely through a tablet with assistance from the interviewer.

In order to capture short trips, where an interviewer would not have time to conduct the full survey, the survey was also converted to web and paper formats. The paper survey allowed customers to complete the survey after leaving the bus and was marked with pre-paid postage. Once the survey was completed, it could be dropped into any USPS mailbox for delivery to the research team. In total, 1,100 English paper surveys, 675 Spanish surveys, and 450 Amharic surveys were printed (2,225 printed surveys in total) for interviewer use to capture these short trips if it was not possible to complete a tablet survey. Additionally, the web version allowed customers to use a unique ID from the paper copy of the survey to complete the survey online via a QR code or web link, both printed on the paper survey. Those completing online were required to enter the unique ID from their paper survey. This unique ID allowed the research team to link paper and web surveys back to the trip on which it was received.

The survey covered the following key topics:

- Residency,
- Trip origin and destination,
- Mode of access and egress,
- Number of transfers and trip chain information,
- Impact of New Network and free fares on customers' decision to ride DASH,
- Frequency of DASH use,
- Overall satisfaction with DASH,
- Transit reliance, and
- Demographics and Title VI information.

Once the survey was completed, customers were invited to enter a drawing to win one of several \$50 gift cards as a thank you for participating. This incentive was also advertised by interviewers to help improve response rates.

The survey was programmed to minimize invalid responses, such as invalid routes, out of range responses, or illogical responses. For example, route questions included a drop-down list of all possible routes, and stop questions included a drop-down list of all possible stops limited by the route(s) used, reducing invalid responses.

For questions where an address was needed, the tablet- and online based surveys incorporated a mapping feature, allowing address data to be collected in a cleaner and more efficient manner. For paper surveys, they were asked to provide an address or nearest intersection manually, which was then entered into the data through the online mapping feature by the research team. This allowed the team to collect more precise geocoding data in real time, rather than relying on riders' ability to provide accurate addresses or intersections.

Sampling Plan

A sampling plan was designed based on ridership from June 2023 to determine the target number of completed surveys for each line by weekday, Saturday, and Sunday, and the estimated number of interviewer shifts needed to collect those surveys. Additionally, once the sampling plan was approved, the research team further divided each quota by time period (Early AM, AM Peak, Midday, PM Peak, and Evening).

The sampling plan is located in **Appendix 5: Sampling Plan**.

Survey Methodology

Survey data was collected between October 11 and November 19⁴. Interviewers boarded buses and trolleys and conducted surveys via tablets, or handed out paper surveys to those who were taking a short trip.

⁴ Note that data collection was not conducted on November 11, due to the holiday schedule for Veterans Day.

Data Cleaning and Quality Control

Data Cleaning and Geolocation Validation

The survey team reviewed the intercept data daily, reviewing the previous day's data to identify outliers or errors, and worked with interviewers to improve the quality of incoming data. Additionally, these datafiles were used to track quotas set by the sampling plan.

The mapping software used in the intercept study made it possible to verify the geocoded location of the origins, destinations, and boarding and alighting stops. Any stop that was part of DASH or a linking system had its geocoded position programmed into the system, based on the GTFS files, and any origins, destinations, or unlisted stops or stations were geocoded through the mapping software in real time as the survey was conducted. Interviewers were instructed to include the city and state when entering these addresses, to ensure the locations were accurate. Supervisors also reviewed this geocoded data to ensure there were no outliers.

Following the end of data collection, initial tabs were run to examine the data in total and identify any remaining outliers or entry errors.

Survey Expansion

In order to adjust the data to be representative of the system as a whole, expansion weights were created and applied to each record to make them representative of the system at the line and day of week (Weekday by time period, Saturday, and Sunday) levels. These weights were calculated using October 2023 average ridership data provided by DASH. An additional adjustment was then applied to these weights to account for the proportion of weekdays to weekend days within an average month. A full explanation of the process and the final weights can be found in **Appendix 6: Weighting Methodology**.

Data Limitations

While the data collected has valuable use to DASH, there are several limitations to be aware of. Firstly, while customers in the intercept study were not given an explicit opportunity to opt out of questions, if they refused to answer, interviewers were instructed to move on in order to collect as much information as possible without alienating the respondent. Additionally, for paper or web surveys, participants could opt out of questions they did not feel comfortable answering. As a result, response rates vary by question. The same weights were applied to all responses in a survey, such that the weighted sums of a specific question do not necessarily equal the weighted sum of trips the survey represents. Because of this, percentages provide a more accurate reflection of what the data represents, rather than the absolute total weighted counts.

Additionally, due to differing response rates, the standard error varies from question to question and from segment to segment. The systemwide standard error is ±1.8 percentage points at the 95% confidence level, but that will increase for individual questions or segmented analyses with smaller base sizes.

Lastly, although efforts were taken to reduce bias as much as possible, there are still likely some underrepresented groups in the sample. For example, the survey team has limited ability to gather surveys from minors, so statistics for riders under 18 years of age are not representative of the rider

population. In addition, while the survey was translated into English, Spanish, and Amharic in order to reduce possible language barriers, the Alexandria area is very diverse, and it is possible that there were respondents who do not speak English, Spanish, or Amharic, and were therefore unable to respond.

Final Survey Totals

In total, 2,920 surveys were completed. The disposition breakout of intercept surveys and total surveys by paper and web is below. Qualified intercept responses are defined as surveys that are fully completed. Qualified partial intercept responses are defined as surveys that meet the minimum question threshold to be counted as "complete", that is that they have finished the trip chain questions and reached Q10. An unqualified partial intercept response started the survey but did not reach the minimum question threshold. Responses removed by data cleaning reflect records that, due to errors in entry, suspected satisficing, or other data irregularities, could not be fixed, and were therefore removed to preserve the validity of the data. In total, there were 2,898 completed intercept responses, 5 completed paper responses, and 17 completed web responses, for a total of 2,920 qualified responses.

	Response Count	Response Percentage
Qualified Intercept Responses	2,655	66.3%
Qualified Partial Intercept Responses	243	6.1%
Unqualified Partial Intercept Responses	1,040	26.0%
Responses Removed By Data Cleaning	68	1.7%
Total Qualified Intercept Responses	2,898	72.3%
Total Paper Completes	5	
Total Web Completes	17	
Total Qualified Responses	2,920	

Table 38: Final Response Rates

Lessons Learned

- Typically, Saturday and Sunday daypart quotas are not calculated or considered when collecting O-D data, as it does not impact final weighting schemes. However, in order to improve the validity of this data, soft daypart quotas were added in order to ensure the collected surveys were representative of Saturday and Sunday across the whole day, rather than one specific daypart. This proved beneficial to fielding, as it allowed for a wider range of possible shifts available over the weekend, and ensured the majority of minimum Saturday and Sunday quotas were hit in an attempt to cover dayparts.
- There was a limited window for fielding, to ensure the study would not overlap with holidays. Additional lead time prior to the next O&D study could expand possible fielding dates without overlapping holidays.
- For the next O&D, DASH may consider asking a follow-up question to determine why customers are satisfied or not satisfied to help determine what is driving customer satisfaction.
- Internal and external outreach was conducted at the beginning of data collection, with operators being made aware of interviewers on board buses and trolleys and ads running on the buses to alert customers that a survey was in progress. These are beneficial, but the effectiveness can wane as the study progresses. WBA recommends additional outreach to operators initially to explain why interviewers are on board, and follow-up outreach to operators and customers to continue to encourage survey engagement.

Appendix D

ATSP Public Outreach & Feedback Summary

Appendix D | ATSP Public Outreach and Feedback Summary

The following appendix summarizes public outreach efforts that were conducted by DASH staff in support of the FY 2025 – FY 2034 Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan (ATSP):

- Public Meetings (Multilingual, translation in Spanish and Amharic offered):
 - ATC Board Meetings | February 14 & March 13: The ATC Board meeting in March included the public hearing on proposed service changes. Meeting was attended by Board members, DASH Staff, and 6 members of the public in-person and online.
 - Community Meetings (3)
 - February 29 | Del Pepper Center: The meeting was attended by approximately 8 people in-person and online. Comments indicated disapproval of cutting the 104 and support for proposed service increases on the other lines.
 - March 25 | City Hall: The meeting was attended by approximately 2 people inperson and online. Comments demonstrated lack of support for proposed reduction on Line 104.
 - March 28 | Mt. Vernon Rec Center: The meeting was attended by approximately 5 people in-person and online. Comments received were in favor of proposed service improvements, especially increased weekend service on the 30 Lines, but not supportive of the proposed reduction of Line 104 service.
 - Community Group Presentations (3)
 - DASH Advisory Committee: Meeting attended by rider advisory committee members and the video has 6 views on YouTube.
 - West End Wellness Group: this meeting was attended by approximately 15 group members from diverse backgrounds and included extended Q & A session about DASH and the proposed ATSP changes. Most attendees were regular DASH riders.
 - Liberty's Promise: The meeting was attended by approximately 20 ACHS students, all of whom ride DASH.

• Public Messaging Channels

- Social media: Promoted community meetings and raised awareness of proposed service changes and meetings by posting on Facebook, Instagram, Twitter and LinkedIn.
- Emails: Staff sent 5 e-blasts to DASH's audience of approximately 4,000 subscribers raising awareness of the proposed service changes in the ATSP as well as public meetings and other methods of submitting feedback.
- Bus Posters (multilingual)
- o Bus Stop Flyers with focus on potential Line 104 reductions (multilingual)

• **Customer Pop-Ups**: From March 11 – 16, DASH staff engaged with riders and members of the public to celebrate the agency's 40th anniversary at a series of 10 events held across the city. These pop-ups also allowed staff to raise awareness of the proposed service changes included in the ATSP and encourage riders to submit their feedback.

Feedback Summary

Staff collected and reviewed all feedback that was received. A summary of the feedback received is included below. A full list of all 33 public comments that were submitted is attached to this document. Staff has provided responses to all comments that were submitted.

• Line 104. Among the 33 comments that were received, 21 were submitted regarding the potential reduction to Line 104 service. All 21 comments were opposed to the reduction, citing how much less useful the service would be to most riders. Many indicated that they would no longer be able to use Line 104 and would seek other alternatives.

Staff Action:

All comments related to Line 104 have been forwarded to City Council for their consideration in the FY 2025 City Budget review process.

• Line 30. Two comments were submitted with suggestions for improving Line 30, including increasing frequency during weekday middays when the buses only run every 30 minutes.

Staff Action:

Line 30 off-peak service remains among the top improvement priorities for FY 2026.

• **General ATSP Suggestions**. Several comments were received with edits or feedback for the ATSP document that would provide clarity or additional information for the public.

Staff Action:

Staff reviewed suggestions and incorporated edits into the final documents as much as possible.

• Arlandria Service Review. Staff received multiple comments from City Council and the ATC Board of Directors regarding potential adjustments to DASH service in Arlandria, specifically the segment of Mount Vernon Avenue north of Reed Avenue. This segment is served by the Metrobus 10A/B routes, but not by DASH.

Staff Action:

Staff will be undertaking a study of this issue to review possible route modifications that would allow DASH to serve this part of the Mount Vernon Avenue corridor. Any resulting recommendations will be included in the FY 2026 Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan. The FY 2025 ATSP document has also been updated to include a reference to this study being completed in FY 2025.

FY25-FY34 Alexandria Transit Strategic Plan - Public Comment Tracker

#	Submission Date	First Name	Last Name	Subject	Comment
1	Mar 19, 2024	Lois	Kebe	Duke St (Old Town)	Please reinstate the Eastern Bus Route that the Dash bus took down Duke Street leaving the King Street Station travelling East towards Washington Street. There is no reason for all buses to be detoured onto King Street – this deviation does not serve your riders, shows little concern for their needs, lacks versatility and alternatives, and places an unnecessary strain on those that would like to frequent businesses East of the metro Station onto Duke Street. Regardless of how you have stacked the numbers - discontinuing this route has hurt your riders.
2	Apr 1, 2024	Steve	Banashek	Electric Buses	(Also requested Landmark-to-DC Express service during TDP community meeting) Glad to see continued leadership and progress towards a 100% battery electric bus fleet, I smile every time I see one in service. Your efforts are greatly appreciated and set an example for other fleets in the Commonwealth as well as the DC Metro area. One suggestion: While it's a great TSP cover photo, I'd love to see one of the battery electric buses rather than the clean diesel bus pictured. It's an electric future. Thanks!!
3	Apr 3, 2024	Gee Hyun	McNease	General Comments	I love the services with Dash bus 30, 31, & 34! It is an integral part of my life support! My experiences with drivers are always great. They are so kind and professional! I don't want to see any changes with current services!!! THANK YOU!! 🛇 🛇
4	Mar 19, 2024	Zach	N/A	General Comments	 I hope Alexandria realizes that fare-free transit isn't working out as well as originally thought. All but one service change proposed for FY23 were neglected, DASH line 36 service was nearly cut to 30 minutes, any additional service improvements have been left unfunded, and taxes have gone up in the city, regardless of the relatively minimal money the city tells us they saved. This problem will continue to exacerbate itself should DASH further improve transit, as service increases will not be augmented by increased fare revenue, creating a further deficit in the city's budget. Furthermore, any grants received for fare-free transit can be just as well used for improving service frequency, which DASH still has progress left to do on. I appreciate the attempt at fare-free transit, however, it should have been realized by now that it isn't a sustainable model if DASH wants to improve service beyond the bare minimum. With WMATA having recently released its draft bus network redesign, DASH should work together with WMATA and other regional transit agencies to make the networks work well together. Now for specific route comments: Line 31 - Replace this with an extension of the King St BRT from Fairfax County. Convert the center turn lane already along King St into a bus lane to speed up service, and use the space currently used by bike lanes to add a bus lane there (bikes can be rerouted via a new trail to Old Town, or they can be allowed to use the bus lane). Line 32 - Go ahead with the original route of this line via Reynolds St, and truncate route 7A to Landmark. Line 35 - if possible, reroute it to Shirlington, and possibly send it to Pentagon City on weekends.
5	Mar 19, 2024	Yvette	Jiang	General Comments	 Can you tell me more about how we mitigate staffing shortages; In Figure 4-6 – Public Transit Access in Alexandria, there is a slight decline of residents within 1/4 mile distance of a bus stop from the old network to the new network. Do you know why? The old to new network transition of access to FREQUENT, ALL-DAY Transit Service Figure 4-7 in Alexandria is very different from Figure 4-6. Regarding: Duke Street Bus Rapid Transit (BRT). DASH will continue to work with the City of Alexandria on the planning for the Duke Street Transitway, which will span between Landmark Mall and the King Street Metro. Let me know how we arrived at this language; any information that can help me paint an accurate picture of DASH's involvement with Duke St BRT will be helpful.
6	Mar 19, 2024	Jim	Suits	General Comments	Good morning, My feedback on the TDP is as follows, in sequential order: - In Section 3.1, it might be appropriate to note that there are three other DASH stops located outside the City of Alexandria: Line 35 has two stops in Fairfax County (by Landmark Plaza), and Line 36A/B stops at Shirlington in Arlington County In Section 3.7, it might be worth estimating how much fare revenue would be collected, if fare revenue were to be collected, while acknowledging the consequential implications for ridership and service. This should of course factor in the cost of revenue collection In Section 4.3, it might be worth addressing the outprise of 23 boardings per weekday - what's the standard supposed to be? It just says a 20% improvement over baseline, without specifying the baseline In Section 4.3, it might be worth addressing the very low ridership on Line 34. If Line 102 is perpetually at risk of elimination due to low ridership, why is Line 34 allowed to perpetuate? (For what it's worth, I have never taken either line.) - In Figure 4-4, the accompanying text states that Line 102 sees "less than 5 boardings per hour," but the graph shows the line well above the 5.0 line. One of these things is erroneous In Section 4.5, it might be helpful to have more insight into the reasons for delays. In other words, how many delays were due to late dispatch, vs on-time dispatch with traffic congestion? Where is traffic the biggest concern? (In the latter, for example, I've noted that westbound buses coming from the OTC are perpetually off schedule.) - In Table 5-18, the net ridership den improvements are ont useful to me, and I find it odd that the least productive lines would be prioritized for improvement. Speaking for myself, my most common DASH route is line 30, which continues to be deprioritized for improvements along the Duke St segment, notwithstanding that it has the highest ridership per service hour of any DASH route (as shown in Figure 4-4). In Table 5-18, the net ridership change projections seem implausi

#	Submission Date	First Name	Last Name	Subject	Comment
7	Mar 19, 2024	Ann	Shack	General Comments	DASH buses are rude to drivers. They need to pull over to the curb or close to it when they stop. The current drivers stand in the middle of the street even when they don't have to. This blocks traffic in all directions. This is true constantly on N. Fairfax St at the corner on King Street. In both directions the buses block the traffic when they could easily pull over to the curb. This also block traffic trying to cross Fairfax Street. • Line 32 service improvement from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes during middays, evenings and weekends (Unfunded) why are you increasing this bus traffic during mid-days? Where does it go to and from? I will not be on the call because I will be on another city project call. Please respond via email.
8	Mar 19, 2024	Jamie	Webber-Gard	Lincolnia	Left a voicemail asking about plans to add bus service on Lincolnia Rd between Chambliss and Braddock
9	Apr 4, 2024	В	S	Line 104	CORRECTION: I do not recall seeing a specific reason for this service decrease. Over the past 2-months, I have seen increased ridership. Dash has not reinstated its fares in response. Now would be a good time for reinstating bus fares versus decreasing service times. Thank you,
10	Apr 4, 2024	в	s	Line 104	I do not recall seeing a specific reason for this service decrease. Over the 2-months, I have seen increased ridership. Dash has not increased its fares in response. Now would be a good time for reinstating bus fares versus decreasing service times.
11	Apr 2, 2024	Benjamin	Freitas	Line 104	Regarding the proposal to reduce the line 104 schedule from every 30 minutes to every 60 minutes, I think this would be a disservice to the residents of Parkfairfax who rely on that service particularly in the hours of the morning and evening commutes during the week. While ridership is still less than it was before Covid, it has begun to increase, particularly Tuesday thru Thursday, during those peak commuting times. Maintaining more a more frequent schedule on these days and time is key. If service needs to be reduced, DASH should consider Monday and/or Friday as days when there are less riders, to reduce the schedule. I strongly encourage DASH to maintain the line 104 schedule for every 30 minutes, especially during the commuting hours on Tuesdays, Wednesdays, and Thursdays.
12	Apr 1, 2024	Sahar	Kazmi	Line 104	Please consider continuing DASH 104 service on 30 minute increments during the morning and evening rush periods. The 60 minute schedule may be workable during the afternoon and later evening hours, but this line is routinely very full with commuters from 7-9 AM and 4-6 PM. Shifting to an hourly schedule could be quite disruptive to communities like Parkfairfax, which is not within easy walking distance of a Metro station. Keeping 30 minute rush hour service will be a significant help to daily commuters and encourage safe travel with less crowding. Thank you for considering our feedback on this issue!
13	Mar 28, 2024	Paula	m	Line 104	The current service of Line 104 should be maintained. It is widely used especially at peak hours. This line is very useful for sectors that are not properly covered by lines 31 or 36, so changes should not make it harder to get to metro stations. Taking this into account it should even be considered to extend its current hours and include weekends.
14	Mar 27, 2024	Eileen	Egan	Line 104	Good morning, I live off of Braddock Road & am one of the folks who'd be affected by the reduction of frequency on the 104 line (it is part of my commute when I do not bike). I was sad when I first saw it, & I guess I still am, but reading through the first 82 pages of the strategic plan this morning definitely illustrated what you were trying to do & how you were measuring it. I too want the transit system to prioritize folks w/ lower incomes & folks who are elderly. I am neither now. I'm a long time cyclist, though, who would love to think (maybe in vain) we could move toward fewer cards in the future, even in my neighborhood (timber branch). I guess I'd ask that you please consider leaving the 103 bus frequency at 30 minutes if it allowed the 104 bus to stay at 30 minutes (rather than going to 20 & 60, respectively). I wondered idly if 104 frequency could run every 30 on rainy days (ok, yeah, not practical for drivers' schedules — I am thinking like a cyclist & like someone who is hoping to reduce cars on the days when most helpful). I can't argue w/ your ridership numbers nor your budget constraints, though so, I guess I would ask, please, if you need to reduce 104 to every 60 minutes, would you please do a) fulfill that wish to return it to every 30 when you have the budget for it & b) broadcast loud & wide the exact times when frequency changes will go in effect? You know it already, but Braddock Road is rough enough w/ cars speeding & few buses. I'd love to be able to rely on the bus once I'm too old to bike on Braddock. Thanks for the (not sarcastic; I'm a data programmer) informative read in your strategic plan. Regards, Eileen

#	Submission Date	First Name	Last Name	Subject	Comment
15	Mar 26, 2024	Stephanie	Nagel	Line 104	Please DO NOT cut the 104 bus service!!! We specifically bought our house based on its proximity to the 104 bus line. My entire family uses that bus in the morning and evening at different times. My husband and I take it to the Pentagon to catch the metro. My sons use it to get to school because there aren't enough ACPS buses and my sons were frequently being left off of the regular school bus. We are only asking for 2 buses an hour a few hours a day. That is not unreasonable for me to be able to get to work. If the buses are only running once an hour, then missing the bus means you are destined to be really late for work or school or have to drive. This is not reasonable in a city that has told us during the zoning for housing debate that we don't need parking because we don't need cars since we have public transportation. This bus change will effectively make public transportation fairly useless for most people on that line. I am not physically able to walk to the 103 or Braddock Rd metro on a regular basis so cutting the bus really means I probably won't be able to use it most of the time. Consider charging for the bus if you must instead of cutting it. I would bet that 90% of the people riding that bus to the Pentagon have a transit subsidy that would pay our way on that bus. My husband and I both do.
16	Mar 26, 2024	Walaa	Elbarasse	Line 104	I am opposed to the service reduction to 104. As a daily weekday rider, this reduction would negatively impact my commute. The 104 bus is routinely full when I ride, with many children using it to commute to school. Please reconsider the service reduction to 104.
17	Mar 21, 2024	Amanda	Koman	Line 104	Please do not cut service on DASH 104. I am a property owner in Parkfairfax and Alexandria taxpayer. I rely on this bus to get to work in DC. Pre-pandemic, the bus came every 10 minutes. Now it is every 30 minutes. Every 60 minutes would be disastrous, particularly if you missed the bus. Keep the 104 running every 30 minutes during peak commuting hours, 7-9 a.m.
18	Mar 20, 2024	Katherine	Vollen	Line 104	I am writing to express my disappointment with the plan to potentially cut service on the DASH 104 line. While ridership dropped off significantly during COVID, it has been returning, albeit slowly. I ride the 104 every day, and several days a week it is almost full on my morning and afternoon commute. Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday typically has the most people. If service is cut to once an hour, how many full buses will we have to wait for before we can catch one? Yes, there are other bus options, but they involve walking long distances and are not remotely convenient, and would result in adding at least 45 minutes to my commute (each way). In addition, many of us are unable to walk that kind of distance, as the Northridge area has a lot of hills. This is the kind of thing that will push many of us, myself likely included, to start driving to work again. For a city that thinks of itself as "eco-friendly," this move appears to actually be a step backwards. If this cut is because of budget issues, perhaps you should consider charging passengers for riding the bus. Free rides were nice, but not at the expense of service. The fact that this was not publicized in advance AT ALL leads me to the logical conclusion that the City Council/DASH does not respect the citizens of Alexandria. Or at least not the citizens of the Northridge area. Badly done.
19	Mar 19, 2024	Janet	Clark	Line 104	I'm concerned about the suggestion to move 104 to every 60 minutes (instead of every 30). In Parkfairfax the 104 is quite crowded. Most of us here agree we would gladly start paying again to keep it at every 30 (or back to every 20!).
20	Mar 19, 2024	Deven	Patel	Line 104	My wife and I ride the 104 multiple times per week to get to work. Reducing the frequency of the 104 would significantly extend our commute and our ability to get to DC, especially compared to how long it takes to get into the city on the 36 lines. A reduction in service to the 104 would force me to seriously reconsider living in Alexandria.
21	Mar 19, 2024	Molly	Shank	Line 104	I use Dash 104 to commute to work every weekday from Parkfairfax. Reducing service to only every 60 minutes would drastically impact my ability to use public transit to get to work in DC.
22	Mar 19, 2024	Amanda	Yanchury	Line 104	Hellol I am a new Alexandria homeowner. I purchased my Parkfairfax condo in September 2023 after five years of renting in D.C. One of the major selling points with this particular condo, compared to other options in Arlington and D.C., was the ability to walk across the street from my front door and catch a bus directly to the Pentagon Metro. I have experienced reliable, fast, exceptional service taking the 104 DASH route to my job in D.C. several days a week. It is so reliable that on days when I *must* arrive at the office at a certain time, I opt to commute this way 100% of the time, instead of taking my chances with 395 traffic. Each time I have set foot on the 104, the bus is comfortably full of fellow commuters. My neighbors and I greatly appreciate this service. I consider it a shining example of how public transit can and should work. I urge you to consider options other than reducing service of this route to every 60 minutes, particularly in the morning hours. One suggestion: Condensing the afternoon "rush hour" window, so the 104 operates for a shorter amount of time (say, 4:15-7:15pm instead of 3:15-8:15pm) and keep all of the existing buses on the half-hour in the morning. This would still reduce the operating expenses for this route, but keep core service in place for those of us who rely on it. I am also supportive of any other alternative that ensures the 104 route can continue to operate every half hour during this time frame—when I am inevitably rushing—it is unlikely that I would consider it at all. This is especially true if the 8:15-8:41 inbound to Pentagon route was cut. Thank you very much for your time in reading this feedback and for your consideration. I am lucky to be a new member of this community and consider reliable public transit one of the many reasons that makes Alexandria such a wonderful place to live. Best, Amanda R. Yanchury

#	Submission Date	First Name	Last Name	Subject	Comment
23	Mar 19, 2024	Kohl	Hensler	Line 104	Please do not change the service on line 104. I have been riding this line for about a year now and the flexible time options are crucial. Every time I ride the bus in the morning it is full.
24	Mar 19, 2024	Dan	Green	Line 104	Mayor Wilson, Last night I attended a DASH Townhall that announced the below proposed service changes*. While DASH is proposing improvements to three DASH buses that are all "unfunded", DASH continues a decade- long process of slowly working to end DASH services to North Ridge and the Parkfairfax community. I have discussed with you in the past my belief that an indefinite free DASH buses, Alexandria City is losing millions of dollars from the federal government and other offices that pay employees to ride on mass transit. I have also discussed my concerns about DASH allowing panhandlers to ride and aggressively demand money from DASH passengers who are riding on the bus. Again, I look for your support to stop DASH from yet another reduction in DASH services on the 104 line from every 30 minutes to every 60 minutes during weekday rush-hours. Waiting 60 minutes at night at the Pentagon, just one time, will cause many who depend on the DASH bus for fast and efficient service to northern Alexandria to look for another form of transportation other than DASH. Yr Dan Green Proposed service changes include: • Line 104 service reduction from every 30 minutes to every 60 minutes. • Line 104 service improvement from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes during middays, evenings and weekends (Unfunded) • Line 31 service improvement from every 30 minutes to every 30 minutes during middays, evenings and weekends (Unfunded).
25	Mar 19, 2024	Sean	Decker	Line 104	Good morning! It recently came to my attention that the DASH organization is considering reducing or canceling the 104 bus line through Parkfairfax. I was wondering who I could speak with regarding this issue and the extreme inconvenience it will put on the community. Thank you! Sean
26	Mar 19, 2024	Daniel	Green	Line 104	On the DASH 104 on Tuesday, 5 March, it was unanimous. A full DASH 104 with over 25 passengers, and only one empty seat, unanimously agreed that the DASH 104 bus must be saved. This bus line has faithfully serviced the Parkfairfax and North Ridge communities for the entire 40 year history of DASH! The city's plan to again cut service to the DASH 104 will be devastating, and this cut in service will make the DASH 204 a CHOICE OF LAST RESORT for all current riders of the bus. The thought of a 1-hour wait for a bus at the Pentagon for a 5 minute ride to Parkfairfax is unthinkable. Again, everybody in our community wants to save the 104; and if you lack any ideas other than "cutting the bus", ask the people who use this bus. Below is the notice where Alexandria failed to seek public comment about proposed service changes: - Line 104 service reduction from every 30 minutes to every 30 minutes (DASH 104 provides "ONLY" rush hour service M/F) Line 32 service improvement from every 60 minutes to every 30 minutes on Sundays (Unfunded) - Line 34 service improvement from every 30 minutes to 15 minutes on Sundays (Unfunded) - Line 34 service improvement from every 30 minutes to 15 minutes but make the form and Paddock Road Metro during middays, evenings and weekends (Unfunded). The above schedule seems to have a huge impact upon M-F rush hour commuters who need to get to work and home from work. NOTE: All in the attached picture agreed to have their photo taken as I asked if I could share it with Mayor Wilson and city officials. Thank you. Dan Green
27	Mar 19, 2024	Shelly	Reilly	Line 104	Hello, Please do not reduce Line 104 service reduction from every 30 minutes to every 60 minutes. I have been a Parkfairfax resident for over 30 years and have taken the Dash Line 104 during that time for work. I like many residents depend on that bus to go to work. Reducing the schedule will only increase traffic. Many employers are now requiring residents to return to work following the Pandemic. My son will be taking the same Dash Bus into work 5 days a week. Thank you for your consideration. Potential service change proposals for FY25 include: • Line 104 service reduction from every 30 minutes to every 60 minutes

#	Submission Date	First Name	Last Name	Subject	Comment
28	Mar 18, 2024	Amanda	Koman	Line 104	Please do not cut DASH 104 service. As a property owner in Parkfairfax and Alexandria taxpayer, I rely on it to get to my job in DC. Right now, it only comes every 30 minutes. Pre-pandemic, it came every 10 minutes. Having the bus come every 60 minutes, is not good, particularly if you miss the bus. Please keep it coming every 30 minutes, especially during peak commuting hours, 7-9 a.m.
29	Mar 18, 2024	William	Hill	Line 104	I strongly oppose the proposed reduction in service to DASH Route 104. I am a resident of Parkfairfax and rely on the 104 Bus for my commute to and from the Pentagon Metro Station. I transfer to Metrorail at the Pentagon station and take the train to L'Enfant Plaza. The DASH 104 Bus has been a reliable means of transportation for me during my commute into DC. If the scheduled service is changed from 30 to 60 minutes, I likely will forgo public transportation and drive into the city as a solo commuter.
30	Apr 3, 2024	Francine	Carrera	Line 30	I would like to propose a change to line 30 bus route. I think the 30 bus should run from King Station to Landmark only a short route. People getting off at catch the 31 to Braddock Station. People get off at Landmark can get 35 to go to Van dorn Station. We on Duke are suffering from long delay on the 30. It should run more offen during mid-day. Thanks
31	Mar 19, 2024	LaVerne	Andrews	Mark Center	Hello DASH My name is LaVerne. There is a building on 4850 Mark Center Drive that has open up to serve the public. It will be serving a lot of the citizen of Alexandria and then some. There is some buses that come to the bus barn. It still a ways to walk for the people that do not have cars or someone to bring them. The clients that need the services and the workers need a bus service that run more and a stop more closer. Everyone can just can not walk that far and weather is issue, traveling with kids and the elderly. Everyone can not ride Metro Access. The 102 runs every 30 mins and then every hour. This is not good for workers or the clients that need the services from the building that is for the Community. The area you can not even get a Lyft or Uber to come to the building. There is Metro (28A) bus, but you must get off and transfer or walk cross Seminary RoadWhich is dangerous for people with kids, elderly or who we kidding just anyone trying to cross. My suggestion is to have the dash bus 102 from King Street Metro when he get to Mark Center and the bus make that loop around the building to put a stop before it get to that yield sign then the clients could get off the bus and walk. The walk would be a little shorter. Since the last stop is the bus barn, it can not hurt to add that stop. The citizen of Alexandria deserve better transportation to be able to use the building meant for them as a Community. Please Help Our Citizens and Workers have better transportation.
32	Mar 19, 2024	Lisa	Floryancic	Parkfairfax	Bring back the AT3-4. Parkfairfax missed having a way to Old Town on the weekends!! Kills one of the selling points of PFX Living. :(
33	Mar 26, 2024	Patrick	Birello	Southern Towers	How can the route 36 A or B bus turn at the bus stop before the Graham Building of Southern Towers to go to the Mark Center claiming there are no passengers at the bus stop when a potential passenger (me or any other person) is walking to the bus stop from the Graham building. By the time the bus drives from the stop sign to the Graham building is enough time for me or another person to walk from the front of the Graham building. The Graham building is enough time for me or another person to walk from the front of the Graham building.